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			CHAPTER I

			The Man in the Moonlight

			It was close upon 9 o’clock in the evening when I first met that gifted—and yet pitiful—individual, “The Man With the Magic Eardrums.”

			At least, I shall always think of him by the name: “The Man With the Magic Eardrums!” For, of course, I subsequently learned his right name. As well as many facts in his unusual life history.

			And my meeting with him took place under curious circumstances—to say the least!

			For, at the time we met, he was effecting a most perfect job of—well, had there been a blue-coated police officer near by witnessing the job, he would have been writing painstakingly in his notebook: “Breaking and Entering,” while, had there been instead, near by, a detective from the detective bureau, more technical in his description of things criminal, he would have been writing “Burglarious Entry.” Though whatever the proper description of the job being done by the individual I call “The Man With the Magic Eardrums,” it was being done in front of my very eyes.

			And the doing of which, quite naturally, he would never have attempted had the big room into which he was securing ingress been lighted up!

			And why it was not lighted up was simply because I had not, myself, yet had time, since arriving, to snap those lights on!

			In fact, I was just hanging up my imported black velour hat and English tweed topcoat on the vertical coat hanger which stood at the north side of the huge room’s arched doorway when I first heard the sounds that heralded his entry—received, in fact, the first intimations that there was a man on the outside of the big window which, at least in the daytime, gazed southward over the block and a half of desolate unbuilt Minneapolis prairie lying between the house and Ludlow Street. And fortunately—as I have already remarked—so far as capturing him went, I hadn’t yet snapped on any lights since closing the downstairs door behind me, and coming leisurely up the broad flight of stairs which led to this particular room on the second floor. Indeed, there had been no need to do so, for the moonlight, filtering through the drawn shade of that big south window, not only lighted up—in con­siderable measure—the huge room, but percolated, at least in half-measure, through the arched doorway with its velvet drapes on either side, and down those very stairs to the front door. And so thus, turning quickly about—a full 180 degrees—as I com­pleted the hanging up of my topcoat, I was able to see everything that told plainly what was just about to take place: the silhouetted tops of the uprights of the intruder’s tall 2-story ladder—and it would have had to be at least a 20-foot ladder to reach that isolated window—its equally silhouetted top rung—and the animated shadowgraph of the fellow himself, with his stocky shoulders and his cap, moving against the windowpane.

			For the moment I went no further with the stripping off of my pigskin gloves—which act my discovery had interrupted—interrupted so completely, in fact, that the front door key was still held momentarily between my teeth where I had placed it while unsheathing my fingers from their stiff leather coverings. Indeed, with my right glove but half off, I felt quickly for my back pocket. The hard lump there assured me that my small pearl-handled silver-plated revolver was on my person—and not in my luggage at the depot—as might easily have happened to be the case. Lucky, I told myself grimly then and there, that when I had last packed that luggage I had tossed up a mental coin—and, as a result, had slipped that unobtrusive weapon into my pocket instead of burying it in a lot of clothing!

			The man outside was still fumbling around. So I peeled off my gloves hastily, and let them fall where they might. And slipped the front door key back into the change pocket of my overcoat. And then, divested of all these several incumbrances, stood quietly where I was and watched the individual who was sep­arated from me by only one sheet of glass and one thickness of window shade linen. Even—and to my own surprise!—speculating a bit, as well, while I did so. That ladder—now? Brought by him, undoubtedly, across such of the vacant weed-grown prairieland as lay between this house and that unfinished 2-story bungalow lying dark and skeletal-like, half the distance to Ludlow Street: prairie land someday destined to bloom as the Hobury Heights Development—but today just a 4-square-block blob of outer Minneapolis hemmed in by Ludlow and Weddles Streets on the south and north, and Northdale and Chando Ave­nues on the west and east, and crisscrossed by lonely, narrow new sidewalks which, thanks to the low streetlights installed here and there along them, resembled more white ribbons crossing a black expanse of ocean. Brought from the unfinished bungalow, un­doubt­edly, that ladder. And so this fellow must be—I reasoned on the spot—a professional—who knew well that always—some place on the upper floor of every inhabited house—there is bound to be at least one unlocked window.

			And I was right, in this latter respect, too. Otto—or else Rozalda—had left that window unlocked! For the man outside, pressing outward obviously with his two palms—for his arms seemed now to be horizontally outstretched—against the two narrow wooden edges of the lower sash, and making a peculiar seesawing motion at the same time, was managing to get it slightly raised. And once the fraction of an inch up—he dropped his arms, and seemed to put his fingertips under its lower edge. And up it came still further. And now his hands—and, heavy as it was, it slid upward easily. About a foot—and no further. In fact, his hand slithered in under the now-gently flapping shade-stick—he gave the shade a businesslike jerk—and up it flew clatteringly, clear to the top of the window. And now, since a large and clear-cut oblong patch of moonlight lay athwart the Persian rug—or at least lay half on the rug and half on the polished waxed floor alongside the rug—and acted as a secondary source of illu­mination itself, I drew a bit further back in the shadow of the arched doorway.

			Though still watching every move of the man with the cap.

			Now that the shade was out of his way, he shoved the window up the rest of the distance. And rising a rung or two on the ladder, thrust one leg over the sill, and drew in the rest of his body. For an instant he stood, glancing with some uncertainty at the raised window in back of him.

			Then it was that I slid my right hand carefully along the wall to the left of the arched doorway, until my fingers came in contact with the electric-light switchbutton. While at the same time, with my left hand, I drew out that tiny revolver.

			“Put ’em up!” I grunted. And snapped on the lights.

			Transferring the gun to my right hand before he could blink.

			He was no sluggard in thought, that was certain. At least where his life was concerned. He thrust his hands instantly above his head, and stood blinking in the sudden flood of light from the bright ceiling fixture. And I had opportunity then, for the first time, to survey him from head to foot.

			He was a somewhat undersized—at least so far as height went—individual, though rather stockily built; he was clad in an ill-fitting brown suit with bags at the knees. About 45 years of age; no more. His face, I would say, could be aptly described by the phrase rolypoly. And though it had no bristle peeping from its coarse florid skin, there was yet a darkness about the hairline which proclaimed that he could do with a once-over shave! On his head reposed a checked and more or less crumpled wool cap, and dropping from his collar—which was a bit too low even for his thick neck—was a flaming red tie that lent the final touch to his uncouth appearance.

			“Well,” I remarked, advancing a few steps toward him. with my weapon still extended, “what’s the idea, old boy?”

			He seemed to be dazed by the sudden turn of affairs for him. And stood with eyes staring first at me—then wandering rightward of me—and even leftward once back of me as well. It occurred to me—a few minutes later, that is—that he was perhaps more dazed by the room into which he had climbed than the fact that he had been caught squarely doing it! For, at least where he stood, a few feet from the window, the room presented truly the barnlike appearance almost of a small convention hall; and, by comparison with it, the library table in its center—the swivel chair drawn up to it, its back toward him—the huge safe far, far back of me across the room, cemented into the fancy red brickwork that made up that particular wall—gave forth the illusion, in spite of their size, that they were actually undersized. As for the phone on the table—and the silver trophy cup, too—the former must have seemed, from that window, like a Wool­worth toy phone, and the latter like some sort of an ornate paperweight; a child’s plaything of some sort; while the oak closet door in that brick wall containing the safe, and some ten feet or so to the side of the safe—must have seemed no larger than the door of a telephone booth. As for the skull, perched on the brick mantel protruding from that wall between safe and closet door, it must truly have seemed no larger than a papier-mâché match-tray ornament. And, in turn, the onyx clock along­side it must have resembled a dainty boudoir timepiece!

			Thus ran my reflections later as to the cause of his first daze; but whatever, at the instant, was the cause, I had to jar him back to the world of reality.

			“Snap out of it,” I said. “Speak up—no!—arms above head there—that’s right!—well—what’s your game!”

			Now he found his tongue.

			“My—game? Well—t’tell you th’ truth—I—I don’t—just know. Minute ago, I was sliding in that window back o’ me—and now—I seem to be—well—just waiting—for somep’n to hap­pen.”

			“Which, of course,” I told him grimly, “will happen! In the shape of a wagonload of bluecoats from the Northwest Min­neapolis Police Station.” Gun still extended, I traversed part of the distance between the arched doorway and the table, which itself stood halfway between him and the walled safe, watching him curiously all the while. He didn’t blink an eye. Cool, all right. So I stopped.

			“I suppose,” I said, “you’re one of these fly-by-night birds they call ‘second-story men,’ eh?” And I daresay my voice, at that juncture, grew a bit sarcastic. “Or perhaps,” I added, “you’re just walking in your sleep? Eh? And in a few minutes you’ll wake up and tell me it’s an old habit of yours—from childhood? Or—or possibly you’ve stumbled into the wrong house by error? How about it?”

			But his upraised arms, long held aloft, were losing their rigidity, crooking quaintly like the arched legs of negro children who have rickets. To satisfy myself as to how much he was armed, I stepped over to him.

			“Turn around. Back to me. Arms higher again.”

			He turned obediently, making a last upward thrust of his arms.

			I kept my gun muzzled into his spine. Pressed my hand into each of his coat pockets in turn. Reached around in front and patted his breast pocket. The same, his trousers pockets. And particularly his hip pockets. He had no weapons.

			“Smart boy, eh?” I commented. “Turn around now.” I started off again. “Robbery with a gun—” I remarked, as he slowly pivoted about—“10 years. Robbery without a gun—only 5. Brains!”

			He coughed, almost appreciatively, it would seem, at my veiled allusion to his sagacity.

			“All right,” I said, “Let ’em down.” I went over to the window now in his rear again, though keeping his back in sight, by my own turned head, all the time; and shoving the window down, drew down the shade as well, the string being still in reach in spite of the way it had clattered itself up a minute or so previous.

			And back past him again, past the table too. Ever keeping my eye on him. And over to the wall next the archway, where I requisitioned the gilt-legged red velvet-seated Louis Quatorze chair which seemed too dainty for him, though its seat certainly did match his flamboyant tie! I placed it across the table from the swivel chair.

			“Over here. No—around the other side. Sit down. Before I turn you over to the Minneapolis police, I want to have a talk with you.”

			He came obediently around the end of the table, opposite to the one nearest me, while I rounded that one; we were, in truth, like a couple of geldings running in a length-handicap race—one of us with exactly half a track handicap on the other! The race was a draw, however, for we both sank into our respective chairs at the same moment, the table between us, he diffidently, hands on knees, on the gilt-legged chair, myself into the more comfortable swivel chair facing him. And well out of arms’ reach, too—thanks to the table and the margin between it and each chair—of those chunky arms of his which looked as though they might contain steel muscles. I confess that at the time I should have kept in mind the idea of a possible confederate coming up that ladder—right in the rear of myself in that swivel chair—but I didn’t—and, as it eventuated, I had no need to fear that.

			“Well,” I began, sliding over to the right edge of the table—and out of the line of our mutual vision—the silver trophy cup that threatened slightly to keep us dodging about in our chairs, “before I call the police—might I ask, do you know where you are?”

			I placed my gun carefully in my right-hand coat pocket, but kept my right hand on my thigh so that, long before he could say Jack Robinson—or scratch his ear—or do whatever one might do before lunging at an adversary—I could have my hand on it and shoot him dead, right through the pocket.

			He made no answer to my question, but turned his head about and swept his eyes across the entire room—including the skull on its brick shelf far in back of him—and the big safe door, almost ash with that brickwork wall. Then he replied to me.

			“Well,” he countered, “I’m in a room, ain’t I? A big room?”

			“Come off it,” I ordered him peremptorily. “Cut the shenan­iging. Before I call the police—do you know where you are? And no more foolish answers now—like that one.”

			He surveyed me gloomily.

			“Well—I’m in a house, ain’t I?” he said belligerently. “And it says on the mailbox outside—in the entrance—King—Mort’mer King. So—I s’pose I’m in the home o’ Mort’mer King.”

			“Right,” I said. “Though your rendition of my first name is a bit sloppy. A fact! The ‘i’ in Mortimer is, as a rule, pronounced! Likewise,” I added sardonically, “aren’t you being a little bit informal?—just tossing aside, willy-nilly, the part of my handle that makes me one definite person out of all of America’s 130,000,000 people? Yes—that middle initial Q?” I paused. “Pick my house—just at random?”

			The sudden crafty look that flashed across his face made me change my tack.

			“Sa-ay—you weren’t hired by any chance, were you, by that new association of bookmakers to place a pineapple in my place, were you!” I wrinkled up my own brows. For of pineapple bombs, the fruit so common on the Minneapolis industrial tree, there had certainly been none on him.

			“I ain’t placing no pineapples—on anybody,” he said. “And don’t you figure to plant none on me, neither.”

			“Well—I have none to plant,” I told him. “But I think, at that, that after you’re locked up—I’d like to look into your connections. What’s your name?”

			He remained obdurately silent.

			“Come on. Come on. I’ll only get it from the police—who’ll beat it out of you.”

			“Peter Givney.” And he spelled it out.

			“Where do you live?”

			“2375 South Humboldt Street.”

			“Oh—South Humboldt Street, eh? I know that district—around the 2700’s. Married?”

			“No. I live in a room.”

			“Rooming house, eh?”

			“Yes. Cheap one.”

			“Got a phone there?”

			“Who wants to know?” he inquired belligerently.

			“I,” I told him. “And the Northwest Minneapolis police. Who can find out, in one minute, the phone that corresponds to that South Humboldt Street address.”

			“All—right. You win. But if you want to make any inquiries about me, you’ll have to look up the phone yourself. I live in the dump, yes, but Christ knows I don’t have occasion to call myself up! The Workers’ Rest is the name o’ th’ place.”

			With my foot I shoved over towards his feet the big Twin-Cities telephone directory lying on the footrest of the table.

			“Look your number up,” I commanded him.

			He took up the book disgruntledly from the floor, and with it on his knee leafed over its pages, following its fine-type columns with a pudgy forefinger. “All—right,” he said glumly. “Workers’ Rest. Colonial 0329. So—What?”

			“Keep your shirt on,” I told him. And drew over the phone toward me. For I was still suspicious of him, particularly his not knowing the telephone of his own rooming house. Not that that wasn’t a likely possibility, however under certain conditions.

			Hand on phone, I regarded him curiously.

			“And now,” I said, “suppose they tell me no Pete Givney lives there? Then so—what?”

			“They won’t,” he said, quite confidently.

			“Or,” I continued, “what if Peter himself comes to the phone? Then so—what?”

			“Listen,” he retorted grumpily. “How in hell can I come to that phone—when I’m here? If anybody calling theirself Peter Givney comes to that phone, I give you permission to sink one o’ your slugs through my guts, here and now. One hundred per cent—permission!”

			So utterly confident did he appear to be, that only for the first time did I feel certain that he was handing out the truth.

			Nevertheless, for I was still suspicious of him, I dialed Colonial 0329. One eye ever on him.

			A woman with a nasal, whining, irritable voice came to the phone. I heard infants wailing somewhere in the background.

			“Does Peter Givney live there?” I asked.

			“Yes. O’ny he ain’t in.”

			“Are you certain of that?”

			“Certain? Well, ain’t I jest been up to his room five minutes ago when another party called?”

			“I see. Well, can you tell me anything about him?”

			“No I can’t. An’ this ain’t no credit information bureau, neither. He jes’ rooms here. By hisself. If that’ll be any use to you. An’ there’s 40 other roomers in this here house. Some employed—an’ some not. But all payin’ their rent—or else!”

			“Are you the landlord? Or landlady?”

			“For Christ’s sake, mister, what is this? No, I ain’t the landlord or landlady. I’m just tendin’ th’ telephone tonight. And I ain’t gonna chase all over this here house lookin’ for the landlord, who wouldn’t know nothin’ anyway.”

			“O.K.!” I said hastily. “I guess that’s all I want to—no—wait—what kind of a looking man is this Givney?”

			“Listen, mister, make it snappy—I got my kids to tend to—make it snappy, or else come over here in person and squat in his room for him. He’s a sort of a runt, in one direction, if you want to know what he looks like, an’ sort of built like a gorilla in the other direction—crosswise. Looks like—like an ex-pug. And I don’t know what his grandmother died of, neither.”

			“O.K.!” I told her hastily. And hung up. For I could see that I had not only a virago on the end of that telephone line, but a very tired irritable virago, and one who was ready to launch out into one vitriolic tongue-lashing!

			“Well, Givney,” I said to the little man across from me, “so far you’ve told the truth. Now come on with the rest of it. Come to burgle my house?”

			He waxed sarcastic. “I wanted a cup o’ tea—and my black tea was all out—so I thought I’d step in—and get some green tea!”

			I smiled. “Tell that to the judge—and he’ll add 2 years on your sentence for impudence.” I paused. “But translating the tea story, Givney, into hard facts, those facts are, I rather take it, that you read in some St. Paul or Minneapolis paper, in connection with some recent story concerning myself, or the bookmaking game, the usual stock family history to the extent that my wife would be in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, tonight? On her annual 3-day ‘novena’ at the Convent of—goddamn the filthy newsmongers,” I broke off. “Well, come on. Fill out the rest of the story.”

			He was stubbornly silent.

			“Come on, man. Speak up. This is the only chance you’ll ever have to talk yourself out of 5 years in Stillwater. Or 7—in case you hand the judge the green-tea story! For no matter what made you enter my house—your sentence isn’t going to be any different. Burglary—without a gun. 5 years. Contempt of court—green tea!—2 years.”

			He pursed his lips reflectively. “Well, aside from the green tea—for I ain’t telling that to any judges!—what you say is logic, Mr. King. Yeah, it’s logic. So all right. For I hear you saying I maybe got a chance to talk myself out. O-K! Maybe I can—at that. Sure, I saw that story that was in th’ Minneapolis Despatch just a week ago—which o’ course you saw yourself. So—”

			“No,” I told him. “I didn’t see it. Since, one week ago, I was in Frisco. And therefore reading only Frisco news.”

			“The hell!” he retorted. “The story said you were—

			“Yes, I know. But even the Minneapolis Despatch can be wrong sometimes!”

			“Ain’t it th’ truth?” he said delightedly. ‘That’s always what I said about that goddamned sheet. It’s—”

			“Never mind trying to fix your case up by being a professional agreer,” I warned him. “Get going! So there was a story about me a week ago, eh?”

			“Yes. And it—but I got it here now—the clipping, I mean—in my hip packet—if you want to see it. That is, I got all o’ the story but some fool tail end of it that spilled over inside on some inside page—which page was missing from the copy o’ the Despatch what I had. I kept th’ story because—”

			“Because it contained some valuable information, that’s undoubtedly why.”

			“Well, since you ain’t seen it, do you want to see it?” he asked undecidedly. “Though without your permission,” he explained, “I can’t dig it out. For,” he went hurriedly on, “I ain’t aiming to reach for my hip pocket—and then have you start sprinkling all the slugs out of that gat of yours, in the hopes of laying one in my carcass. For—”

			“For that profound insult,” I remarked dryly, “I ought to start shooting—now.”

			“Start—shooting—now?” he ejaculated, licking his lips fearfully. “What—what insult did I give you?”

			I nodded toward the silver trophy cup I had slid over to the right of the desk. “Lean forward,” I instructed him, “take up that trophy cup—turn it around so the engraved letters reach your optics!—and figure out, yourself, your own insult.”

			He reached forward gingerly, took the cup, and turned it clear around. And, reading them, raised his eyebrows quizzically.

			“Oh-oh! Champeen pistol shot of the Twin Cities Shooting Club. ‘Mortimer Q. King’”—now he was punctiliously pronoun­cing that “i” on which I had called him a while back—“‘First Prize!’ Oh-oh! I get it now—how I insulted you. But I didn’t mean nothing. And after all, Mr. King—shooting at me, y’ know, wouldn’t be like—like leveling your sights careful-like onto a bright lighted bull’s-eye—and pulling the old trigger when you get good and ready?”

			“Quite right,” I conceded. “And if I shot at you while I drew—I might have to shoot—twice—altogether. Yes. To ‘lay that one slug’!” I shook my head again. “But oh, that crack—about having to sprinkle all my ‘slugs’ out—to try and land just one—in your carcass. Even my own friends in the T-C-S Club would tell me that dirty crack warranted my letting fly on you.”

			“Let’s forget that,” he said hurriedly, evidently not so sure I was joking. “I’ll chop it down to—to two shots. Yes. Two. And now about that clipping again—in my back pocket. Do you want to see it?”

			“Not interested,” I told him. “Without even reading it, I can tell you that it started out on some fool subject or other—”

			“Yeah—that’s right.” He did indeed seem to be trying to be a professional agreer. “The police found some nitro out here on the prairie, and—”

			“Oh, they did, eh? Probably at least a full block from my place—yet I’ll bet the story was one quarter about the nitro­glycerine—one quarter about my house—one quarter about me—and one quarter about my wife?”

			“That’s—right,” he said wonderingly. “How—how do you know that—when you didn’t see the story?”

			I couldn’t help but laugh at his very naïveté. “Givney, that’s the way most news stories are filled out. 10 per cent facts, padded out with personalities and life history of all the people even remotely concerned in ’em—that is, when the people themselves are in the public eye. So never mind the story. Go on with what you saw in it that made you decide to burgle my place.”

			“We-ell,” he said, “it says, further on in it, as how your wife goes ev’ry year and becomes a nun or somethin’—f’r three days—on October 21, 22, an’ 23—in the Convent of—of—now—”

			“St. Ethelreda,” I put in.

			“Yeah, that’s it! In Milwaukee. It says she does it, ev’ry year, in mem’ry of her old man, who give the convent to these here sisters of the—now—”

			“Ethelredan Order,” I illuminated.

			“Yes. An’ it said her pappy was sick over exactly those three days—and durin’ ’em he willed the Order that money for their convent.”

			I nodded slowly. “So far,” I told him, “the same old story that runs every time any member of this family even stubs his or her toe. And what else did the Minny Despatch have to say this time?”

			“Well—it says that you—‘Bring-a-Friend’ King, th’ bookie—‘Bring-a-Friend’ King, they called you!—was—listen, do you mind telling me why the papers call you ‘Bring-a-Friend’?”

			“Why?” I repeated. “Why, because I’ve always made it a point”—I started to explain, and then broke off, angry at myself for wasting words on him, and not at all realizing that before very long I would be answering that identical query—logical as it was to any non-Minneapolisan—put to me by another man—only a man who did not have to enter houses by their windows. “Never you mind asking questions,” I told him. “It’s you that’s on the witness stand just now. And what did the paper say about me?”

			“Well, it says you was alleeged—”

			“Alleged,” I corrected him. “That’s a famous new paper phrase designed to avoid libel suits. Alleged to what?”

			“Alleeged,” he went on stubbornly, “to be in a sanitarium down in Virginia somewheres, under a psoodaname—recuper­ating from some kind of rundown condition.”

			I laughed. “While unluckily for you, Givney, I was in San Francisco—which is just about as far as one can get from Minneapolis!—under a ‘psoodaname’ yes!—and hiding out from a threatened Senatorial Investigation subpoena. And reaching my house tonight from Weddles Street—to the north—all the while you were toting that ladder across the prairies of Hobury Heights—from the south. And—but where did you get that ladder?”

			He pointed across my shoulder at the window facing the prairies. “That unfinished house a block away.”

			“The Leightonstone house, eh? I thought so,” I nodded. “And how’d you make sure my servants here wouldn’t nab you?”

			“Well—nobody answered the phone—so I knew there wasn’t nobody here.”

			“And that’s logic!” I said, mimicking his own remark of a while back.

			“And,” I pressed on, “what did you expect to pick up here tonight?”

			“Listen,” he said gruffly, getting frankly angry, “are we rehearsing some kind o’ catychyzation that’s going to be all did anyway at my trial? If so—just cut it! Call the coppers—and be done. F’r I ain’t going to sit here all night and be baited by you.”

			“Come, come,” I chided. “Don’t get huffy. I’m not a bad fellow—I’m a pretty good guy at times—and this is the one time in your life that you want to make friends with me.” I watched him narrowly.

			And then continued.

			“Confess though now—and remember, it makes no difference in your jail sentence whether—for instance—you just came in here to pick up yonder worthless skull—” I pointed to the brick mantel back of him, which held that object—“to sell, for five dollars or so, to some medical specialties dealer out near the Minneapolis County Hospital—or whether you came here to pick up the famous diamonds which my wife, quite naturally, could not carry into a convent—when she’s on a 3-day ‘novena’—in sackcloth and ashes—and praying for her father. So confess,” I continued. “Was it the diamonds—which were duly catalogued a year or so ago—at the time of that customs dispute on the star-shaped tiara we bought in Brussels?—or was it—well—just the paper knife in this open drawer here, the ink alongside it, and the other things in this upstairs library you wanted?”

			His answer was noncommittal.

			“I ain’t confessing nothing now. You’re only baiting me, Mr. King. So ring up the cops—and be done with it. Or—or let me go. What’s the idea o’ all the gabfest between us, anyway?” He paused. “You’re baiting me, that’s plain. You’ll be callin’ the coppers shortly anyhow. So let’s—get going. Besides,” he added quizzically, “all the good cells’ll be filled with drunks in another hour.”

			I sat back reactively. In something less than 6 hours from now—by the clock ticking over there on the mantel—the notorious English Negress, Jemimah Cobb—keeper of London’s worst dive, and murderess of her rich Chinese lover—was to hang in Pentonville Prison, London. And was—according to today’s afternoon newspapers—and as a revenge against the entire white race!—going to name—when she stepped on the gallows, and had her opportunity to say the usual “last words”—the “white American” to whom she was legally married, as well as give the location of the mutually signed marriage certificate—all of which made her, so she claimed, an American citizen, and because of which—so the ignorant black fool fatuously believed!—America and England would go to war. War—over a degenerate black murderess!

			But in naming that man—and giving the location of that double-signed certificate, to be reproduced in the world’s 10,000 newspapers—Jemimah Cobb would, as I happened to know, smash a woman’s soul. A fine highly bred white woman who had subsequently married that man. And which man—as I happened also to know—had never, for adequate reasons, bothered to obtain a divorce from Jemimah Cobb. And thus that white woman would, upon that gallows-revelation—carried in the news­papers of every hamlet in America, and on the broadcasts of every radio station—learn for the first time that she had been, from the very second of her own marriage, a bigamous wife—in short, no wife at all!—and that the man she had once honored with her hand had once in his own life stooped so low as to become the husband of the world’s most notorious Negress.

			And upon all this I reflected. While, at the same time, I considered the man across from me. For the more I thought of the unusual situation here tonight, the more I felt convinced that this man was not prowling the place for mere articles of bric-a-brac such as skulls, sellable at most for $5—and trophy cups worth $3—but for something—something!—something perhaps of real value; and again perhaps not!—yet something he positively knew he could lay his hands on, once inside.

			And so it might be—yes, it might be!—that he could be the solution for stopping that mad Negress over there in London from wrecking a human soul.

			For I—I was the white American who had married that black degenerate wench in the long long ago!

		

	
		
			CHAPTER II

			Chapter Senegambian!

			But not at all the sordid story, however—my marriage to that black wretch—that one might expect!

			For I had been in London there, in that long ago, and wandering curiously in Quarter Moon Road which then housed Jemimah’s dive as of that period—unknowing either of the nature of the street, much less the fact that Jemimah Cobb’s place was on it. I was, of course, not at all that day as I was today—for I was “stony” broke—just come to London on a cattleboat!—but not minding that condition in the least, when such curious streets as this could be seen for mile after mile after mile. And there—in Quarter Moon Road—I had been taken suddenly sick. Food poisoning plus—as it later eventuated—typhoid fever! No different—not a bit—than catching the double-1 on the very first toss of a pair of cubes! And I’d knocked desperately at the door of Number 17. Only to tumble ill—unconscious—over the threshold. And be put into bed. In Jemimah Cobb’s own great canopied fourposter. For Jemimah Cobb was one who had to avoid all such things as brought police investigation! And she it had been who had nursed me through that illness. Fallen in love with me, moreover, as it later appeared—though little com­pliment to myself. And it was because of that strange Indian drug she administered to me, after I was nearly recovered, that I had permitted myself to be joined to her in marriage. Seen myself joined, is better! For even today it was still all a weird foggish nightmare. My hand in her jet black one. The tall black preacher standing by, near the fourposter, with Bible in hand, and cer­tificate waiting for us both to sign. How she had obtained the necessary license I will never know. But there I was, being legally joined to that black African mammal! The first man—white, black, yellow or otherwise—according to her gleeful declaration to the black clergyman and myself—a true declaration, too, since she was drunk and therefore veracious—ever to be joined to her legally! And in less than 24 hours later I had emerged from the fog. Puzzled. Though not altogether ungrateful at that! Because, plainly, she had saved my life. And then—three days later—had come the news from Jemimah—plus the newspapers containing the very stories!—first, that the Reverend Amos Applecup who had married us—and who was, incidentally, one of her many strange and perverted clients—had drowned in the Thames; and second, that a disastrous fire in the London Marriage Records Bureau had wiped out all the records of all marriages performed over the past 10 days. A warning, of course, to all persons and firms involved in real-estate transactions during that period otherwise to confirm full validity or dower rights. And so, three days—five days—a week longer I had lingered in her exotic private quarters. Getting my strength. Then vanishing silently out of her picture. As no doubt she half anticipated all along I might! Vanished not by a first-class ship passage bought with any of the filthy money strewn all over her quarters—money obtained in her hideous business—but by shipping as a freight-checker, on the American freighter Nimrod—bound for home. For America!

			Where I proceeded to forget the noxious incident. And where, one year later, I read of Jemimah’s death in a brawl—an East Indian customer angry because she would not obtain for him, for his entertainment, a white hunch-backed girl. For the bizarre—that was the sort of thing Jemimah purveyed! And then—still later—I had married her whom I did. White! Decent! Educated! Finely bred! Of fine parentage. And, in her veins—Southern blood!

			To have ever told her of that episode back in Quarter, Moon Road, London, would, of course, have been utterly impossible. For the whole hopelessly incredible affair sounded, I knew, like the story of a weakling—an even once-half-degenerate-himself weakling, wont to frequent dark unwholesome regions in big cities where real men would not step foot—an explanation of a mephitic chapter in that weakling’s own life. And besides—the story contained a Negress! While she whom I had married—well—in her delicate veins flowed Southern blood.

			Enough is said!

			For never—in a thousand years—would she have believed; and, if she had, never could she have understood—by the thousandth of 1 per cent!

			But worse and still worse—Jemimah Cobb had not been killed! That was the unimportant correction—in the facts of her apparent “demise”—which the newspapers of that day forgot to print. She had not died! As I had found only when her recent crime—the murder of her rich Chinese lover, Mock Lu, owner of the big restaurant on Piccadilly—came to light. And then, quickly on its heels—and in the true British fashion!—her conviction. And then, in turn, the absolute and unqualified refusal of the Home Secretary—the court of last appeal in England!—even to com­mute her sentence. Even though, in the hopes of a commutation, she had given him—or allegedly so—the solution of the baffling British Mulkovitch Riddle—the case of some bearded Russian, known here and there about some of London’s cafés, who was known definitely to have walked into one of her dives five years ago—was known likewise, through competent detective obser­vers, never to have walked out—but of whom neither hide nor hair was ever found, even though the house had been torn down and ground torn up! And which “amazing solution”—as the Home Secretary himself had termed it—he had written out and placed with his private memoirs to be published only after his death; rather—to be exact—would write the solution out—and place it thus—10 minutes after the gallows trap should fall. And which falling had been set for 9 in the morning! And now—additionally enraged by the refusal of the Home Secretary to bargain with her—Jemimah was going triumphantly to name the white American who had once wedded her by bell, book and candle. And was going to reveal what she termed “the completely unfindable hiding-place” of that doubly signed certificate. And let the chips fall where they may—be it a second wife in America who would thus become no wife at all, or be it—as the black ignorant creature plainly hoped—an international conflict, America going to war with England! And nothing—quite noth­ing—she had sneeringly told the three British reporters who had interviewed her, would stop her tongue when she stood on that Pentonville gallows, before Prison-Governor, guards, official ex­ecu­tion inspectors—and journalists! In that significantly solemn moment allowed every executed murderer by British law. In which to make his—or her—last statement. That moment which even the Prison-Governor had told the Press Jemimah Cobb would have. That moment which, in the case of Jemimah Cobb, was to be one minute to 9 a.m. London time!

			Or one minute to 3 a.m. by the clock facing me across the room.

			Five hours—and a fraction—from this moment!

			And in view of the fact that Jemimah Cobb was, at this second, locked in back of tons of steel and stone—and 5000 miles away—there seemed, indeed, no way on God’s green earth to avert that revelation.

			No way, unless—

			And I thought deeply.

			For maybe—maybe this man seated in front of me now—was the solution for that seemingly impossible problem. If and perhaps! Maybe—

			And my questioning of him took on a definite turn.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER III

			Nixon-Duvall—Type 36-B

			“What’s your specialty?” I began. “If I might ask? You know, it’s a—a sort of treat—to talk with a real second-story man. You might even be—yes, you might!—a safeblower.”

			“Yeah?” His voice was sneering. “Well then—where’s my tools? Soup. Wedges. Putty.”

			“Whoa—Tilly! You do seem to know a bit, at that, about blowing safes.” I surveyed him again puzzledly, through half-closed eyelids. And not afraid in the least, as I did so, of his getting rambunctious, for I could have dropped him, with a shot from my coat pocket only, before he could have made even half a move to get out of that chair. “For instance,” I went on, “assuming, now, that the jewels—which, by God, I believe you’re after!—are over there in that safe which is walled in, with con­crete, clear up to its door, in that brickwork wall back of you there, just how did you expect to get ’em? That’s what puzzles me.”

			He turned his head clear about and took a good, long, and square look at the safe door. And as he did so, I caught sight of a peculiar little device of some sort stuck well into his ear—into the channel of the ear, that is! It must have been a slightly tapering hollow cylinder, whatever it was, to fit so snugly in there; but made of some sort of hard rubber, as it undoubtedly was, it was nevertheless ingeniously flesh-colored—and therefore as good as invisible against the actual flesh of his ear. Only because we were no more than about 4 feet apart—and because I was staring straight into and at his ear when he turned his head, was I ever aware that he had such a device there.

			He brought his gaze back.

			“Take a look,” I said, “at that arched doorway over there.” Knowing that that would cause him to look around the other way.

			He did so, obviously curious about the cause of my question. And in his other ear was the same cone-like—or cylinder-like—device, as before, ingeniously flesh-tinted. He brought his gaze puzzledly back.

			“What are those things—in your ears?”

			“Say now—don’t—don’t get pers’nal,” he said nettled.

			“And you,” I told him, nettled a bit myself, “just answer all my questions—if you have any hopes whatsoever of getting out of here tonight without handcuffs on you.”

			His face brightened just a trifle at my latter words. But a pained look nevertheless rested on it as he answered.

			“Well—you asked what—what those things—in my ears are. I don’t mind telling you, Mr. King, that if you wasn’t sitting there with a gat near your mitt, I’d tell you you were nuts as hell—and that there wasn’t anything in my ears—and that if there was, it wasn’t any of your goddamned business! However—you’re holding aces right now. So all right. They’re—they’re Cromely Patented Eardrums—at least I call ’em drums—they’re really little trumpets—for deaf people—people, that is, with certain kinds of deafness.”

			“But you hear pretty good though?”

			“Hell—yes! Damn sight better than you!” And there, in his last words, was the typical defective, aggrandizing a particular ability to cover his sense of infirmity in that direction.

			“And when they’re out of your ears—what?”

			His face grew more pained than ever.

			“You sure do love to stick a finger, Mr. King, in an ulcer! All right. You asked for it. When I take ’em out, I can’t hear a police siren blown ten feet from my face.”

			“Much less, words?”

			“Correct. I—I couldn’t hear a guy asking me to have a shot o’ 17-year-old bottled-in-bond.”

			“You are deaf then!” I conceded. “Well, we’ll abandon this tack. Now, Givney, let’s get back to fundamentals. There’s nothing in this room worth stealing. Except one skull—worth $5, and no more, to you! And one silver trophy cup—worth about the same, when melted down. And nothing downstairs—but fur­niture. All the really worth-while things in this house—for your kind—jewelry!—are in that safe back of you. And so, if what you wanted here was in that safe—how in the devil were you going to get into it? Without tools?”

			“I—I wasn’t going t’ try to get in.”

			“Bull!” I retorted. “You weren’t picking up bric-a-brac.”

			“Have it your own way,” he said grumpily.

			“I have it that way already,” was my answer to him. “And in spite of that I’m going to give you—you poor half-witted idiot!—a chance to talk. Maybe to talk yourself out of a bad spot. Now get wise to yourself. I’m not a bad guy—and having come more than half the way across the continent, and successfully dodged a Senatorial subpoena that damned near might have been served on me—and scented a 1 in 10 chance to avert a certain ugly hap­pening in London—I’m feeling actually charitable. In short, I have an impulse to be lenient with you. But you’ve got to speak up. And put all your cards, baby, on the table. So first: what do you know about safest’

			For the first time he betrayed a little interest.

			“Well, that depends. Now f’r instance—take that one back o’ me there—” He inclined his head slightly back of his left shoulder to the walled-in safe. “Now that’s a 5-dial Nixon-Duvall burglar-proof crib—put out by th’ American Safe Company o’ Westover, Massachussets. Guaranteed t’ be one hundred per cent noiseless. Because it don’t use tumblers—not even air-cushioned ones. The dials got to be set jest so-so—then they close an electric circuit inside that automatic-like op’rates th’ bolts. Which are one hundred per cent noiseless too! An’ there’s over 40 quardrillion settings possible on th’ 5 dials—none o’ which but th’ right one draws them bolts. In fact, summing up all I’ve just spouted, that partic’lar safe is th’ American Safe Comp’ny’s Nixon-Duvall—” He wrinkled his brows and pondered a moment—“36-B!”

			“Boy—howdy!” I exclaimed. “But you know your stuff! Well now, for instance—take that safe. Which, by the way, I installed for my wife’s use—and not for my own, my own old tomato can downtown in the Plymouth Building being plenty good enough to hold the worthless I.O.U.’s I collect from time to time, in my business. Now my wife is the only person—at least so far as I know—in the whole wide world, who knows exactly how those 5 dials back of you do have to be set, to open that strong-box. And you seem to know just about everything there is to know about such things. So—is that safe truly burglar-proof? Can it be opened—without tools—nitro-glycerine—anything?”

			“Well—I can answer that. It can’t be opened—with tools. Because it’s made o’ patented undrillable steel—so damned hard that a diamond point running for an hour wouldn’t hardly make a pin-point prick in its surface. It can’t be opened with soup—that being nitro, you know?—because the door is micro-machined with respect to th’ casing—if you know what that means. Yes. It’s some new kind o’ patented machining an’ surfacing process. Even th’ hinges are micro-drilled, and are entirely minus what they call ‘lost-motion.’ In short, no peterman could get any kind of a wedge between that door and the casing nowhere—not even a safety-razor blade, if he had a wedge maybe one molycule thick—then yes, maybe. But there ain’t any wedges like that.” He paused. “So—does that satisfy you?”

			“You certainly seem to know your stuff,” I commented. “Well, that leaves only a third possible method—as I understand such things. The Jimmy Valentine method! Can the safe be opened by manipulation—sure—I heard what you said about it being silent—because of not having any tumblers—and I ought to know considerable about it in view of the long spiel by the salesman who sold the safe to me—but can it—here—I’ll put it dif­ferently—for you seem to know more than any salesman about that kind of a safe—or else about that company’s products!—can you open that safe—all alone—unaided?”

			He crossed his legs. “Yes? No? Wouldn’t that be telling things, though! And did I even try such a scrooey thing like that, to prove to you whether I could or not, wouldn’t my mitts be plastered nice all over the door? Wouldn’t they? And then, instead o’ handing me in on a charge o’ plain housebreaking, you’d be telling those coppers I was a jug-heavy—trying to make your pete—by a combo-twirl. And then it’d be 10 in the Big House at Stillwater—instead o’ 5.” He put his thumbs in the arm-holes of his brown vest, and commenced to whistle a gay little tune. “Well, when do we go? And where do we go—from here?”

			I frowned. This fellow had known, without even going up close to inspect the gilt lettering on that safe, its make—makers—and type. He was, I figured then and there, a lot more versed in that field than he wanted to appear to be.

			“Come on,” I urged. “Play ball! You come in my library—with no tools—you know all about my safe—or rather, my wife’s safe, to be specific—and then don’t know whether you can open it or not. If I told you how much I blew for that piece of high-grade machinery, you’d—”

			“You don’t need to tell me. It set you back exactly 1500 bucks.”

			“That settles it!” I exclaimed. “You know enough,” about that safe that you must know still more. Now come on—just between us—man to man—have you got some inside secret for opening it—or were you just picking up bric-a-brac?”

			He surveyed me with a far-away expression. “I can’t make you, Mr. King. I think, at that, you’re baiting me. However—now, about that safe. You ask me—if I can open it. A burglar-proof safe. How in hell could I open—a burglar-proof safe?”

			“Damned if I know,” I admitted quite frankly. “Only—I think you came here with some idea of getting into it. Maybe your tools are down on the grass.”

			“Go down and look,” he urged, though manifestly not be­lieving I was such a fool.

			I smiled. I should, of course, have groaned at the thought of that black degenerate across the Atlantic—framing in her warped mind even now exactly what she was going to say on that gallows—and how she was going to say it. But my profession was one that made all the men in it ever able to smile—up and to the moment of catastrophe. In short—as I’d always put it—“the show is never over till the curtain-weight has bumped the stage!” And I replied to the suggestion of the stocky little man in front of me.

			“Then that’s that!” I said. “You’re too cheerfully certain that the police, when they come, won’t find any tools. Hm.” I paused. He had me profoundly puzzled. “Now come on. I’m not baiting you. Consider I’m just handriding you—and not laying the bat. And—but here, I’d better explain what I mean by that. It’s a racetrack expression—and it means I’m not trying to force you to speed up by a single inch—not giving you the whip, in other words. So come on—man to man—be frank, and—no—here—I’ll put a sporting proposition to you. In view of the fact that I’m a bookmaker—yes, and a square one too, incidentally—I’ll—”

			“Are you trying to inform me,” he said archly, “that you maybe got something to do with horse racing? Handriding—a guy! Laying—the bat! Say—if you’d just as lief stick to English, I’ll take all that on credit. Because I don’t monkey with the ponies, and don’t know the lingo. I’ll put you down as a bookie—and let it go at that.”

			I smiled. “And why do anything else? Just the same,” I said, “stating my social status definitely, Givney, and confirming the Minneapolis Despatch, won’t hurt any. For it might interest you, at that, to know that the rank and file of bookies never use a single expression of the track at all.”

			“They don’t? Why?”

			“People always trying to cadge inside tips out of them,” I explained to him curtly. “So they learn to—well—dissimulate on turf matters.”

			“Then—then,” he said, helplessness staring in his tones, “why, now, you—”

			“Why do I? Well it just happens that I had the misfortune—or fortune—however you look at it—to come up to the bookie stands by way of the paddock, see? And it was in the paddock—as a mere kid—a jockey, see?—where my track-lingo came to me. And stuck. And—but here—this isn’t a story of my life. It’s you, I think, who’s on the pan. So I’ll put you that sporting proposition. For betting one thing—against another—is my meat. You see, I’ve never seen a bird like you work—however the devil you do your work. And I’d like to have something to tell my good friends at the Nicollet Racing Club downtown. And so here it is: if you can get Mrs. King’s safe open—by fair means or foul—so that I can give her the scare of her life!—I’ll be careless enough to shut my eyes—and let you walk out of here—through the same window you came in by?”

			Exultantly he rose to his feet. “Say—are you on the square about that, Mr. King? Do you mean it? I can walk out o’ here—if I can jiggle that combination open?”

			“What,” I asked him calmly, “did the Minneapolis Despatch say about me—in that article in your hip pocket? For I presume they devoted plenty of space to me?”

			“Well, t’ be frank, they said you were known also as Square-Shooter King.”

			“All right. Evidently then the Despatch isn’t prejudiced against me. So you can put your faith in it. Yes,” I affirmed, “I’ll do what I tell you I’ll do. And the American Safe Company, I don’t mind telling you, either, will lay 1500 pesos on my lap—and take their junk back!”

			“It’s a bet, is it?”

			“All,” I said,” except that I want to know, if you do it how you do it?”

			“We-e-ell—that’s adding on to th’ prop’sition, ain’t it?”

			“Or,” I said, “as we have it on the track: I’m pulling a ‘creep-up’ on you, eh?”

			“Yes. Creep-up—or whatever th’ hell you call it.”

			“Well,” I commented, “it seems to me that I’m the doctor around here—when it comes to dictating terms. After all—one shot through that plump gizzard of yours—and I’ll get a vote of thanks from the twin cities of Minneapolis and St. Paul for knocking off one more petty crook. And sit down. You—you make me nervous—standing up.”

			He sat down with marked abruptness.

			“Well?” I queried.

			He scratched his chin. I could even hear the nail rasping against the as-yet-invisible bristle-tips.

			“As I understand it,” he said, “if I can—by any chance—wiggle the combo of your burglar-proof safe to a point where she unlocks—and give you the low-down on what I do—rather, how I do it—I’m—I’m to catch a walk-out powder free?”

			“Hell—yes,” I said. “Putting you in the jug doesn’t put anything in my pocket.”

			He sat thoughtful.

			“All right, Mr. King. I’ll try to play with you on that basis. An’ maybe I’ll fall on my schnozzolo, too, at that! Trying to get a box—as good as that—open. For my chances to do it are just about 50-50—no less—no more. But how I expect to do it, eh? Well, I’m sunk, as a burglar, around the Twin Cities all right, once you tell this story to your Nicollet Racing Club. But here’s how—for I don’t like iron bars and stone walls.”

			And he proceeded to tell me, in full detail, how he expected to open a Nixon-Duvall 5-dial burglar proof safe—type 36-B! And the telling of which would determine—once and for all—whether that black wretch in Pentonville Prison could be prevented from divulging her facts to the world.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER IV

			The Magic Eardrums

			“You was asking me,” the man across from me began, “a short while back, about these here things in my ears—what leave me deaf—and how!—when I take ’em out. Which I never do, by the way, till I turn the lights out at night—my dome on my pillow. And my being deaf has got everything to do with what I’m about to tell you now.” He paused. “And I’m also telling you, Mr. King, that I wouldn’t admit being deaf to my own brother—if I had one—that’s how goddamn sensitive I am—on the fool subject. And I—all right—don’t frown me down!—I’ll get going.” He paused again. “Well, there ain’t really much to the story. I was employed in a secondhand safe store—over on Portland Avenue, St. Paul—when I first started to go deaf. And I went fast. Got so, that within two months, I couldn’t hear at all.

			“So I go, see, to a specialist down in th’ New York Building. That don’t do nothing but ear stuff. A double saw and a fin he charges me—25 bucks, in plain English. And he examines me with tuning forks—and vibrating prongs a-laying on the bone, back of my ears—and ever’thing—to see what kind of deafness I got—and fin’ly he prescribes these here Cromely patented artificial eardrums. Cromely Micro-acoustic Sound-Focusing Auricles they’re actually called. I learnt their name well so’s I could call for ’em in any city—long’s I lived—without prying loose any more fat mazuma to specialists. They work—so far’s I understand it—by focusing sound down close ag’in th’ eardrum—like a lens, you know, what gathers a lot of rays o’ light together and lays ’em in one spot. Their inside curves—the way th’ doctor explains it—are composed of a lot of signs and co-signs and tangos and epi-bicycles that hurl th’ sound waves coming into the ear into each other’s laps, like. And—all right—don’t frown me down—I’ll get going. But unless you understand this, you ain’t going to get nothing of what I’m setting forth for you. All right. Well, I orders me two pairs—twenty-five bucks a pair—each pair consisting o’ 10 cents worth o’ hard rubber, $20 worth o’ royalties, and $4.90 worth of these here now sign and co-sign curves! I shoot my wad, see, to have that extra pair—in case the goddamn comp’ny goes out of business like the makers of the old Austin car, if you remember that today. And leaves me, thereby, up th’ famous creek—you know?—without a paddle.” He paused. “Well, soon’s I put ’em in—the pair of ear gadgets, I mean, what I’m gonna use regular—I can hear again. God—Christ—it feels good! You don’t know what it’s like to live in a world o’ silence.” He paused again. “Well, one day, maybe a couple o’ months later, I’m going down to work, see? And can’t find the pair o’ gadgets I’d been using in my ears. They’d fell behind th’ bed when I pulled ’em out in the dark, and I ain’t time to look for ’em, being late already. So I goes to my buroo drawer—and fishes out th’ other pair. What I ain’t ever used yet, see? And put ’em in. And Jesus—even then I know there’s some­thing wrong. I hear creakings in the furniture—high-pitched singings in the steam-radiator pipe that sounds like—like angel harps—sounds such as I’ve never heard before. I know right away that the gadgets that are in my ears are a squew-gee pair—tuned up wrong—see?—built wrong.

			“So I decides to be late to work—tips off the black gal that makes up the bed not to throw them other drums out if she takes a notion to sweep under it, which there ain’t much danger of since she never does any sweeping anyhow. And slips her a dime—and a smile to boot—the dime to add to the 23,000 bucks she owns—an inhairtance—and the smile because the wench is nuts about me. And—”

			“Nuts about you?” I broke in. “And owning 23,000 ‘bucks’? Why,” I asked, half-jokingly—and yet at the same time half-seriously—“didn’t you marry her? With 23,000 bucks?”

			“Marry—a nigger?” he retorted, plainly aghast, And drew himself up, in his chair, to a full higher inch in stature. “Say, a guy who would marry a nigger is so low that—Listen, a guy who wouldn’t cut his own throat before marrying a nigger ought—ought to have it cut for him. Say, I—I may be low in this here social scale—but so help me, I’ve never sunk so low as to marry a nigger. Nor never will!”

			And the supreme withering contempt in his voice made me inwardly wince. Even he—an ex-safe-roustabout, as he termed himself—was above that!

			“Go on with the story,” I said sharply, “So you tipped the girl to rescue the regular eardrums? And then—what?”

			“Yes, and I fixes to go down to the New York Building and stop by the specialist. And Jesus—on the way—on a streetcar—I’m late, as I say, so there ain’t many people on it—do I blush? Whooie! There’s a couple o’ lovers sitting a full six seats back of me—whispering. And I hear every goddamn word they say. A fact! Well, I’d heard plenty things about the new generalization, but—all right—I’ll get going.” He paused. “Well, by Christ, I’m nearly nuts when I get down to the New York Building. For the noises are—”

			“You mean,” I asked curiously, “that all sounds were louder?”

			“No. Strange to say, they wasn’t any louder—but sounds that was lighter come square into the range. Invisible sounds—if you get me. That’s as near’s I can explain it. I heard things that no ears could ever hear.

			“Well, I find the specialist in—twiddling his thumbs and waiting for more suckers to do a cutor’s worth o’ work on, and bill for twenty-five bucks. And he explains what’s wrong with them gadgets. Without even looking at ’em. He says in th’ making of them drums—or auricles, as he terms ’em—they’re purposely expected to be a little bit off-focus—like a lens that can’t bring things to a clear-cut spot o’ light. And shouldn’t. And he says that the pair in my ears is accidentally in a complete acoustic sound focus—in fact, from the way I describes things to him—and even he’s puzzled a bit!—they’re in a sound focus so complete that nothing like it would happen in a million such pairs—or a million years, maybe. Because, says he, in the turning of the rubber in the lathe, one o’ them math’matical curves has been accident’ly left out of th’ combination of curves—th’ partic’lar cam, see, f’r that partic’lar curve prob’ly got left off the’ cam shaft by the workman on that partic’lar job—and the absence of that curve jimmied the effect of all the other curves up—and the result is, at least from the way I tell it to him, that all sound flowing into each of my ears is falling right on the middle of its tin-pann-um—the eardrum, see?—and all concentrated on a spot no bigger than a pin-point. He says that if they annoy me too much I’m to take ’em back to th’ makers and say I’m his patient—and they’ll give me a good pair. Which’ll be properly blurred—‘blurred’ is the word he used.

			“Well, I’m downtown now—the gadgets in my ears—and so I go to work. It’s a scrooey feeling, too, I’m telling you—at least at first—hearing all kinds of things that one don’t ord’narily hear. But I endure it, see? And it happens that near mid-morning a cheap safe goes on the bum. One of these tomato cans—well, you said you had one such in your office in the Plymouth Building, here in Minny—so you’ll get me, I guess. This here one is one that a guy that knows anything at all about safes can open—if he just puts his ears to the combo and listens to th’ clickety-click o’ the tumblers. So I puts my ear to it—not thinking—and Jesus!—I don’t only hear the clickety-clicks—but I hear new sounds and tumblings about that I ain’t never heard before. I hear a whole family argument between the whole tumbler family—even the things they says about each other under their breaths! And it gets me to thinking. So when comes time to put on the feedbag—at noon—I stay in. See? And I look me up one of these here Nixon-Duvall safes. A secondhand one. That I happened to know the combo on. I put my ear as goddamn close to the combo as I can get it. And play around with it. Sure—I know it don’t work by no tumblers—but you never can tell nothing in life unless you try, can you? And boy, oh boy, I’m telling you—th’ inside faces o’ all them dials, and their contac’ shafts on the side, certa’nly are finished by being handrubbed with emory molycules—for even with my eardrums, that now seem to be able to hear a lady fly sighing after her gent fly has kissed her—to hear anything at all, I have to listen like as if I was trying to hear a dago eating spaghetti in Naples—with me in Shanghai. But faint—damn faint-like!—I catch me a little weak sort of a murmur—Christ no, not even that!—a—a sort—a sort of choked-off whisper, as near as I can describe it, like th’ good-by of a dying centurian—that’s a guy, Mr. King, who’s a hundred years old—whenever a certain two numbers on any two adjoining dials pass each other. And in each case them two numbers, I find, are two of th’ numbers that got to be together—the whole five of ’em—under the arrow point engraved on the safe door—for opening it. A half hour it takes me to find out even that much. And thinks I, I’ve got it. I—”

			“Hold—a second,” I said. “How could there be a sound of any sort—even to your magic ears—if—”

			“If there wasn’t no mech’nism operating?” he put in for me. “Yeah, how? Well, long after this was over, I doped that out. Must be, I tells myself, that a couple o’ points o’ some alloy inside used for electro-contact in th’ contact box back o’ the safe door come alongside each other, and was magnetic, and they gen’rated a feeble magnetic floox or something in the metal o’ th’ safe door—and what I heard was th’ molycules in th’ safe door complaining. Like—you know—people in a crowd growl at each other: ‘Quit shoving’?”

			“Your great familiarity with the psychology of the Molecule Family,” I put in, “leads me to think that you should have been a physicist?”

			“I should have been a physic—” he put in puzzledly. “Going around—giving kids castor oil—you mean?” The helpless look on his round face was comical. “Oh, it’s easy,” he added grum­pily, “to kid another guy, Mr. King, when you’ve an oscar in your coat pocket. But I can take a little o’ that, I guess. I can—”

			“Get going with the tale,” I ordered him.

			“Oke! Well,” he continued, after a second’s pause, “I try another secondhand Nixon-Duvall that has just come in. Only the boss has the combo on that one. And Jesus—I have to do some listening, I’m telling you. For even the movable parts in them safes work ag’in each other like eels’ tongues lapping up olive oil. And when it comes to hearing molycules—all right—all right. It’s on’y a theory o’ mine anyway, that molycule business. But, anyway, I damn near lose th’ sound I’m listening for, half the time, maybe because somebody a mile away takes their magnetic jackknife outa their pocket and sharpens a pencil—or some­thing—and knocks, whatever ’tis that happens, all scrooey! Rather, le’ me say, I damn near don’t ever get the sound I’m looking for. But careful like, I turn dials and listen—turn dials and listen—and, by God!—I get her open! A Nixon-Duvall safe! Me, Peter Givney, gives the American Safe Company a kick in the—”

			“In short,” I interrupted, “you now had a secret that forevermore would make you a fortune?”

			“Oh—yeah? Say—do I look like I’m a millionaire? And say—how do you suppose a guy like me gets access to places who’ve got these here safes?”

			“Via second-story windows—looking out over prairie land, it seems,” I commented.

			“Yeah’ Well, all windows ain’t as nice placed as that one back o’ you. And some places that have Nixon-Duvalls are impreg­natable.”

			“Impregnable,” I told him. “But go on!”

			“I will. And I am!” He paused. “Well, not long after all this happens, I get fired. For letting my temper out ag’in an old secondhand one-dial two-tumblered safe that wouldn’t open—and taking a sledge to it—and putting its combo worse on the bum than ever. And now that I’m fired, I thinks, thinks I, that I’ve got a way of making a living at that! That is, if I can find where some o’ them Nixon-Duvall safes are at. And—” He paused. “Well, I write to the American Safe Company at Westover, Massachusetts. That is, me, I don’t write—no—but I get a guy in a rooming house where I’m living then to do it right—an’ on a typewriter. And I tell ’em I’m a free-lance safe salesman, and I’ve got a customer who’ll buy a Nixon-Duvall through me—if I can dig him up some local recommends. From about St. Paul and Minneapolis, that is, where he can check up on ’em. And they write me back a sort o’ snooty letter, saying they don’t hand out, as a rule, information like that—but just the same, you see, the sales manager is sucking around for a sale—and he does send me photostats of three—just a lousy three!—letters received from people in St. Paul and Minny. Satisfied customers who got those safes. So now I got 3 addresses, anyway, where there’s Nixon-Duvalls—for I ain’t yet seen the Minny Despatch story, you see, about that nitro found down here, and th’ police theories, and th’ fact that it couldn’t have been meant for this place because you folks here had a Nixon-Duvall, and—but the clipping’s here in my back pocket if you want to see it.”

			“Not now,” I told him. “I’ll read it in a few minutes. For the present I’ll take those facts on trust. Go on with the story.”

			“All right, I will. And—but say—if I do go on, I’m sort of maybe talking myself into the pen, as far as I can see. In case you—”

			“On the contrary,” I assured him, “you’re talking yourself out.”

			“Well—maybe. That’s what I’m counting on, anyway.” He paused. “Well, one of these safes was inside a mansion on Kenwood Parkway, in St. Paul, that was just prickling with about 40 dozen servants. I’d have caught a dozen slugs in my guts if I’d ever even flirted with that dump. Another of the 3 safes was in an old lady’s apartment on Aldrich Avenue. Yeah—in Minneapolis here. The third one was in a fraternity house on Charles Street, St. Paul—yeah—in the high numbers, where all the frat houses are. It—the house, I mean—had a name made up o’ three Roman letters—one of ’em, I think, was ‘pie.’ And so—” He gave a doleful sigh. “Listen—Jesus—do I got to go on?”

			“Yes. Go on. What the hell are you fretting about? Didn’t I tell you you’re talking yourself out of the pen?”

			“Well, Mr. King, if ’twas anybody but Square-Shooter King—as the Minny Despatch called you—that give me that assurance, I’d play the clam—and take my chances on this one rap.” He paused. “All right. I’ll proceed.” He paused again. “Well, I get into the fraternity house—without no trouble. A sharpened fire poker—ag’in a rear window. The collitch boys all out carousing because of some last-of-the-season football game that their collitch won that day. And dam’ if I don’t get the safe open! Me—Peter Givney—roustabout in a secondhand safe start—as good as—as Raffles himself. In fact, better! But—what a flop! Just a lot of initiation an’ hazing stuff laying inside—and six pennies. So goddamn mad, I was, I just left ’em lay. And closed her up like she was.

			“Well, then I try the old lady’s next. Yes, the old lady on Aldrich Avenue, Minneapolis. I don’t even use a jimmy. For she keeps one inside court window a few inches up day and night. So up on a couple of barrels—and in. That is, when I see her go out. To th’ op’ry. That is, it musta been th’ op’ry, because she was dressed like a plush horse, an’ carried a pair of spectacles on a long handle. And Jesus—am I stumped this time? I can’t make the box! Maybe, I think, the magic eardrums—as I call ’em now—are getting dim at last; still, what I really know is that that son-of-a-bitch of a safe is got some kind o’ stresses in th’ steel o’ th’ door—that knocks this here, now, magnetic floox business all scrooey. Or maybe th’ safe has got a little bit perm’ntly magnetized or something by standing up above some electric gen’rator in some basement. Or maybe by being rapped on, at midnight, with a hammer or something, when the earth is laying squarely between the North an’ South Pole. You see, Mr. King, as a kid I once had me a notion to become an electrician—and I studied a few installments of a cheap correspondence course on this stuff.” He paused. “But regardless of why I can’t make the box, I just can’t! Again and again, when I adjust some of th’ adjoining dials, I can catch that faint sound, like as if it’s in the steel of the door, and sounding like—like, as I told you—the apologetic cough of a lady fly when she makes off to her gent fly that she really hadn’t intended to be that kind of a fly—but I can’t seem to get it from all th’ dials. And because it seems to come up sometimes out of two sep’rate places on some o’ th’ pairs—it did that on that first Nixon-Duvall I practiced with in the shop—well then, you can’t absolutely verify th’ location of either place as being right, unless you can get th’ sound you’re looking for out o’ th’ whole 5 dials. Naturally! And it’s such a faintish, swishy sound—even in my magic eardrums—that you got to—well—you got to strain your guts listening for it. So I moves them dials back and forth across each other—trying and trying and trying—and no results. Jesus! And the old lady reputed to have bonds—stones—mazuma. Sure—I’ve checked up on her in the stores around there. And by God—she comes back after a few hours—from the op’ry—I hear her in the front hall—and I have to beat it. Which same thing I might just as well have did two hours before. For I’d failed. And I’m cert, if you ask me, that if I’d stayed there all night working that combo I’d still have failed. As a b.p. safe that particular Nixon-Duvall was a—a natural.”

			He made a helpless gesture with his two pudgy hands.

			“And there’s my story,” he finished. “One success—technical, that is, not financial—and one failure. The success—on a Nixon-Duvall with only 6 pennies in it. The failure—on a Nixon-Duvall that prob’ly had a thousand bucks in it. And about then, as I’m wondering how to go on with this game, I catch that story—a week ago, that was—in the Minny Despatch, about your place—and all you folks—and by sheer good luck it just happens to mention a Nixon-Duvall being in the dump. And it says how you were in a sanitarium—and how your dame always blows the town every year on October 21, 22, and 23, to go in retreat in that nunnery in Milwaukee. Which means the servants are bound to go out kiting. For when the cats are away, you know, the mice will play! And it gives th’ street and number, and the way the place stands on the prairie—ever’ goddamn thing I need. It just looks, in fact, like I’m all set—for one more try. Which I made—or tried to make last night. That is, I lay around out there on th’ prairie half the night—and the place here was lighted up all the time. The servants were right on th’ job. But tonight when I got here, it was dark. And I give it a phone call—and nary an answer. So I’m ready—and it’s ready. And so I fetched a ladder across the prairie from that unfinished house south of here—and—well, here I am!” He made another of those characteristically futile gestures with his hands. And then handed me what was supposed to be, for me, a defy. “And now—in case you are thinking of welching on me—you can tell all that to the coppers—and I’ll tell ’em you’re full of hop—and so will the frat—and so will th’ old lady—for I used cotton gloves on both o’ them jobs and left no fingerprints. And the Nixon-Duvall people, I’m betting you, will give me ten dozen specialists to prove that a story to the effect that a guy can listen his way through one o’ their safes is—is hooey! Am I right—or am I right?”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER V

			A Ring on the Phone

			“Quite naturally,” I admitted, “those people wouldn’t want the world to know that there was a weakness in their product. I don’t know but that they would toss in a few specialists! However, there’s a matter of a jimmied window in that frat house, you know.” The rubicund face of the man across from me fell visibly. “And somebody, too, who’d come forward and admit writing to the American Safe Company for you. Yes. And your fingerprints on that window—back of me! All good—for 5 years.” His face was exceedingly glum now. “Well, let’s not talk of things that don’t need to occur. You’ve an interesting history, man, as a safecracker. Nitroglycerineless—that is! Peterman—isn’t that the word I’ve heard applied to safe openers?—up from the honest ranks of labor. The Man With the Magic Eardrums! So long as I live, I’ll think of you by that name—instead of the name Givney. And what a story this is going to be—at the Nicollet Racing Club! I expect still to be telling it there, when I’m in my dotage.” I paused. “However, let’s bring the story to its proper end. The way I outlined it a while back. As a sporting man, Givney, I made you a proposition. You open my wife’s safe—and you go out free. Fail—and damn’d if you don’t sleep tonight in a cell in the Northwest Minneapolis Police Station!”

			His answer made me say—mentally—but two words: “Shrewd beggar!”

			“Listen,” was his demand. “Are—are you trying to get something on your wife?”

			“Listen yourself,” I retorted sharply. “Would there be anything to be gotten—on a woman who retires once a year—into sack­cloth and ashes—in a cell—in a convent?”

			He scratched his chin.

			“We-ell—no, I don’t think there would be.”

			“All right. Then that’s that. So are you going to take me up—or aren’t you? Say yes—or say no.”

			The silence was suddenly broken by the sharp ringing of the telephone bell belonging to the instrument on the table between us. The instrument was close to his side of the table, thanks to the manner in which I had shoved it well out of my way after satisfying myself that his name was Peter Givney. I ignored the ring, however.

			“Answer!” I demanded, as it rang the second time. And I was still referring to the command I had last put to him.

			He seemed confused, however, by my words—and by the third ring of that telephone bell, because, instead of answering my fiat, he reached undecidedly out and lifted the instrument off its cradle. Even as I waved my arms violently to signify that he should leave it alone! But he had it, transmitting end to his lips already.

			“Yessir—he’s here,” he was saying. “Hold th’ wire.”

			He capped the transmitting end of the instrument with his hand. “A guy wants t’ talk to you.”

			“You damn fool,” I raged. “Why in hell did you lift that instrument up? Didn’t I tell you I was dodging a possible Congressional subpoena?”

			“Yeah—but then—then you said to answer.”

			“Damn it,” I fumed. “I was referring to my question to you. And not the phone. I’m not home to every Tom, Dick and Harry. And I’d have ignored it. And—well, what—what does he want?”

			“We-ell—the guy just says: ‘K’n I speak to Mr. Mortimer King.’”

			“Well, now that you’ve shot your mouth off about my being here, ask him who he is.”

			“Who’s speaking?” he asked in the phone.

			A squeaking followed. He looked up, transmitting end of phone again cupped.

			“He says he can’t give his name—an’ it wouldn’t mean nothing to you anyway—because he and you don’t even know each other.”

			“Hm? That’s funny. Ask him what he wants of me—at this hour.”

			He repeated my query. “He wants to know w’at you want?”

			More squeaking. He looked up. Transmitting end of instrument still cupped.

			“He says he wants to lay five hundred plunks in your lap.”

			“Five hundred pl—what the—hell! Five hundr—and he doesn’t even know me. Is he nuts or—here hand the phone over. And shove that cradle over here too, while you’re about it.”

			He shoved the instrument meekly across the table. And followed it with the cradle-base. And then, duly chastened, sat with hands flat on knees.

			And I answered the man, whoever he might be, who was on the other end.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER VI

			Solomon Steenburg on the Wire

			“Hello?” I began.

			A slightly nasal, but very businesslike voice answered.

			“Pardon me, Mr. King, for calling you at this hour—specially since you don’t know me—nor me you. But—but I’ve got to see you on a vital matter. Sol Steenburg is my name.”

			“I see. Well—just what—did you wish to see me—about?”

			“Mr. King, would you be interested in picking up five hundred dollars—and maybe saving a hundred thousand dollars’ future losses among your different books on the tracks—and maybe averting a gang war in New York City, in the bargain?”

			“What the devil?” I echoed. “Is this a joke? Or a game?”

			“Neither,” he said. “It’s on the level!”

			“Well,” I replied slowly, for there was conviction in the fellow’s voice, “I can’t say that I’d be so particularly hot and bothered about a mere five hundred dollars—but when you talk about saving thousands of dollars losses on the tracks—well—that’s like the famous white filly, Snowbird, who got dyed black, and cleaned up on the tracks as Blackbird! In short—a horse of another color! As to gang wars in New York, I don’t just get it. Well, what’s it all about?”

			“Well—first, Mr. King—you own a certain human skull?”

			“Well,” I said, with a half smile on my face, glancing across the stocky shoulders of the man in front of me to that brick shelf between safe door and closet door, “if what I’ve got isn’t a human skull—then it must be an ape’s skull!”

			“Only it isn’t!” was his quite-confident reply. “Now this skull came to you, I believe,” he pressed on, “in a somewhat unusual way?”

			“That would depend wholly on how you would look at it,” I told him coolly—and unfriendlily.

			“Sure—sure it would, Mr. King. I’ll say. I guess in your racket so many odd things happen that nothing is very queer. However, Mr. King, to make a long story short—would you be interested in selling that skull—for five hundred dollars?”

			“Not overly so,” I told him. “Not that five century notes,” I added, “aren’t—five century notes. Which, if I saw ’em on a sidewalk, I’d lean down and pick them up.”

			“Right! Myself the same, too. Mr. King, I’ve got to see you tonight.”

			“But I’m afraid, my friend,” I told him curtly, “that you’ll have to make an appointment for some time tomorr—”

			“No—don’t say that, Mr. King. I’m less than two blocks from your house right now. I’m on the edge of that big prairie where you live. That is, I’m in the Twin-City Chain Drugstore on Chando Avenue—north of Weddles Street—if you recall it. You see, Mr. King, I tried tonight a bit earlier to get you—I was even up at your home there—and not a soul—not even a servant—was in. So I just decided to stick on here in the vicinity, and keep ringing your place every half hour—till someone, yourself—or some servant—returned. Fact is, I’ve been here for over an hour and a half, in a soda booth, reading Lulu.”

			Lulu! I believed I could almost picture him from the thing be read. And the nasal twang in his voice—and the businesslike directness of his general approach.

			I thought hard. Here was I—with a captive—one un-armed, to be sure—and just about to give me a unique demonstration—of a rare ability he possessed which I wasn’t altogether sure yet wasn’t all based on a mere accidental fluke of some kind. A fluke in a secondhand safe shop. Though if he did possess the ability he claimed, I certainly intended to have that demonstration—since Fate had brought him along at such a grave and disturbing impasse in my own tangled affairs. Yet here, on the other hand, was Mr. Steenburg—Mr. Sol Steenburg—talking about cutting off losses of a hundred thousand dollars or more at the tracks—and five hundred dollars in cash for that skull over yonder on the shelf. Steenburg was talking about concrete things—in a concrete way! While the little man across from me might, for all I knew, be completely deluded as to his “expertness” with Nixon-Duvall safes. I half shook my head troubledly. Steenburg, and his late telephone call, was just like a short-priced horse suddenly entered the last moment in a sweepstakes, changing all odds chalked up on the entire board.

			The little man in the checked cap was watching me with wide-open eyes. I spoke. Into the transmitter. For after all, there were more than 5 full hours yet before Jemimah would hang!

			“All right, my friend. Track losses are damned important things—while five hundred dollars is small change. But I’ll see what it’s all about. So run over. Ring the front door bell. And I’ll let you in. And—but you say you know how to get here, all right?”

			“Yes, I’m sure I’ll have no trouble—thanks to the sidewalks all being laid out, and there being a few streetlights anyway.”

			“But didn’t I understand you to say you’d been here once before tonight?” I asked him puzzledly.

			“Yes, that’s right, Mr. King. But I came from the south that time—Ludlow Street. And when I couldn’t find anybody at home, I wandered west, on some cross-street there on the prairies, to—well, I think it’s called Northdale Avenue. Then I got balled up, and wandered north on that street, and all about the residential district north of you, and around in some sort of circle till I was near the prairie again, but on another street—Chando Avenue, it’s called—where I found this Twin-City drugstore.”

			“I see. I see. Well, come this way then—but be sure to follow my instructions if you don’t want to get lost again! Don’t come down Chando Avenue to Alberta Street—the lights are all out on the east stretch of sidewalk—as you undoubtedly must have found, since you took it into your head to traipse west before—and you may fall all over hell-and-gone before you get to this street, Yukon, crossing the prairie north and south. Walk west on Weddles Street—on the south side of the street—till you come to a big yellow sign reading ‘Hobury Heights Development.’ A short distance later you’ll see a lamppost with a blue sign on it, reading ‘Yukon Street.’ With just a sidewalk, coming up to it from the south. Turn south on that dark ribbon of cement—and—well—there’s only one house—only one, at least, that’s finished—between that lamppost and Ludlow Street, two full blocks to the south where you first came from. So I guess you shouldn’t miss it.”

			“Yes, Mr. King, I get you perfectly. And—oh say—by the way—could you possibly arrange that we could be—alone?”

			“I don’t need to arrange it. I’m alone here now. Mrs. King is in Milwaukee tonight. It’s true that one of my men who tends one of my handbooks in South Minneapolis answered the phone. But he was just leaving. He—wait just a minute.” Now I was pulling a grand bluff. “Are you gone yet, Cronkhite?” No answer, of course! I turned to the instrument. “He’s left. And I wonder if you’ll do me a favor? If you pass him on your way here—he carries a cane, and wears a derby hat, and has a paper-wrapped package under one arm—will you tell him not to forget to call on George Jannsen at 3 o’clock tomorrow afternoon sharp?” I spelled it forth. “J—A—N—N—S—E—N!”

			“George Jannsen, you say? 3 tomorrow—sharp? Sure yes. I’ll watch for him. And I’ll be there in 7—8—minutes.”

			And we hung up together.

			I sighed. And looked at the little man across from me. “Well, Petie, ol’ boy ol’ boy ol’ boy—you and your little demonstration will have to wait a bit, I guess. I’ve got a caller.”

			“Oke,” he said cheerfully. “I’ll wait. Over there by the wall. Or I’ll step downstairs, if you want me to.”

			I laughed openly. “That would be nice, wouldn’t it? You loping like an elephant over the prairies—once you were out of my sight?” I scratched my chin. The narrow oak closet door built into the brickwork of the wall back of him—some 10 or 12 feet from the imbedded safe—gave me an idea. “No, I’m going to sequester you in that closet. You’ll sit on the floor—your back against the wall. And ruminate over your misdeeds!”

			“O. K.” he said cheerfully. Rising.

			So cheerful about it, in fact he was, that I could read in it only the sheer jubilance of a man figuring he had the best of all chances in front of him now, to get something—to blackmail somebody—on!

			“First,” I ordered him, with a dry smile, “set those little magic eardrums of yours—auricles, to be exact—on the table.”

			His face actually paled. “Jesus, don’t—don’t make me do that, will you? It’s—it’s hell—to be locked—in silence.”

			“Pull ’em out—and put ’em down on that table,” I commanded. “I’m laying out the orders here tonight—and not you. Do you want me to get enough of a rise in blood pressure that I’ll call the police—right off?”

			“All—right. All—right! Don’t get sore. Don’t get sore. I’ll sit in the closet. On’y don’t expect, when your friend is gone, to call me to come out. Or knock for me. You’ll hafta to come—and turn the knob o’ th’ door.”

			“Turn the key, you mean,” I corrected him, “that’s sticking out of the lock over there—all in readiness to bolt you snugly into limbo with!”

			He turned about and assured himself of the sad fact of its existence.

			“Well,” he said grumpily, looking back again, “if I take th’ gadgets out—I got t’ have my tweezers. Can I reach for my watch pocket—’thout catching a slug—in my guts?”

			“Reach away!” I told him, smiling.

			He ferreted out of the tiny pocket over his pudgy paunch a pair of tweezers such as women thin their eyebrows with. Deftly, and obviously from much practice therein—and I remembered now how he had stated he did this operation only at night, when the lights were out, and his head was on his pillow—he reached into his right ear—and a second later the tweezers were withdrawn, holding the curiously shaped flesh-tinted cone-like little trumpet.

			With a dolorous sigh, he laid it on the table. And transferred the tweezers to his other hand. But I now held up mine. As a signal—to hold everything! Like a one-eared setter, he promptly turned the other ear towards me. I’m not sure but that he actually cocked it.

			“Don’t make any noise—in that closet over there—while my caller is here,” I warned him. “For if you do, I’ll have to shoot you right through the door—as a burglar—to prove that I’ve been giving him the right low-down on being entirely alone!”

			“I think you would enjoy potting me—at that,” he said spiritedly. “But don’t worry. I’ll be so goddamn quiet that you and him will think you’re both on the Sarah Desert.”

			“See that you do. And come on with the other gadget now!”

			Another deep sigh, and he reached blindly into his other ear with his tweezers, and removed, with the same deftness, his other mechanical sound-focusser. And now the blank expression characteristic of all deaf people settled hopelessly on his face.

			I swept the two little flesh-colored devices into the front of the library table drawer, already lying an inch or so open, thanks either to Otto’s carelessness—or else Rozalda’s.

			With which I stepped around the table and over to the closet door. And threw it open. The silken dresses hanging on hangers at the side of the closet—and the few books and racing records on the shelves—would have to be his sole companions for a few minutes. I motioned to him. He seemed used to sign language.

			He came across the intervening space, draggingly, rebelliously, sullenly. And not with the least fraction of the celerity with which he had clambered over that windowsill a short while before. He went dispiritedly into the closet, the while I stood well off, my hand on the gun in my right-hand pocket. He turned, and stood waiting.

			I motioned him down.

			He settled, first squattingly, and then relaxingly, onto the floor. Put his back against the rear wall of the closet. Drew up his knees, linked his hands together about them by aid of his pudgy fingers. The hopeless dull expression now written large on his face was one of complete resignation.

			I stepped to the door, and nodded, trying at least to convey the words: “See you later.” And closing the door on him, I turned the key in the lock within it, and put it in my pocket.

			With which I stepped over a few feet to the right and gazed speculatively up at the skull. And which, in turn, gazed superciliously out—and over me—suggesting exactly what it had when I had originally viewed it for the first time: a London bobby—because of the strip of white adhesive tape holding the lower jaw firmly to the sconce, passing under the jaw and ending on each of the flat bony cheek-planes of the latter.

			Strange, I mused, staring at it, that fellow Steenburg’s words! No skull in the world was worth five hundred dollars. That is, intrinsically. Extrinsically—well that was another thing entirely. So, of causes—facts—indeed, the history of that sconce—just what did this Steenburg know? Therein lay the answer to the riddle of his generous offer! But at this point a curious thought struck me. Rather, a sequence of thoughts, one growing directly out of the other! This very fellow I now had locked in the closet might have been after that skull—and all his story about Nixon-Duvall safes might have been a lot of hooey. Particularly in view of the fact that he had left himself an “out”—with respect to being 100 per cent able to open a Nixon-Duvall safe! And Mr. “Sol Steenburg,” in turn, might be another nightbird—playing independently—at some kind of a game. He might even have a gun on him a yard long. And seeing that skull in full view—might pull his gun on me pronto. Still more—he might even be a confederate of the fellow I had locked in the closet—and the two of them—if ever they got together!—might succeed in tieing me up tighter than a kite—and maybe plant a bullet between my ribs, in addition, to prevent my identifying them.

			But—if the skull weren’t here in sight—and I had some sort of plausible story about where it really was—and had, safely locked up, the one man who could testify it was in the house—Mr. “Steenburg,” if he was not all he seemed to be, would have to use guile—not force.

			So I hurriedly lifted down Mr. Skull—and he really looked, as I did so, as though he suspected what I was going to do with him, and wanted to rattle forth an objection, except that, of course, so snugly were his lower teeth bound to his dome by that tape that, even had he been a living head, he would have had, perforce, to remain mute!—anyway, I lifted him down, and put him in the partly filled wastebasket at the side of the table, clear on the bottom, and covered him well over—and around—with waste paper. And sat down back again in the swivel chair.

			Come on, Mr. “Steenburg!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER VII

			Mr. Steenburg Introduces Himself!

			Mr. Sol Steenburg—for so he really did prove subsequently to be—lost no time in getting over. As it afterward developed, he had positively to take the 1 a.m. plane out of Minneapolis that very night—which accounted for part of his speed. That, plus the fact that he was, after all, but one and three-quarters blocks away. For hardly had the onyx clock which looked down on me from the brickwork mantel ticked away a further half-minute, then a long, vigorous ring at the front door bell took place.

			I rose, and drawing aside the drapes on each side of the arched door so that the bright light from the room would illuminate well the single broad flight of stairs to the front door, went down, and opened it.

			A man dressed in a dapper suit of some sort of striped material, and wearing as well a rakish grey fedora hat, stood there. He was about 32 years of age, as nearly as I could then judge, and his face carried a thin and gracefully curving mustache such as, 7 or 8 years ago, or thereabouts, was affected by more than one screen idol. At least, those were the points that im­pressed themselves immediately on me, thanks to the light coming down from the open archway above us.

			“Mr. Steenburg?” I queried.

			“Yes, yes. And this is Mr. King?”

			“Yes, Mr. Steenburg.” I closed the door as he came in. “Just go right up those stairs there—to my library.”

			He preceded me up them, and stood aside, hat in hand, as I went in.

			“Put your hat here on the rack, Mr. Steenburg,” I invited him. “And take that gilt-legged Louis chair over ponder,” I added. “And I’ll sit in my old workhorse of a chair across from you.”

			He hung his rakish grey hat next my own, and, crossing the room briskly, sat down in the Louis Quatorze chair. Taking a lone cigarette from some upper vest pocket, and fumbling in his right-hand coat pocket for a match or a lighter. At the moment his nickel-plated lighter flashed forth I was certain it was a silver-plated gun like the one in my coat pocket—and my hand tightened on my own. But it was only a lighter, after all! He ignited his cigarette, puffed on it, and gazed in frank curiosity about the room.

			The while I took up the swivel chair, rescuing an ash tray from the table drawer for his ashes, watching him inquiringly, sur­veying him more painstakingly, and wondering what on earth his visit was about.

			Well dressed, Sol Steenburg. At least that striped suit was of fine material, and well tailored. Perhaps 40 years old—and not the 32 I had first hypothesized down at the front door—thanks to the brighter light bringing out a faint crepe-like texture to the skin directly under his eyes. His nose was quite aquiline—at least it possessed, in lieu of the hump that should presumably have been there to suggest his race, and to conform with his name, but the slightest convexity at its bridge. Though his eyes were: brown, sometimes almost loquacious themselves when he talked, at other times becoming the coldest, most business-like brown I have ever seen. His tie carried a small diamond, and matched a silk handkerchief that peeped with carefully adjusted carelessness from the upper handkerchief pocket of his coat. A tiny violet studded the buttonhole of his lapel. Plainly, Sol was a man who liked women—and whom, doubtlessly, women of some sorts would like in return.

			Now we were waiting, one for the other.

			“Well, Mr. Steenburg,” I said, “one of my weaknesses is possession of a hopeless bump of curiosity! For which reason I allowed you to come over here tonight—instead of tomorrow.”

			“And thanks a lot for that, anyway, Mr. King,” he said. “For I’ve got to be in court at 9:30 a.m. tomorrow—at Buffalo.”

			“In court?” I queried, raising my eyebrows.

			“I guess you don’t know yet who I am, do you?” he said quizzically.

			“I’m afraid I don’t,” I replied.

			“Well, I’m the son of—but, by the way, Mr. King, are we alone now?”

			I scratched my chin. Those businesslike brown eyes were fixed upon my face like gimlets that bored into my very thoughts. But remembering that, after all, the incumbent of the closet was, for the present, stone deaf—and had had due warning to stay put and keep quiet—I lied quite brazenly.

			“We’re completely alone. The man who answered the phone when you called has long since left.”

			“Oh, yes,” he said. “I passed him. There on Weddles Street. Just before I reached the signboard. Limping along with his cane. In fact, he had two packages. I gave him your message. And he stared after me like he thought I was bewitched.”

			I could hardly keep from grinning. For whoever he had passed had doubtlessly been walking east on Weddles Street from Northdale Avenue—to get to Chando Avenue—and had never turned out, at all, of the Hobury Heights prairies where Yukon Street—or Yukon Street someday to be!—in the form of a single lonely sidewalk, intersected Weddles Street. But my suppressed grin was not so much at the sheer “happenstance” that should have made this fellow pass a man tallying so nearly with my faked description, but at my picturization of the thoughts that must have gone through that individual at receiving such a cryptic message out of the night! I kept a straight face, however, as I replied.

			“Well, naturally—he wondered how in hell a mere stranger passing him on the street had that confidential dope about—well—Jannsen. For just as he went out, you see, I told him it was St. Cloud, Minnesota, calling.”

			“Oh yes—sure—I see. I see. Well, now—neither of your two servants are downstairs? The big German—or Rozalda?”

			I gazed at him in surprise. How in the devil did he know about Otto and Rozalda? At least, Rozalda’s name? But I decided to let that clear itself up, automatically whenever he got to his errand.

			“No,” I told him. And added darkly: “And the big German—as you call him—Otto’s his name—is going to catch Billy-Hell tomorrow. For leaving this house alone.”

			“Violating orders?” he queried.

			“Very much,” I nodded. And added explanatorily: “He has a mistress—a German girl—married—in Stillwater, Minnesota.”

			“Oh-oh!” he commented. “And when the cats are away, the mice—well maybe,” he broke off, “you’ll be surprised to know that your Rozalda has a number of boy friends too?”

			“Not at all,” I told him. And had good reason for my answer. “But I am surprised at your knowing so much about Otto—and Rozalda.” I paused. “So let’s get to the subject. We’re all alone.”

			He was manifestly satisfied that I spoke the truth.

			“Well, Mr. King,” he began, “as I told you on the phone, my name is Sol Steenburg. I’m a former criminal attorney. Of Buffalo, New York. Where I practice law at present. Only, I don’t practice criminal law any more. Real estate law—exclusively. I live at 289lvin Parkway, Buffalo. And my offices are in the Brisbane Building. See—just putting all my cards on the table?”

			I nodded, more puzzled than ever. Though, in his having been a criminal attorney once, lay some slight possible clue as to his interest in that skull. If, that is, he were a one-time criminal attorney—and not an imposter. And I decided, then and there, to test him out, and, at the same time—if he were all he claimed to be—get an authoritative answer to something that was harassing me tonight to the bottommost depths of my being.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER VIII

			The Mulkovitch Riddle

			“So you were at one time a criminal attorney, eh, Mr. Steenburg?” I replied. “Then you’d know a good deal about the laws of bigamy. Now I’ve been interested—merely academically, of course—in the case of this—this Negress, due to hang over there in London in five hours or so. And—”

			“I too!” put in Steenburg vehemently. “For the filthy slut, now about to die, has given the Home Secretary, for his memoirs, the solution of the Mulkovitch Riddle. Which—as a one-time criminal attorney—I’ve racked my brains plenty on, over the past five years. And will continue to rack, no doubt, till the Home Secretary himself dies—and his memoirs are published!”

			“But it’s just a case, as I understand it,” I returned, “of a man disappearing inside of a dive.”

			“Just?” he echoed. “Just—is good! It—but where were you, Mr. King, 5 years—no—5 years and 3 months ago?”

			I had to ponder a minute myself on that question. And then I recalled how on exactly that date I would have been about exactly halfway between America and Rio de Janeiro. And on the high seas to boot. “I was aboard a ship with Mrs. King,” I told Steenburg briefly. “Going to Rio. A small ship—without even radio news.”

			“Which would account then,” he returned, “for your not knowing much about that British riddle. And in the matter of my own knowing considerable about it, I happen to have a little book—rather booklet—published at a shilling in England—one of a series of true cases—this one called ‘The Mulkovitch Riddle’—which gives the thing in greater detail than was ever available over here in the cursory newspaper mentions of it. And—” He cleared his throat. “Well it seems, Mr. King, that this heavily bearded and mustached Russian—Nikolai Mulkovitch—a man of about 40, more or less—appeared in London roughly five years ago, and was seen here—there—and about, in various cafes in Soho and so forth, talking communism. In broken Rus­sianesque English. He had entered England on a valid passport, though it was subsequently found—when it was investigated—to have been issued on the basis of ‘verbal interrogation’ only, and by some emigration commissar named Bluvitsky, who died a few days after Mulkovitch left Russia. So there never was any data available about who Mulkovitch really was!

			“Be that as it may,” Steenburg continued, “Mulkovitch fell under suspicion in London as being an anarchist. And murderer to boot! Not by the British police, however, but by an astute American secret service chief there who found that Mulkovitch’s advent in London was just one week before the American Embassy was dynamited—and an under-clerk killed—in the apparent effort to destroy certain treaties just drawn up between England and America. And so he suspected Mulkovitch as having perhaps been the dynamiter. And put two of his men—both Americans residing in London—to trailing Mulkovitch so as to try to get a line on the Russian—two men so that, if one lost the trail, the other one would still have it.

			“And the very first day Mulkovitch was under surveillance,” Steenburg went on, “he repaired to—well, to give the complete details, he was first followed, around 10 o’clock or so in the morning, to a West End barber shop, where, as though in preparation for some important call, he had his voluminous beard and mustache neatly trimmed, and his shoes shined; thence emerging, he repaired—it was now around noontime, more or less—to a lonely house standing out in the center of some small prairie on the outskirts of London—a set-up very much like you have here, Mr. King—only Exham Heath that particular ‘prairie’ was called!—and was seen to ring, and to be admitted by a black woman.

			“And before the ring was even answered, one of the two agents was circling about the side of the prairie to get on the rear edge of this heath—to watch the rear door of the house—in case Mulkovitch was giving a ‘slip.’”

			Steenburg paused reflectively, then continued:

			“The bearded Mulkovitch didn’t, however, come out.

			“And hour after hour continued to go by.

			“It was a nippy cold day—comfortable smoke coming from the chimney of the house, yes, but nippy outside—but the agents held their ground.

			“And the chief agent, situated somewhere in the front, noted woman after woman coming to the place—several altogether—each carrying a bag or a satchel—some ringing the bell and being admitted by the black woman—a couple even using keys—but none coming out again. And so this agent, seeing that the place was some strange kind of an underworld joint, called a passing milkwagon driver and asked him to send the first bobby he saw down there.

			“Well, the bobby came,” Steenburg went on, “and the agent told him briefly what had occurred—that a man under grave suspicion of being a bomber and murderer by the local London American secret service chief was inside—and asked the bobby to request his—the bobby’s—superiors to have the place ‘pulled’—and to be extremely careful not to let this Russian man get away.

			“And within 15 minutes,” Steenburg continued, “a detail of London police arrived. And surrounded the place like nobody’s business.

			“Upon which the American agents immediately withdrew, as to have remained would, it seems, have been a sort of—of covert insult to the efficiency of the British police.

			“But the police,” Steenburg went on, “getting admission—well—they found that the place was Jemimah Cobb’s latest dive—last known, about 2 months back, to have been down near the West India docks. And now evidently taking a fly at business on the outskirts of the city. ‘Clients’ being notified, I suppose, by telephone!” Steenburg laughed. But his laugh faded into profound puzzlement. “And all they found inside was the notorious Jemimah Cobb herself and her 5 girls, the latter all dressed in flamboyant silks and so forth—and all ready for the ‘trade.’ All, as it happened, were known personally to one of the raiding party—Inspector Allison—who in plain clothes had visited the West India docks joint a number of times in the building up of evidence for a watertight case. And to give you an idea, Mr. King, of the sort of thing this Cobb creature purveyed, there was Gertrude with the cross-eyes; Minnie the hunchback—”

			“Oh-oh!” I said. “Jemimah Cobb had profited, it seems, from having been shot—for not having one such?”

			“So it seems, yes,” agreed Steenburg. “And then there was the French woman who talked practically no English—now what was her name?—oh yes, Theodora—”

			“Theodora!” I stiffened in my chair with surprise. For even I remembered Theodora, in that Quarter Moon Road joint. In that noxious lost chapter of my life. Theodora of the long golden hair—undoubtedly bleached! I’d even learned a few words of French from her. And had heard too, from her own lips, how her dream was to get back to her native France. And so poor Theodora—still a girl when I had been in that place—now Steenburg spoke of her as ‘the French woman’—poor Theodora had gone on and on and on with Jemimah. And down and down and down at the same time. And had become, as she went “on”—and “down”—older too—alas for her!

			Steenburg was looking at me oddly.

			“The name reminded me,” I said embarrassedly, “that I’m to call up a party of that name tonight. But—but go on.”

			He hesitated a minute. Then continued: “And there was Katie, the German girl, who had seven fingers on each hand—ugh—” Steenburg shivered visibly. “She—she must have suggested an—an octopus; and there was Koko, some strange dark-skinned multi-breed from Singapore with apparently all the races of the entire world in her.

			“And so,” Steenburg went on, “Jemimah and the 5 girls were whisked off to the police station—and the place searched from top to bottom by the raiding police. But no Mulkovitch! They looked under beds—in closets—tapped walls—

			“And still no Mulkovitch!

			“They pulled the fire out of the boiler—the old place had central heating—and raked the ashes. Not even a button or a belt-buckle!

			“Well, the girls,” Steenburg continued, “in separate cells in jail, each and individually declared that no Mulkovitch was in that house so far as they personally knew; and Jemimah Cobb further swore that no such man had entered her place—and that anybody claiming so was a ‘bloody liar’ and ‘coverin’ up his own stinkin’ incomp’tence.’ The girls were searched and examined, by the jail matrons, to their very skins to see if any were concealing some incriminating clue. Nothing was found to indicate other than that they at least thought they spoke the truth. So all were arraigned that night in police court on some British charge like our disorderly conduct—with leave, however, for the crown to institute murder charges if Mulkovitch’s body were found—and were sent—on six month sentences each—to—well, Koko, the multi-breed, was sent to the Women’s Department of the North London Jail for Psychopaths; Theodora went to the Women’s Reformatory on Lower Thames—”

			Poor Theodora! But I kept my face impassive.

			“—where at the end of her six months’ sentence,” continued Steenburg, “—for no Mulkovitch was ever found—she was deported back to France.”

			France! So Theodora had gotten home after all!

			“Katie, of the 7 fingers on each hand, and Minnie the hunchback, were sent to the Bermondsey Women’s Jail—from which Katie, at the end of her sentence, was shipped back to Germany. And Gertrude, of the cross-eyes, went to the women felons’ division of Pentonville Prison where Jemimah Cobb is today.”

			“And what—did Jemimah Cobb—get out of it?”

			Grimly, as I put that question, I wondered what on earth Steenburg would have thought had I put it correctly: “What did my legal and lawful wife get out of it?”

			“Oh,” he said, “she appealed her sentence—and a judge, in the next higher court, merely fined her. A paltry 50 pounds. There was some sort of scandal that she had something on him. That he was one of her—clients. At any rate, she slithered out of it—to run more dives. And ultimately, as now, to reach the end of her rope. And what I have related,” Steenburg finished, “is the Mulkovitch Riddle.”

			“Well, there’s nothing to it at all,” I said, a little deflatedly, “so far I can see. It’s plain that during the excitement of the raid Mulkovitch slipped out.”

			“No,” Steenburg said. “The police came down well prepared for a raid and for an important capture. And the agents never relinquished their positions till the police had completely taken over.”

			“Then,” I said, “he must have been hidden in the walls, and, several days later, after the thing died down—he just walked out.”

			“Yes? Well, next day, while the police still had the place under complete guard, the owner—a very religious man—decided to do something immediately that he had long intended to do. Namely, demolish the old house and put up a double bungalow. So he called in a huge corps of men and tore down the house. In front of the police. There were no secret panels or walls. The men dug up the foundation for the new place. No grave! No body. No Mul­kovitch. And to boil a long story short, Mr. King, he was never again seen by human eye.”

			Steenburg gave a gesture of finality with his hands.

			“Well,” I ventured, “it would seem then that the two agents who saw Mulkovitch enter the place just failed to see him emerge.”

			“In broad daylight?” Steenburg returned. “From a house out on a lonely heath?” He shook his head. “And if that’s all there was to it, Mr. King, why has Jemimah Cobb used the solution to try and bargain her way out of the noose? And why has the Home Secretary, in turn, called it an ‘amazing solution’?”

			I could not reply to that one. For it successfully diverted a hundred possible contraventions.

			“Well,” I said helplessly, “there—there isn’t any answer then—if, that is, the premises of the enigma are precisely as you have set forth.”

			“They are,” he pronounced firmly. “I sent my booklet to a friend in London, who is now a police inspector there. And asked him if all the premises were there—and if all were correct. He sent it back, with a letter that the booklet contained all there was on the case—and that what there was there was all correct.”

			A deep silence fell on us both. And I was the first to break in.

			“Well, all this thing began,” I said, “when I started to ask you, back there, a—a purely academic question. Yes—on hearing that you were an ex-criminal lawyer. And this is it: What is the status of the white wife of the white American whom Jemimah Cobb is going to name—assuming, of course, that that American has taken a wife, and without the formality of a divorce, for I understand that—that Jemimah Cobb’s death was reported once in the American papers?”

			“Yes. Well, that wife is loser in all directions.”

			“In all directions? Just what do you mean?”

			“Well, I mean, Mr. King, that even if Jemimah Cobb didn’t hang tonight—though of course she will, for her last possible appeal has failed—oh, those English are tough, when it comes to criminals, and no maybe!—but even if, as a mere argumentative hypothesis, she didn’t hang—as, for instance, if she went to the penitentiary for life, or—or even to the lunatic asylum—well, the white wife in question is no wife. And, conversely, if Jemimah Cobb is hanged, the white wife’s bigamous marriage becomes okay and legal, and stands—only—her heart gets broken.”

			“Broken?” I echoed.

			“Good God, Mr. King,” he came back, “what decent white woman’s wouldn’t be? To learn that her husband—had married a degenerate Negress before her? Why no story on God’s green earth, Mr. King, could ever explain that away. The man in the case plainly was some kind of a degenerate himself—perhaps partially reformed today. But reverting again to such white wife as he may have—well, if by any chance she has any Southern blood in her, I wouldn’t be surprised to see her take poison—or something.”

			I was silent. He had put things mighty pointedly. One hundred per cent loser, one person—whether all the horses came under the tape noses together—or all failed to start! One hundred per cent loser—whether Jemimah Cobb hung or didn’t hang. And hung Jemimah Cobb assuredly was scheduled to be. Unless—

			“But you were about to tell me, Mr. Steenburg,” I put in suddenly, “exactly why you came here tonight.” I glanced at the clock. “So—will you please continue?”

			“Yes,” he said, “I will. And will make it brief!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER IX

			Mr. Steenburg Discusses His Odd Errand

			“I have told you who I am,” Steenburg resumed, “but not who I am the son of. I am the son—the only son—of Rabbi David Steenburg, conceded to be the best informed man in the entire world on race-track gambling—the evils of it, that is! But of course, your being in a sanitarium the last couple of months or so, Mr. King, catching a pick-up on your nerves from the flu, you probably—like all patients—haven’t been allowed to read newspapers. Probably that place in Virginia where you were just didn’t allow newspapers ever to come into it—so there wouldn’t be any arguments with the patients. You see, I was in one myself once, long ago, when I had a bit of a nervous breakdown. And we weren’t permitted newspapers. So, because of all this, it’s quite possible that you wouldn’t know—”

			“Just a minute,” I broke in. “You learned of my resting up in that sanitarium—from the Minneapolis Despatch?”

			“I both learned of it, I don’t mind telling you, directly from your Polish girl servant Rozalda—but I read it, too, in that story about some nitroglyc—well—but you’ve seen the story by now, of course. So—”

			“No,” I told him. “I did not read it. And I have not yet seen it. I happen to know about the story now, yes, from—from a chap I met downtown tonight—for but a minute or two—and from what I can gather it seems that there was far more King Family History in it than nitro-glycerine!”

			“Yes,” Steenburg admitted. And fumbled in his pockets. “I’ve the story here, in fact—for I had reasons to get a copy of it, Mr. King—and if you’d like to have it, you—”

			I shook my head.

			“No. Laurel will undoubtedly have a copy. She—but Laurel, I ought to explain, is Mrs. King.” I stroked my chin, frowning. “I wonder just why—why she never sent me that story? Yes.”

			“I can answer that, Mr. King.”

			“You can?” I said in surprise. “Well go ahead—but also tell me how on earth the newspapers made such a complete tie-up to our family here, of the mere fact that some cracksman, at some time past moreover, hid a little nitroglycerine out on this big expanse of prairie surrounding this house?”

			“Well,” Steenburg declared, withdrawing a long folded clipping, “as to the latter question, Mr. King, some police inspec­tor who investigated the matter opined that maybe burglars stashed the stuff out here, figuring to be ready some night to blow your safe. But that, going up into some single unfinished house out there with binoculars, had been able to see—right in this very room here—that you had a safe of a type that was unblowable. In fact, this inspector showed how every detail of this room could have been caught in binoculars. And again—” He was unfolding the clipping as he talked, and it revealed itself to be composed of a long one and a very short one. “—the police wanted very much to question some gardener your wife had employed for about 3 weeks in your absence—from, in fact, I see it says, September 20th to October 8th—a bearded and mustached chap, with lobeless ears, named—let’s see—yes—Alonzo Hetchel—but who had left here more or less abruptly and without notice, and whose whereabouts were unknown. They had a theory that he might have been the inside man for some gang.”

			“They—would!” I laughed ironically. “The Honorable Mr. Hetchel, having been bearded and all that—and having lobeless ears to boot—becomes, for the police, the usual mystery man in the case. How, oh how, did it ever happen, I wonder, that the police didn’t suggest that he might even have been the famous Nikolai Mulkovitch—who vanished like a rabbit inside a conjuror’s silk hat?”

			“If any of them have thought about that famous case over the years as I have,” said Steenburg troubledly, “I daresay one of them has. For about 2 seconds, that is! But unfortunately for such beautiful hypothesis,” he went on, taking my words seriously, “which hypothesis couldn’t explain that Mulkovitch Riddle anyway!—your mystery gardener, according to the paper, talked English as only a native-born American—a Vermonter, your wife thought—talks it—and Mulkovitch, as I think I said, talked only broken Russianesque English; your gardener was, the paper said, around 55—while Mulkovitch would even today have been only about 45; and, last but not least, your gardener had lobeless ears—and Mulkovitch, according to the trained agents who trailed him—as I happen to know from my booklet on the case—possessed ears replete to the so-called helix, tragus, anti-tragus, lobule, anti-helix and concha!”

			I smiled. And replied to him.

			“You take me too seriously, I’m afraid—and I gather you know the subject of criminal identification. I have no idea whatsoever that I—or Mrs. King—have been harboring the world’s famous jack rabbit. Who leaps into a hat—and dissolves! But as for Hetchel, Esquire, since he’s been a gardener solely during my absence, I can’t vouch for him except to say that if, according to the Minneapolis police theory, he had been an inside man for a gang, he would have informed said gang as to the utter uselessness of even bringing their nitroglycerine around.” I shook my head, in wonderment at the police. “But you were going to tell me your explanation of why on earth Laurel did not send me this story?”

			“You—you won’t think me presumptuous,” Steenburg said, looking up, “if I read the tail end of the story? The part, in fact, which continued over on to another page? For that jumped tail-end—well—that holds the explanation.”

			“Heavens no, man,” I assured him. “A quarter million people have already read the whole yarn. So one more reading won’t hurt!”

			“No, that’s true.” And somewhat hesitantly, Steenburg read off aloud the smaller of the two clippings he held in his hand.

			Mrs. King will best be remembered as the former Laurel van Utley, of Minneapolis society, the only daughter—as was stated very briefly above—of Ignatius van Utley, the Catholic prayer-book publisher who left his entire fortune to found the order and convent of the Ethelredan Sisters in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Her mother was Alabama Leeds—one of the two daughters of the famous General “Dixie” Leeds of the Confederate Army. Mrs. King is also cousin to one of Minneapolis’ most unique characters—”Long John” van Critchford, the famous 7-foot-high traffic officer, ex-polo player, graduate of Harvard, and holder of a Ph.D. degree, who today, because of the loss of his own family’s fortunes, handles the traffic in front of Donaldson’s Glass House where it pours together from Nicollet and Hennepin Avenues. Mrs. King received nothing in her father’s will, and an attempt on the part of her cousin, “Long John,” to break the will, was a failure. It was shortly after the death of Ignatius van Utley that the then Laurel van Utley married King—Mortimer Quintus King as he appears on the Minneapolis polls records!—who at that time was best known as “Lucky King,” due to his rapid rise from having started as a bookmaker, with a single $100, taking “out-track” bets, to where he was conducting a dozen books as well as controlling a score of handbooks in Minneapolis and St. Paul.

			Some two years ago Mrs. King—after, it is said, long and deep reflection; and urged on, it is also stated, by certain distant relatives—sued King for legal separation, alleging that he had failed to live up to a pre-marital and implied agreement, namely to quit bookmaking; and alleging like­wise that the frequent distasteful notoriety arising out of his profession had gradually and increasingly hurt her sensi­bilities to the extent that she had come to feel it was a mistake for them to continue on together. The suit was ultimately withdrawn—after, so it is said, rather arduous arguments put to her by King, as well as certain threats voiced by him in the direction of certain relatives of his wife’s—but it is known that in the bill of stipulations, made out of court for its withdrawal, King agreed never to allow his name again to appear in the newspapers—at least through any voluntary act of his own, or any interviews whatsoever with himself; and he agreed that if he did, he forfeited all rights to contest any and all further actions against him by Mrs. King for divorce or separation.

			Steenburg looked up, quite embarrassed.

			And I had to laugh his embarrassment off for him. “I quite understand now,” I assured him. “There appears to be as much stuff in that story to embarrass Mrs. King and myself—as there is legitimate news. Indeed, there is a story that I never shall have a copy of—unless I go down to the Despatch office secretly, and buy a back number. October 15th—you say is its date?”

			“Yes,” he nodded. “But you can have this one, Mr. King.”

			“No,” was my rejoinder. “If you went to the trouble of digging up a copy—you must want all the facts concerning this family pretty badly! So keep—all the published facts you’ve now got.” But, to myself I reflected that despite that story with its undeniable array of facts—and despite Steenburg’s association with all the Ottos—or all the Rozaldas—in the world, there was one thing he could not know: that when that story was published here in Minneapolis I was on the West Coast—living under a pseudonym—and not in any sanitarium at all. So I changed the subject. “But you were saying, before we got off onto my family, that you’re the son of Mr.—that is, Rabbi—David Steenburg. So—what?”

			“Yes.” He was friendly, in spite of the brusqueness of my last two words. “And since you’ve been cut off in that sanitarium from stories about yourself—for, as I said, I was in a sanitarium once, and know all the damfool folderol of sanitarium life and rules—well, since you’ve been cut off from stories about yourself, by their regulations plus a little discreet—ahem!—epistolary editing on the part of Mrs. King, then you naturally haven’t seen any stories about Sol Steenburg either! Or the Steenburg family. One particular story about which would have been enough, I fancy, to have increased your nervous breakdown a little bit. Yes. And the contents of which story I’m about to tell you now. Namely, Mr. King, that my father is to appear—or, shall I put it, was to appear!—voluntarily—and as the star witness—before the forthcoming Senatorial Investigation sched­uled for November 10th. The one called, as you undoubtedly know, ‘An Investigation Toward Abolishment by Federal Statute of All Race-Track Booking in America, by Machine, Oral and All Other Recording Devices or Systems.’”

			“Oh-oh!” I said. “The man who’s going to help take my livelihood away?” I paused. “I suppose, then, if your father is a voluntary witness, he’s a friend of Secora—that little animated prosecuting red-pepper pot?”

			“No, Father’s a friend of Senator Copebrooke, who inaugurated the investigation—a lifelong friend,” Sol Steenburg returned.

			I nodded. Though I couldn’t see what connection they all had with skulls!

			He continued. “But you put it, Mr. King: ‘the man who is going to take your livelihood away.’ And I guess you didn’t hear me correct that verbally to—to was. No! I see, though, that you at least suspected there was to be some secret star witness who was to appear in November for the case-for-abolishment. But since Father’s never published a book about his life study—which has just been an avocation with him—I suppose you, and the other bookmakers in America, didn’t have much to guess on. However, it came out fully in that story that ran all over the country 13—no—12 days ago—about the forthcoming suit of this chap Soo Ching, the Chinese laundryman of Buffalo, against the Buffalo Trust and Savings Bank. Which you’ll remember—”

			“Wait,” I told him, mentally figuring back 12 days and realizing that it must have been approximately that date when I had had that abscessed tooth in San Francisco, with pain so bad, at least until it was drawn, that I hadn’t been able to do anything but walk the floor for 48 hours. “When that story broke, I wasn’t reading even—even—that is, you see, I was in—that sanitarium.”

			“Yes, of course. I forgot that utterly—for the second. Well, the reporters, it seems, had long ago picked up a hint from Washington—possibly from Senator Copebrooke himself—Lord only knows where they did pick it up—that the name of the star hidden witness was Steen or Stein—or something like that—and that the facts, figures and statistics he would present before the Senatorial Committee would sweep horse-race betting out of America entirely. That’s absolutely all they could get hold of at first. Then, much much later, my client Soo Ching busted into print. And understand me, Mr. King, I don’t mean the first time 5—no, 6—weeks ago—when the praecipe of his suit was filed—for we soft-pedaled completely then on what we had—even had Soo file tentatively as his own lawyer. With the results that the newspapers all over the country treated it just as a ‘nut’ story—Chinese ‘nut’!—and only gave it a half dozen lines or so. I’m speaking of the last story—the one you haven’t seen. Though I’ve a copy of it here. Which I’d be more than glad to show you. This was the story that ran when Soo’s suit was set for hearing by Judge Emmanuel Karten. Since we had to give the basis for our suit, in order to have it set for trial, I naturally had to come out in the open, as Soo’s attorney, and with our facts. The reporters naturally descended on me for the fuller facts. And that’s how they stumbled—like the beggars always do!—on a tie-up between me—and that Senatorial Investigation, i.e., Father. They probably quizzed somebody who knew me—maybe in the Brisbane Building there—to try and see whether I was living high—and in line to pluck Soo Ching if he won his suit—and found that Father had made a life-study of something—like the horse-race betting evil. I suppose then they had their Washington confreres descend on Senator Copebrooke—and rag hell out of him—and thus got the name of his witness—for then the Buffalo press boys descended on me—put me on the pan—which, Lord knows they did—and worse than I’ve ever put any witness on the pan when I was a criminal lawyer. With the result that when this Soo Ching story blossomed forth into full print—the recent bigger story, I mean—it naturally carried me with it and all the interconnections. About my being the son of Rabbi David Steenburg who etc. etc. etc.” He paused. “But I rather think you know enough about the newspaper racket, Mr. King, to get exactly what happened.”

			“I only get rather clearly now,” I told him, “that your father is to be a voluntary expert witness before those busybody Senatorial grandmothers, for the ‘case-for’; while I, as president of the American Bookmakers’ Association, was to be subpoenaed—as sure as shooting!—to be the star involuntary expert witness for the ‘case-for’; to be forced to admit, by that damn little pepper-pot of an Alfonse Secora, all the evil things we bookies are supposed to do against the bettors in the way of compound mathematics—in the matter of the odds, that is. And the conspiracies we enter into. And the horses we theoretically dope!” I stopped. “However,” I commented significantly, “I’m not subpoenaed yet! Unless maybe, Steenburg, you’ve got one in your breast pocket there for me? Which I rather doubt, as you’re too amiable for a subpoena server!” I paused. “Well, Steenburg, what do you want to see me about, anyway? Is it that skull I own? Or do you want to stake the killing you make off of this Ching-Ching-Soo on a horse? Or what?”

			“Oh say, Mr. King—don’t say that. About my killing! Here—by golly!—I want you to read that Soo Ching story. It’s very short at that. I want to get it to you right off the bat that I’m not playing to grab cash—from anybody.” He was fumbling in his breast pocket as he spoke. If a subpoena were coming forth—well—it would have to come forth! But none came. Came, instead, a folded piece of printed newspaper. From which, as he unfolded it, a smaller piece dropped out. He handed the latter to me.

			“This smaller item here is the first thing ever published on Soo Ching,” he explained. “It hasn’t the Buffalo headline—for it’s one of the A.P. stories run all over the country, I guess—a friend of mine in another city mailed it to me—a chap who knows I do real estate work today—with the joking suggestion that I grab Soo’s case. Little did he know that I was already Soo’s lawyer!”

			I took the small item from his fingers and read it quickly. It ran:

			CHINESE SUES BANK FOR REAL ESTATE

			Buffalo, N. Y. September 13 (A-P): Soo Ching, a Chinese laundryman living at 574 Riley Street, filed today the praecipe of a suit against the Buffalo Trust and Savings Bank, naming himself tentatively as attorney, and claiming possession of the land under the skyscraper. It is thought the Chinese is mentally unhinged, but he cannot at present be located, probably being concealed by well-meaning relatives in Chinatown.

			I handed the tiny item back to Steenburg, puzzledly. Being an Associated Press item, it had probably been in one or the other of the Frisco papers I had read at the time it was printed. But it was so small that even I myself, back there in early September, had never seen it.

			Steenburg handed me the other clipping now. Again speaking.

			“But here, Mr. King, is the story I’ve been talking of. This one, too, is one of the syndicated versions—without the Buffalo headline—for it was mailed to me, the day after it appeared all over the U.S.A., by the same friend I just spoke of, and with just a sheet of paper on which he wrote: ‘Holding out on me, weren’t you, Sol?’”

			I leaned back and surveyed it. The ever-hungry press hadn’t got a picture of Soo Ching—for, like all Chinamen, he had been too elusive. But they had got one of Sol—and I didn’t doubt that Sol himself, not averse to a bit of advertising, had given them the very photograph—or else pose—that was reproduced in halftone here. He was there, in the one-column-wide picture, in fact, exactly as he was in front of me now. Striped suit, rakish hat—for the hat, just now on the hatrack across the room, was atop his head in the picture—silk handkerchief dropping from handkerchief pocket, even the violet in the buttonhole. Evidently he was never without that violet! Underneath the picture it said just: “Sol Steenburg, Buffalo attorney who prosecutes unusual million-dollar suit for Chinese laundryman.”

			And still hopelessly mystified—although after I completed the reading of the story I was to learn exactly how it fitted into the curious web of my life—I proceeded to peruse the clipping slowly, and painstakingly, memorizing it as nearly as I was able, by that odd faculty of memorization which has been mine since birth; and so that, if anything in it dealt with matters to be brought up later by Steenburg, I would not have to refer to it again.

			And in its words there was added—as it were!—to certain drama already existing within the Family King, other drama existent within the Family Steenburg—and still other drama in the Family Soo!

		

	
		
			CHAPTER X

			The Soo Ching Story

			CHINESE LAUNDRYMAN’S SUIT FOR MILLION-DOLLAR BUSINESS SITE SET FOR TRIAL

			His Attorney Presents to Newspapermen,

			for First Time, Facts Upon Which

			Unique Suit Is Based

			Buffalo, N. Y. (Oct. 10):A-P:—The case of Soo Ching, Buffalo Chinese laundryman who 4 weeks ago filed suit against the Buffalo Trust and Savings Bank for title to the expensive plot of land lying underneath the bank skyscraper, has been set for opening by Superior Judge Emmanuel Karten for October 23, 9:30 a.m. Soo Ching’s claim to the skyscraper site is based upon a conveyance made 55 years ago, to his grandfather, Soo Long, also a laundryman, and whose direct and only descendant he is. The conveyance was executed by a customer of Soo Long’s, Christopher Schurz of Buffalo, who became so enraged at the sawtooth edges put on his detachable cuffs by the laundries of that day, that he deeded to Soo Long, the first laundryman who did up his shirts and collars and cuffs satisfactorily, the vacant plot of land today occupied by the Buffalo Trust and Savings Bank skyscraper. The site, at the time of its being thus deeded, was worth at best only a few hundred dollars.

			Soo Ching’s present claim to the land is based upon his recent finding of the deed in question. It was found by him in an old ironing board which had belonged to his grandfather, Soo Long, and which had been kept for years on the wall of his father, Soo Chong, and on his own wall, in turn, as a sacred ancestral memento. The deed was hidden in the cloth wrappings of the ironing board. It shows, by its stampings, that it was duly recorded at the county recorder of docu­ments, under the name filled in upon it, which was S. Long, although for strict accuracy it should have been—under the rule of Chinese nomenclature—made out to L. Soo and have been recorded under the name Soo.

			There is no rule of law, however, decreeing that rules of Chinese nomenclature shall prevail with respect to legal documents. The real complication in the case lies in the odd coincidence that Christopher Schurz, some months later, and just before his death, either forgetting in his debility due to a long illness that he had executed this deed to his laundry­man, or else believing that the latter had accepted it merely in a spirit of friendliness, or else that Soo was ignorant of its significance, re-deeded the same property to a blood neph­ew, Samuel Long, again carelessly filling out the deed under the name S. Long. The nephew, however, lost or mislaid his deed a day or two after receiving it, and Schurtz obligingly executed him a duplicate. After which the nephew, Samuel Long, then found the lost deed, and gave it to his father, Angus Long, to keep for him.

			When finally, after some months, he did send down for recording the substitute duplicate deed he held, it came back to him with the words stamped on it by the recorder: “Already recorded.” He naturally believed that his father, who by that time had gone to Scotland, had recorded for him, in his name, the duplicate deed which Angus Long was holding, and Samuel Long thereafter believed that the property was in his name.

			From Samuel Long the property naturally travelled through many hands, gradually increasing in value, and was finally purchased, 49 years later, for $600,000, by the Buffalo Trust and Savings Bank.

			The defense of the bank against the deed in question will doubtlessly, so says a present real estate attorney, be based upon two points: first, no consideration, i.e. that a deed, based on mere satisfaction at having cuffs and collars without sawtooth edges, cannot be valid; second, that Christ­opher Schurz was insane if he deeded his property on such a consideration. The bank, argues this attorney, will doubtlessly maintain that Schurz’s subsequent correct deeding to his nephew shows recovery of his sanity.

			Soo Ching’s interests are revealed for the first time as being represented by Sol Steenburg, residing at 289 Colvin Parkway, a specialist in land tenure, former criminal attor­ney in Buffalo. Steenburg maintains, in an exclusive inter­view to this press service in which he made available to the press for the first time the foregoing facts, that the only point he will require to establish, in view of the existence and recordance of a valid deed in and to the long-deceased Soo Long, and the fact that Soo Ching can be proved to be Soo Long’s only descendant, is that Samuel Long, the subsequent recipient of a similar paper was, at the time the first valid deed was issued and recorded, in Scotland, and had not then even made the acquaintance of his uncle Christopher Schurz. Steenburg also took occasion to refute certain charges which, he says, have been bruited around and about Buffalo: namely, that he took this case from an ignorant laundryman on a 50-50 basis, and stands to make a half million dollars if he wins it. He declares that he accepted the case from the Chinese Protective Association far a fixed fee of $500, win or lose, and that he took it purely for professional purposes. He showed newspapermen of this news service his contract with the C.P.A. to this effect.

			Steenburg is the son of Rabbi David Steenburg, long a revered figure in Buffalo Jewry, whose life study of the evils of race-track gambling and race-track booking have resulted in his being asked, through the request of his lifelong friend, Senator Copebrooke, to be star witness at the forthcoming senatorial investigation November 10th, conducted by the fiery little prosecutor Alfonse Secora, the full name of the investigation being An Investigation Toward Abolishment by Federal Statute of All Race-Track Bookmaking in America, by Machine, Oral, and All Other Recorded Systems.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XI

			“MUM’S THE WORD!”

			I looked up from the clipping. In fact, folded it up and handed it back to Steenburg.

			He tucked it away carefully, almost pridefully, in his breast pocket, and commenced talking.

			“Now, Mr. King, I’m going to be absolutely frank with you. Which I can be, in view of two specific facts: One of which is, of course, that we’re all alone. And of which fact I’m assured now, completely so. The other reason is that they call you Square-Shooter King. And—”

			“—and also ‘Bring-a-Friend’ King,” I put in. “And likewise ‘Camera-Shy’ King. And, again, those who drop their rolls on one of my books, call me ‘Lucky King’.”

			“I knew,” he said curiously, “that you were known as ‘“Bring-a-Friend” King’—but never why. Do you mind telling me? Or—”

			“Not at all,” I assured him. “Whenever I’ve given a party here—I’ve always made it an absolute condition that each guest ‘bring a friend.’ In that way I’ve been enabled to enlarge my social sphere, ever larger. Which is the sphere I’ve preferred to enlarge—not the track sphere. In short, when a party is going full swing here, over half the guests are virtual strangers to me.”

			“But,” he expostulated, “in the usual party, guests are swarming all over one’s house. And aren’t you afraid, with strangers in the place, that—”

			“In the first place,” I interrupted him, “none of my friends would ever bring anybody here but a—well, the old slang term ‘right guy’ is the idea I’m trying to convey. And in the second place—” I grinned a bit, and nodded toward the safe in back of him—“in the second place, we’ve always locked up everything really valuable—or put such well away!”

			He grinned himself at my back-action expression of absolute faith in the friends of friends of the Family King!

			And now we both grew serious again.

			And I spoke.

			“And you were say—”

			“Yes,” he broke in, “I was saying I was going to be quite frank. And am.” He paused. “Well, as you can guess from that story I just showed you, Mr. King, as criminal attorney in years back, I was mixed up with lots of shady transactions—as such, at least, would later turn out to be! Which couldn’t be helped. That was my business, you see! But my father, now—well, he’s one of the finest old men who ever lived. There isn’t a breath of scandal that’s ever been attached to his name. Ever! And it isn’t necessary to tell you how much I love my father. Indeed, I dropped the practice of criminal law—and took up real-estate practice solely because he begged me to. I might have been making more money today—yes—if I hadn’t dropped criminal law. But I’m not grousing. Myself—and the old man—we’re just like this.” He held up two fingers, pressed close to each other. “He brought me up,” Steenburg went on. “No mother to help on that, either! And did we have a tough time! Rabbis don’t always live on the fat of the land, you know! But he managed to send me to college—when he didn’t have the tail of a gefüllte-fish to put in his own belly. And he—but we’ll leave all that be. Sufficient, Mr. King, for me to say that the old man values his good name more than anything else he has in life. And—well—suppose I tell you that Father isn’t going to appear—November 10th—before that Senatorial Investigation?”

			“Not—appear?” I asked. “But—why?”

			“Well, frankly, Father has been thinking it all over. And he’s concluded, after poring over a lot of the old books of Moses—which I’ve never even read myself!—that he’s going contrariwise to the tenets of our faith in deliberately creating a lot of enemies against the Jews by interfering in what, after all, doesn’t concern him except as a social study. Senator Copebrooke may think he has an unconditional promise of Father’s to appear—but if he gets it out later and reads it more carefully he’ll find that it’s purely a conditional affair. For I dictated it! And so—Father is simply going to Europe—on November 7th—to Palestine, in fact. There isn’t much possibility of his ever being subpoenaed, prior to that, by the little Secora bird—or the animated pepper-pot, as you rightfully term him!—who’s practically certain to conduct that investigation. For Senator Copebrooke has undoubtedly assured Secora that he holds Father—in the bag. And after November 7th Father will be beyond all subpoenas—even if they come. For he’ll be aboard a British liner—the Queen Mary—in mid-ocean; and nobody but the three of us, Mr. King—you, he, and I—know that fact—in advance.” Steenburg paused troubledly. “But do you have any idea of what the world would say, Mr. King, if, after that investigation takes place—without the really star witness—it should ever come out that Sol Steenburg, Dave Steenburg’s only son, was closeted here with you—in the late hours of the evening—on the night of October 22nd—alone? What would the world say, Mr. King?”

			“Well, that’s easy, Steenburg. They’d say that, representing the American Bookies’ Association, as I do—I was delegated to ‘put the fix’ on your dad—through you, of course, as ‘fixer’—with a present of—oh—10 or 20 grand—to blow out of America and derail the threatened abolishment of race-track booking. Which, by the way, I don’t think will be abolished.” I paused. “In fact, if your father does leave before that investigation—the newspapers, if they ever got a thousandth of an inkling of your being here with me tonight, would practically come out flat-footed and say that your dad had been ‘fixed’—at least their stories would drip with open innuendoes to the effect that another good Jew—had gone wrong for gelt!” I smiled, however, to show him I meant no personal animus toward his race by my remark.

			“Precisely,” was Steenburg’s reply. “And the old man could never, never stand up under anything like that. It—it would just about break him, mentally and physically, Mr. King. I know!” He paused. “And so, quite naturally, Mr. King, I’m damn frank to tell you—here and now—that if anything whatsoever ever leaks out about my having been up here with you tonight—talked with you alone—I’m going to have one beaut of a mental blank! A fit of both amnesia and aphasia—combined! In short, don’t get sore if I ever hand the frozen-face to any friend of yours whom you might tell to give me a ‘hello’—up my way. Why say, I wouldn’t let the tiniest breath of suspicion attach itself to the person of the grandest old man who ever lived—for any price whatsoever.”

			“I get you perfectly,” I assured him. “And I understand. So carry on. After all—no one need ever know that you and I were alone tonight; and, moreover, if you’ll recall my conversation with you on the phone a while back—yes, while that other chap was here in the room—I addressed you then only as ‘my friend.’ And not as Mr. Steenburg. And purposely, of course. So carry on. No one can overhear us—unless they have a pair of long-range ears that can overhear all the way from Weddles Street—across the prairie southward.”

			He looked exceedingly relieved, at my very confirmation of what he was already practically assured of.

			And then began the subject of his strange errand.

			The mere presentation of which was—though I did not of course dream it then!—to contain a single fact which was to uncover for and completely!—that utterly unsolvable Mulkovitch Riddle now locked within the brain of England’s Home Secretary.

			And which single fact, moreover, was to bear an even more vital relationship to my nearly hopeless problem of that mad Negress due to be hanged tonight in Pentonville Prison than did, indeed, the odd revelation of the stocky little man now locked in the closet.

			And quite unknowing that I was to receive such fact, I bent my full attention to Steenburg’s words.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XII

			The Case of Henry Speevy

			“About a year and six months ago, Mr. King,” Steenburg began, “a farmer named Henry Speevy—chap who lives alone—batches it—on his farm on Rural Route 3, just out of Wiscotown, Wisconsin—brought to you a skull that he’d plowed up in a field of his which had been running to pasture for some eight years—a field right off the road. He—but you’ll admit this much, to begin with, won’t you?”

			“I’ll admit nothing,” I said pointedly, and a bit sternly, “till I know what the devil this is all about.”

			“Fair enough!” he said. “For after all, Henry Speevy—in the subsequent deal he made with you—made you promise solemnly and faithfully that never—as long as you lived—would you reveal where that skull came from. For No. 5,621 of the Wisconsin Revised Statutes, of just two years back, states that anyone who uncovers evidence of a murder, or part of any human body, and who fails to turn it over to the nearest county officer or else representative of the state’s attorney within 48 hours, is eligible to a fine of not less than $1000 and a sentence of 5 years in the penitentiary. And Speevy, being a Wisconsinite, knows all about that law. And so he made you promise. And the honor of a gambler, of course, is said to be the most precious thing he has.”

			I gave Steenburg a poker-like mask in return, and offered nothing to corroborate the point-blank statement he had just made. Although it was evident that the man was primed with a lot of hard facts.

			“Well,” he went on, “Speevy, as I now understand things, had decided, a year ago last spring, to sow this field with something—or else turn the surface of it over well so’s the timothy and clover in it would come up more luxuriant—or something like that—you can see, when it comes to something agricultural, Mr. King, I’m no farmer! No! But anyway, Speevy had plowed up this skull—this same skull we’re talking about—in this field. You probably wouldn’t be cognizant of such details—much less even inter­ested—but merely to show you, Mr. King, that I’m not speaking in vague terms, let me say that the field itself lies just to the right of a huge grove of poplar trees, on the road connecting Wisco­town, Wisconsin, with north-south Government Highway No. 41—but in giving road numbers now, Mr. King, I’m referring to the new number system now covering this entire region.”

			“Go ahead,” I told him. “I don’t have occasion to drive over much into Wisconsin—close as it is—but if you get too deep for me, in road numbers, I’ll put out the new revised road map—” I inclined my head towards the table drawer—“and follow you with a pencil!”

			“Okay,” he said. “But I’ll have occasion to refer to only a few roads, at most.” He paused. “Well, as I was about to say, this field where Speevy unearthed the skull lies on the road connecting Wiscotown, Wisconsin, with north-south Government Highway No. 41—new road number system—which itself connects east-west Government Highway No. 30—just south of Wiscotown. While Wiscotown itself lies—as of course you, Mr. King, being a Minneapolisite, would know—just across the Minnesota-Wisconsin state line—and only a healthy flea’s jump from St. Paul. And—but about the skull again. It was plowed up exactly 10 feet north, as I understand it, of the third fencepost from the west edge of the field. Now you assuredly see that I know something about the disinterment of that skull! However, to continue. There were no other skeletal appendages present—except, of course, the jawbone. For Speevy, after plowing it up, plowed and dug all around it. The skull, thanks to apparently long burial in the ground of the human head of which it had been the—the nucleus!—was fairly denuded of—well—of organic material—if you don’t mind, Mr. King, my euphemism for dead flesh!—yes—and it took very little boiling, on Speevy’s part, in an old rusty kettle—and little or no scraping after that—to convert it into a clean specimen of craniology. After being boiled a bit and thus cleaned, Speevy found that the rear wall of the left eyesocket was shattered—and the back of the skull was pierced by a bullet hole, the bullet having plainly travelled in from behind, and gone out the eye. Clean drilled, that is, the outside of that hole—compression only!—but jagged, its inside, where the bullet, leaving the inner cranium wall, tore off splinters of bone. A murdered man’s skull, in short—no suicide by any stretch of the imagination whatsoever!

			“But Speevy,” Steenburg went on—and he was now the perfect lawyer, presenting facts in their exact chronological relationship with each other, “had a chap living out there with him on his farm some six months or so before. A chap who’d come out there, right after the racing season had closed in that particular year, with some hunting paraphernalia—in fact, I think the plover season or the duck season, maybe it was—had just opened—and had asked permission to lay up for a week or 10 days in a spare room in Speevy’s cottage—and was willing to batch his own meals just like Speevy was doing. As you yourself know, Mr. King, Northern Wisconsin’s got a lot of small marshes scattered about it—and I guess maybe this chap was going to shoot some duck, and not plover. God knows what. It doesn’t matter. I even forget what name he gave to Speevy, and that doesn’t particularly matter, either; all that matters in this affair is that, talking with Speevy, of a night, over their pipes, he’d gotten more or less confidential with the farmer—and he told him he worked for you—or maybe it was—yes—that he had worked for you the previous year—as conductor of one of your many booking stands—I think at Hennepin Race Track—or maybe it was another track. That all really doesn’t matter so much.

			“What is really important in this affair, of course, is that he told Speevy he’d been close enough to you to know about some of your personal beliefs. About fetishes, that is. And hoodoos! Things that seemed to be connected with good luck. And with bad luck. And I suppose, Mr. King, that at times when you book on the tracks, you have to be pretty close with all your sub-bookies, eh? Anyway he—this chap—quoted you—at least to Speevy—as saying that, for one thing, it was bad luck in the gambling game to have one’s picture taken—and that you attributed your unusually good luck to the fact that you never had had yours taken—at least not since you’d been taken as a kidlet in diapers! Another thing he quoted you as saying to him was that it was your profound belief, based upon something you’d once heard or read, that possession of a bone or any part of the skeleton of a murdered man was good luck—and that the thousands of dollars you’d won on the tracks since you first started with a bare $100 was due, at least according to your belief, to your ownership of a front tooth—drawn by some undertaker friend of yours in the effort to make a pleasant-looking corpse—from the head of some Greek stabbed to death on Irving Avenue. In fact, you told him, if I’m not mistaken, that the day the tooth broke up because of a heavy weight dropping onto it—your luck took some particularly bad dip—and that you were perforce emboldened to believe in the whole of this theory of yours: namely, that if a human luck fetish were in any way marred, cut, chipped or broken—its powers were lost.”

			He looked at me inquiringly.

			“We-e-ell,” I said, apology in my voice, “there are some pretty deep things in life, Steenburg; far, far deeper than we know. What is our ‘luck,’ after all, but our ‘karma’—as the East Indians call it? The hidden connection between ourselves—our destiny—and certain curious objects—well, it’s mighty hidden, let me tell you. We nonchalantly group it all under the word ‘occult.’ Which science sneers at. And contemptuously refuses even to inves­tigate. And right there, Steenburg, science makes a god-damned ass of itself. It—”

			“Right, Mr. King! And I wasn’t sneering at anything.” Steenburg paused. And glanced at a watch on his wrist. “But I better go on with the story—if I’m to make that night plane out of St. Paul tonight.” He paused again. “Well, inasmuch as this skull Speevy turned up was manifestly the skull of a murdered man, Speevy, remembering what this bookie chap that had lived there a while back had told him, thought you’d be damned anxious to buy it for a good-luck fetish. He’d cleaned it up, of course, about as well as he could—but couldn’t very well take it to any anatomical laboratory, as you realize, to have the jaw swung to the skull proper with pivots and springs and all that; and so he just affixed the one temporarily to the other with a strip of adhesive white surgical tape. After which he brought the thing to you and sounded you out as to whether you cared to buy it for a good-luck fetish. Which in fact you did—for $100 cash—and a promise to Speevy that you’d never reveal his part in the skull’s coming to you. Which—if you’ll pardon my comment, Mr. King—I don’t guess you’d want to reveal anyway, considering that—that last out-of-court agreement between you and—and Mrs. King.”

			I gave a half laugh. “You would bring that up!” And added: “When and where did you bump into that story?”

			Steenburg appeared to be exceedingly embarrassed. “Well, Mr. King, I had deep reasons for wanting to read that story. In fact, I dropped into the public-service bureau of the Despatch around 6 o’clock this evening—your Rozalda, whom I frankly admit I’ve been out with once, in the course of running down the very grave matter on which I’m here tonight—your Rozalda, as I was about to say, has been plenty damn tight-mouthed about you—loyal, your servants evidently are—but she did let out, during the course of the particular party we were out on together just three nights ago, that there’d been a story about you, a few days prior to that, in the Despatch—so I went down to the public files late today—leafed over ’em—and found it. Then bought a back copy.”

			I only laughed. For I felt no rancor. “Some day, Steenburg,” I commented, “I intend to read that story in full!”

			“Of course,” Steenburg explained “the reason I finally looked it up was that I then knew for a certainty that I was going to have to talk with you personally about this thing—sooner or later—more sooner, in fact, than later!—and I knew that the Despatch story would have as much about you in it as it would about—about anything extraneous to your affairs.”

			“Right enough!” I admitted. “And you wanted to sort of—sort of catch my psychology? Was that it?”

			He nodded.

			“Well, ignore 99 per cent or so of what you read in the Despatch—and just put me down as a 50-50 combination of good bargainer—and good Samaritan!—providing the facts for my being the latter are warranted.”

			“Thanks. That’s just what I’ve done.”

			“But,” I told him, “get on with the tale. I can understand where you could read up a bit about me—but I don’t yet understand how you got these intimate, inside facts on this Speevy business? Particularly since you yourself don’t seem even to know the name of the particular bookie who batched that 10 days or so on Speevy’s farm? I do myself, yes—that is, I think I do—for I’ve employed as many as 30 bookies, at times, in the course of one season’s racings. But you—how do you get—what you’ve got?”

			“Well, if you want to know,” Steenburg admitted, “I got the facts I just gave you from Speevy himself. By a trick—yes—but I got them!” He paused. “However, Mr. King, since you know now that I know—the inside facts about that skull—come clean with me! So that we can get somewhere. First, where is that skull today?”

			But now, I thought, it was time to play chess a bit. Since, after all, he had as yet put mighty, mighty few cards on the table. But I determined it would have to be adroit chess. So I pondered some twenty or thirty seconds before I attempted to reply. He had said, a few minutes back, that he had been out on a party—or something—with Rozalda once. And that three nights ago—by his own words. So up to that time, at least, he had known that this house had been masterless. And after that, as well; in fact, up to whatever time he may have communicated with Rozalda by phone—if he did! So I selected, for his edification, a fairly late return. Late enough, that is, to lie subsequent to any personal communication on his part with Rozalda—if he’d had such—yet early enough to have gotten well rid of the skull. To be sure, I could have clamped down on him, with the icy stare, and told him it was none of his damned business where the skull was. But my feeling at the moment was that only in letting him know it was entirely out of the place—could I draw him all the way out. And then, if necessary, I could retract all I’d said. And little did I know, as I spoke, that Rozalda herself, in a timorous lie uttered to this man, that very evening over the phone—and which lie I was shortly to hear—had beautifully backed up the time scheme, at least, of the tale I was about to hand him.

			I smiled dryly, as I at last answered his question.

			“The skull just at this moment,” I lied gracefully, “is aboard a mail plane—winging its way toward the fashionable suburb of Evanston, Illinois—that is, I should say, toward Chicago—on whose proletarian edge effete Evanston nestles!” Steenburg gave a wry grin at my characterization of those two cities, one large, and one small, and both 500 miles away. But, looking at the onyx clock in back of him, I was continuing: “In fact,” I stated slowly, “in view of the special delivery stamp affixed to the square box it’s sealed up in—it ought to be going over a certain Evanston doorstep about 6 o’clock tomorrow morning!”

			He heard me through, but, strangely, did not appear to be so particularly nonplussed just because the skull—as far as he then knew—wasn’t on the premises.

			“Hm!” was all he said. “Do you mind telling me how—”

			“Not at all,” I broke in. “When I got back to Minneapolis today”—and that word ‘today’ was capable of covering many ranges of hours between last midnight and the midnight now rushing on us!—“I found a letter from an old friend—yes—in Evanston—who is giving a pre-Halloween party, night after tomorrow night. He wanted a real skull—to hang from his chandelier. And asked me if he could borrow mine. Which he’s seen on numerous occasions. So I mailed it down to him at once—via airmail—special delivery—$3 in stamps, too, old top!—and put the little French toque box of Mrs. King’s, containing it, in the corner package box myself—just as dusk swept over these hyar prairies. Collection would be—let’s see—6 p.m. Thence by pneumatic tube to Nicollet airfield. And out on the 8 p.m. mail plane. So Mr. Skull would be, I think, just now passing over—well—over Madison, Wisconsin. Though,” I added facetiously, “it’ll be coming back—by ordinary parcel post—if you can wait that long!”

			“No,” Steenburg said grimly, “I can’t! Not with Soo Ching—to take care of!” He was thoughtfully silent a moment. Then he spoke. “Well, all this, Mr. King, is no insurmountable barrier anyway, to our negotiations here tonight. No! Only—that puts me out of being able to prove conclusively to you that that skull will never bring you luck again—and that, for your particular purpose, Mr. King, it isn’t worth $5—much less $500!”

			I looked at him.

			“How do you mean,” I said harshly, “that it will never bring me luck—again?”

			“Because,” he said, “it has been chiseled—cut—operated upon! And without your knowledge! Its power—as a good-luck fetish—is up the spout! And the man who did it, Mr. King, is a Dr. Stefan Sciecinskiwicz—whose office is on Queen Avenue, South, right here in Minneapolis!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XIII

			How a Talisman Became a Hoodoo!

			I stared at him.

			“Sciecinski—” I began. “Well,” I amended, “I’ll take the rest of that long name on trust! Polish, eh? And Rozalda—hm!—Rozalda Mardzienski—Polish as well?” I paused. “Listen here, man, are you sure—of what you’re saying?”

			“I thought I’d give you a jolt,” he replied confidently. “Now get a load of this, Mr. King. This Rozalda of yours doesn’t exactly hate men—in case you don’t know it—and if you get my meaning, as well? And she—but get me right on this please: I got nothing to say about her—or against her—in a moral sense. A guy that says a word against a woman morally—without any basis—is a rat. And I’m not that! If you ask me, I’d say that your Rozalda can be crazy about a man—but that she’s got enough of a head on her not to—well, lose her head! Marriage is her price. So I think. All right. But nevertheless, as I was saying, she’s a bit man-crazy. Something which I don’t believe you could know—because she isn’t going to try to make you—nor cast sheep’s eyes in your direction—with Mrs. King in the house. Naturally! But I can know things—that you can’t. For, as you certainly should be able to guess, I’ve been following up this skull business for some days now. Checking every clue to its whereabouts—or its movements—that I’ve been able to get hold of—seven ways across the board! And so when I now give you a fact, Mr. King—as a fact!—take it as gospel truth—as something that’s been corroborated by me a dozen ways running. For it’s hard to give you this story sequentially. Try to take the story for the time being, Mr. King, as I give it—until it all falls together like—like a jig-saw puzzle. Which I promise you it will. Perfectly. And to the last jig-piece!”

			“All right,” I assured him, “I’ll do just that.”

			Steenburg paused a second. Then continued.

			“Your Rozalda, Mr. King,” he stated, “knows this Polack doctor I speak of. He has no wife, though whether he’s a bachelor or whether he’s a widower, I can’t say; all I can go by, for that particular detail, is the classification ‘b’ after his name in your Minneapolis telephone directory—standing, I suppose, for ‘single-blessedness’!—and which I understand is part of the new method of tabulation employed here to help distinguish people of the same names a bit from each other. However, there’s only one Dr. Stefan Sciecinskiwicz. And his office and living quarters are together—and are at 4132 Queen Avenue, South, here in this city.”

			Steenburg paused again, and then, as before, pressed on with whatever he was trying to present.

			“Anyway, Mr. King, to make a long story short—until I completely draw all these threads together for you—your Polish girl has been out a number of times with this Doc. She met him originally by just going to him—to treat for something. Natural enough, isn’t it? Polish girl—goes to Polish doc? And they make a date. Natural: enough, too, for she’s not a bad-looking trick, by a long shot, in the bargain. In fact, from what I’ve found out, I gather they have a date—just for a little harmless talkfest and drinkfest—every off and on. But now for a real bombshell, Mr. King. And here it is: This Sciecinskiwicz is a brother of no less a person than Two-Gun ‘Polack’ Eddy—notorious mankiller—wanted by your police here for killing 3 bluecoats—and being watched for, for weeks and weeks now, at every doctor’s office—in Minneapolis and St. Paul.”

			I stared wide-eyed at him.

			“You certainly bring plenty tidings tonight,” I commented. “How—which—what—”

			“Will you read this newspaper clipping first?” Steenburg said. “I dug this up, while I’ve been here in Minneapolis, when I found that Sciecinskiwicz was mixed up—in the way he was—with the skull—that I was running down. The story happens to be from the Robbinsdale Telegraph—but it carries, as you’ll note, the A-P credit line—and so the facts are just as good as if published in a Minneapolis paper.”

			“Been staying—in Robbinsdale?” I inquired.

			“No. But when I unearthed a connection between Two-Gun Eddy and Sciecinskiwicz, I asked one of the chambermaids in the hotel where I have been staying—and I’ve been booked there under a different name, Mr. King, than Steenburg—if she could possibly dig me up a whole file of back Minneapolis papers. I’m not a Minneapolisite, of course; and I don’t always get to read the papers every day in Buffalo, either. And so I—But any way, it seems the girl was from Robbinsdale—and got the Robbinsdale Telegraph every day by mail. And she brought me up a whole file—from ’way back when! It seemed to be pretty well up on Minneapolis news—so took a riffle back through it—and, sure enough, I came on the story. A story that helps to corroborate fully a peck of other data. And all of which is now completely clinched. But here it is. I just cut it out—and kept it.”

			As Steenburg had been talking he had been withdrawing, though with less prideful guardedness than he had displayed when he had produced the story that had pertained to himself, a clipping from his outer coat pocket, fumbling first in the one, then in the other. He handed it to me silently. I took it from his fingers. This curious affair seemed to unfold itself almost as much by newspaper stories—as by personal confidences. Yet, however, it was unfolding itself, we did seem to be reaching some vital point in our meeting. The clipping was short, and, as before, I memorized its details as I read it—so that not again would we need to refer back to it. It ran:

			POLICE LAY TRAP IN DOCTOR’S OFFICE FOR NOTORIOUS DESPERADO

			Minneapolis, Minn. (Oct. 19) A-P: Seven armed policemen, under Captain Charles Schoofeldt, lay in wait tonight in the offices of Dr. Frank Arrowline, an eye, ear, nose, and throat practitioner of 906 West Franklin Avenue, for a patient, aged 33, who had applied to the doctor for relief for a painful pus-impacted sinus. The police believed the patient to be the notorious Two-Gun “Polack” Eddy, killer of 3 policemen during escape from a police trap in South Minneapolis, who is known to be hiding in Minneapolis’ underworld. All Minneapolis physicians, and especially ear, nose, and throat men, have been warned for the past two weeks to notify the police immediately if any suspicious patients apply for relief from severe sinus pain, as Two-Gun “Polack” Eddy—or Eddie Jaworksi, as he is known in police records—is known to have a desperate case requiring surgical intervention, at least an the right-hand side, for complete and permanent relief. In the absence of such operative help he is thought to be subsisting on injections of illicit morphine.

			The patient who arrived finally, however, turned out to be George Arthur Birmingham, of 3349 Sheridan Avenue, and easily established his identity. He slightly resembled Two-Gun “Polack” Eddy.

			I looked up from the clipping. In fact, handed it back to Steenburg. Who put it back in his side coat pocket.

			“I’m up the creek now,” I confessed.

			“I don’t wonder,” he said. “Well, let me make it clear. The facts, that is—and not the corroboratory details. which will come later.” He paused. “This fellow Two-Gun ‘Polack’ Eddy—the killer—is the brother of this reputable—or so-so reputable!—physician—on your Queen Avenue, South. Yes! Separated as boys, he and Two-Gun were. And Two-Gun even goes by a different last name today. And nobody in the world—unless, that is, but your Rozalda—and Two-Gun—and Sciecinskiwicz—and now you and I, Mr. King—know what I’ve just told you. And when Two-Gun Eddy, desperate with pain it seems, and all doctors’ offices in Minneapolis warned to notify the police if a case like his came along, went to his brother late at night, some ten days or so ago, and begged Sciecinskiwicz to open up that impacted sinus—and offered him a thousand simoleons to boot—Sciecinskiwicz decided to—to try and do it.”

			“If this, what you say, Steenburg,” I mused, “is really true—and I presume it must be, since you say you can prove it all—then I wonder if Scie-what-you-may-call-him’s consent was due to brotherly love—or to the thousand smackers—or to fear of a professional scandal—in case ‘Two-Gun’ got nabbed else­where—seeking relief?”

			“All three doubtlessly,” said Steenburg promptly. “At least as I would reason it out.” He paused. “However, Sciecinskiwicz was pretty rusty—on intra-nasal work, that is. It seems he’d done a bit of it—yes—after leaving college. But had switched over to obstetrics—and that’s not hard to see why: he doubtlessly thought he could muscle into some of that voluminous Polish midwife business that always flourishes in Minneapolis’ Little Poland. And so he wasn’t sure of himself, Mr. King, on such a delicate operation. As this intra-nasal job. He felt he’d have to practice up a bit—on at least three trial operations!—before even tackling his own brother. Now he had one pickled cadaver head in his possession—a fact. I know all about it! But he was afraid even to try to purchase another, lest it be reported to the police—and they take it into their heads to watch him—and nab his brother. For he being Polish, you see, just like Two-Gun Eddy, that would throw him even more under suspicion. He did have an old skull, too, which he’d used for a simple practice drilling operation. What I mean to say is that he’d had a fracture or concussion case, quite some time back, in some hospital, with all the signs of intracranial pressure, or intracranial hemorrhage, or something like that just below the top of the patient’s head—at the point of the blow, in fact. The blow which caused the concussion, that is. And he’d thought to make a generous drill hole—oh, about a quarter of an inch in diameter—in the top of this patient’s head to let out the pus and the serum. And so he made a practice puncture, with one of these high-speed electric cranial drills, on this old skull first. More to get the feel of the instrument, as I understand it, than anything else. Though, incidentally, the hospital patient’s case cleared up unexpectedly without such operative help. But anyway—about this old skull. It didn’t belong to Sciecinskiwicz, Mr. King; he’d borrowed it, a month or so back, at the time of this hospitalization case, from some friend—or client—some building excavator—whose steam shovel had turned it up in laying the foundations for some downtown skyscraper. And who wanted it back, by gosh! No, I don’t know the fellow’s name. Though I do know his initials. They’re ‘J.R.’ I only know the facts I’ve just stated.” Steenburg paused. “And so, you see Sciecinskiwicz, having that cadaver head and that skull, had a couple of nose apertures, at least, to fiddle around in! And—”

			“And,” I said, anger showing in my voice for the first time, “he obtained my skull—for practice operation No. 3—from Ro­zalda?”

			“Right! Though it wasn’t intended that you could ever know the least thing about it, Mr. King. For Sciecinskiwicz proposed to coat the chiseled-off places back inside the nose with some kind of an acid and permanent stain that would make his cutting work seem old. That was in case you, Mr. King, ever did get the least bit suspicious. And gave the skull a complete once-over—inside its different apertures. See? And then put Otto and Rozalda on the pan.” He paused. “And so—while you, of course, were in that sanitarium—and Mrs. King was away for a few days—a week or so back—in Rochester, Minnesota, I believe—Rozalda loaned that skull to Sciecinskiwicz.”

			“Damn the fellow!” I said. “And what did he do? Or—do you know?”

			“I told you, Mr. King,” Steenburg said with firm assurance, “that I do know—everything I speak of. However, you probably mean what did Sciecinskiwicz specifically do? Eh? Well, I dropped in at the public library—at a time when I was temporarily blocked in a certain direction—yes, I’ll come to that later—and from a book on one of the open shelves of the Medical Division learned just what would have to be done in the case of a chap like this Two-Gun ‘Polack’ Eddy whom I’d read about. In that Robbinsdale Telegraph—loaned to me by that chamber­maid! Yes. And which, naturally, Mr. King, is the exact thing that would be done in a purely practice operation, preparatory to a case like Two-Gun’s. And so—when next you get that skull in your hands, Mr. King—from the party in Evanston, Illinois—yes—turn it around, it’s face up to the light—and look straight into its nose cavity. And receive the final and complete con­firmation of what I’m giving you here tonight. You’ll see—at least according to the way I learned things in this medical book—an almost cardboard-thin segment of bone hanging down—well—in your skull, it will be on the skull’s left side. That will be what’s known as the left middle turbinate. But there’ll be none on the right. No right middle turbinate, that is. No—sir! Because that will have had to be chiseled off—by this Polack doctor—to reach what’s known as the right sphenoid sinus. Yes—in the exper­imental operation—which would naturally be a right-sided affair so as to conform exactly with the technique required for Two-Gun’s case. You’ll see a sort of cavern, however, far back on the right, whose floor has been removed. You’ll see the roof of the nose gone—on that side—too—further up in front, however, and clear to the bony wall of the eye socket. For this book says that the severe pain attributable to a case like that attributed to Two-Gun in the newspapers could only emanate from what is called sphenoidal and ethmoidal involvement. In short,” Steenburg went on, “now that Sciecinskiwicz has made that difficult practice operation—made it three times, in fact—I know this, Mr. King, just as much, even, as I know that that skull has come back into this house!—now, as I was about to say, that he has made that difficult practice operation, which he intended, by the way, to make on both the skull and the cadaver head while such were locked in a vise, and leisurely spending all the time he needed to get the exact hang of the necessary difficult procedure—then that operation was undoubtedly complete and perfect. ‘Beautiful’—as a surgeon would put it! And having made the operation on that skull of yours—and on the other skull, too—and on the cadaver head likewise—Sciecinskiwicz undoubtedly lost no time after that in operating on the live Two-Gun Eddy—his brother—while he still retained the facility, you see, with his chisels and cutting forceps—in which case Two-Gun is now out of pain—and forever safe from the police, probably—his sphenoid and ethmoid caverns, as they are called, on that affected side, no longer able to hold pus—and drive him half insane.”

			“While Sciecinskiwicz,” I put in, “is richer by a thousand dollars, eh? And I now have a worthless fetish which would bring me bad luck—and without my ever even knowing it!—instead of good? For by Jupiter, Steenburg, it did bring me good luck—damned good luck!—up until, that is, that I temporarily neutralized its powers by letting my picture get taken. Yes. That’s a story in itself—and we won’t go into that. But that skull brought me as good luck, Steenburg, as did that other murdered man’s tooth you’ve heard about—the tooth which fell into pieces and immediately blew up entirely—as a luck fetish. Sounds crazy, eh? Too occult for you, eh? All right. Laugh this off—if you can! On Saturday, January the 11th, 1934, back in New-Deal Roosevelt’s day, all the priests of India lighted sacrificial fires to avert a stupendous earthquake which had been predicted for several years by astrologers who found that the convergence of a certain 7 planets in Capricorn, due by that date, foretold it. And on Monday, January the 15th, that same year, all India was rocked by one of the worst and most catastrophic quakes in all history. Refer to the newspapers of both of those dates—if you don’t believe me. And—” I stopped. “But anyway—it appears that I now have a worthless fetish—and all due to bring me rank bad luck. And—” I shook my head wearily. “Though what I can’t understand yet, Steenburg, is how you know all the things you’ve been relating here? And moreover, what first set you on the trail of this skull?”

			“Well,” the man across from me replied, with a helpless shrug of his shoulders, “it is a matter of criminal law—into which I have been dragged temporarily back after being out of the field for a full seven years. And I am representing the man who was present—though without advance knowledge or guilt—at the time and place where the man whose skull you own was murdered. And unless, Mr. King, you consent to give up that skull—my man will have to go to the electric chair. And an innocent girl-kid’s life be blasted in the bargain. Or a bloody gang war started in New York City to boot. All three things—most likely—as I see it!” Steenburg paused. “Now, Mr. King, have I—or haven’t I?—put my cards—fair and square-on the table?”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XIV

			A Message From Nowhere!

			“It rather looks,” I told Steenburg, “as if you have put your cards on the table. And now if you’ll go the rest of the way—and give me the whole low-down—I may enter into some arrangement with you for turning that skull back. If—as you claim—it’s been demolished as a fetish.”

			“It positively has,” he said grimly. “I happen to know that! It’s a dead dog—according to your belief—and all the East Indian caramels—karmal, I guess it was you said?—in the world. No, I’m not scoffing, Mr. King, at the hidden laws under the universe. I even incline, myself, to Christian Science—that says there isn’t any matter. Though I’d never take it up—for I love the Old Man too much to go against the laws of Moses. The hard rod—you know?—that hit the hard rock—and let wet water come through! Yes.” He paused. “Well, now for the facts. And following which, I’ll give the details of my follow-up of ’em. Here, in and around Minneapolis, that is. And those facts—those initial facts—they—but you won’t expect me to give actual names, of course?”

			“Not if you’re an attorney for somebody. No, of course not.”

			“Good. You’re a right guy, Mr. King. So here goes.” Steenburg paused. “Well, the client who I’m representing—the man who sent for me clear from Buffalo—is—but suppose I just tell you, in a dozen words, exactly why I’m handling this client’s case.” Steenburg paused again. “Nine years ago, Mr. King—I was practicing criminal law in Buffalo—or trying to, anyway—and pretty much down on my luck. The Old Man was coming down with pneumonia—at least, on the particular day I’m about to speak of, he actually had pneumonia, in fact—and I just couldn’t seem to be able to rustle the coin together to get him into Sinai Hospital. I was sitting in my office that day, blue as hell, when a bird came in—he had ex-whiskey-runner written all over him—and said he was ‘in the racket’—as the crooks used to call all criminal activity—and wanted to retain me to represent him in any jams he might get into in Buffalo—you know, Mr. King?—pull him out on a habeas corpus writ if he got picked up—and all that sort of stuff. I took him on—for that was my business. He wanted to know what the retainer would be. I told him, a bit hesitantly $50—and said I was sorry—but that my old man was coming down with pneumonia—and I had to have a fair piece of ‘mouthpiece money’—as it was called then. Well, this fellow laid a century note—a hundred-dollar bill!—down on my desk—and said to me, he said: ‘There’s your retainer, youngster—get your dad into a hospital right off. Only—don’t forget me—if I ever send for you. I’m retaining you—just remember that!’”

			“And,” I put in, “nine years or so later—you got the call?”

			“Exactly. That hundred bucks saved the Old Man’s life. And when I got the call—and by God, Mr. King, I’m grateful, whatever else I may be—but as I was going to say when I got the call, I answered it right off—and damn glad to be able to deliver a payback—any kind of payback. But now as to just why I did get the call.” He paused. “Well, the client in this case couldn’t come himself to Wisconsin. Or to Minneapolis. To run down—these certain things. See? Nor to Buffalo. To see me. Nor to any state in the Union. Outside of Illinois. He is, you might say, imprisoned in Illinois—for life!”

			“Is he in the pen?” I asked.

			“No. It’s a matter of Lumbago—Love—and Law!”

			I could not help but laugh. At Steenburg’s combination of terms.

			“Lumbago—love—and law? That’s a strange combination—of turnkeys.”

			“Well,” said Steenburg, a bit sheepishly, “the lumbago part will pass. Has passed now, as I happen to know. But the other two, Mr. King, are fixed quantities!” He paused. “No, what’s really imprisoning my client for life, there in Illinois, is the so-called Habitual Criminal Act—of Wisconsin. The one, you know, that’s been in existence for some years now—and which provides that anyone convicted of crime in Wisconsin shall get life imprisonment if he’s been convicted twice before—in that or any other state. Exactly, in fact, like the Indiana Habitual Criminal Act. Do you remember, Mr. King, back in 1934, how a small county in Indiana, called Lake County, planted ‘Fur’ Sammons in the Michigan City Indiana penitentiary for life—just for trying to pass a two-hundred-buck bribe to a Hoosier police officer at Cedar Lake who had arrested him for a traffic violation? Put him in the cooler for life, that is—because he’d already served time twice outside of Indiana?”

			“Yes,” I nodded, “I do recall that case.”

			“Well,” Steenburg said, “my client’s up against a somewhat similar proposition—except that his is very much modified by the fact of the passage, by the Illinois legislature, five years ago—of the law that certain minor crimes shan’t be extraditable crimes in Illinois if they put men under the Habitual Criminal Laws of any other states. Illinois believes, more or less, I guess, in a man paying for what he pays for—as he goes along—and not in his having to pay usurious compound interest—in the way of a life sentence. Straight thinkers, those Illinoisans! And so my client, who—now what the devil shall I call him in this discussion? He—”

			“Call him ‘Big-Shoes,’” I suggested facetiously. “Like the ‘X’—in the algebra books.”

			“Good enough, I will. And his shoes are plenty big enough at that. That is, with the Illinois cowhide boots he wears today!” Steenburg paused. “All right. ‘Big Shoes’ has been convicted of crime twice in Minnesota here—though in different parts of the state. And under different names. When he 1eft the North here, some seven years or so back—he walked out on bail from a minor crime committed in one of the larger cities of Wisconsin—slugged a Wisconsinite who said something against his mother—open-and-shut case—laid the fellow in the hospital—and so it was a case which meant a sure and certain conviction. Assault with intent to kill. And worse—if by any chance the Wisconsin prosecutor should succeed in digging up his two previous convictions, under different names, in Minnesota. What he did, Mr. King, was to take a Canadian lake boat out of Superior—though understand, I’m not saying Superior was the town in question—nor that it wasn’t—he took a Canadian lake boat out of Superior and went up to Canada. Changed his name, of course. He was afraid—in fact, was certain—that his two convictions in the different parts of the state here would be dug up—found to be that of the same man—and so, if convicted in Wisconsin on that last charge, it would mean life for him in Wisconsin State Prison. And that my client’s fears about those two convictions in Minnesota were well-founded is confirmed by the fact that in the spring of 1935 there was a complete comparison of data on all past convictions in every county of the Lake States here—Illinois, Michigan, Wisconsin, Minnesota, and Indiana. Including the case histories of men who had served in chain gangs. With the result, Mr. King, that the necessary data for life sentences, in such states as have habitual criminal laws, for thousands of different felons, are today all correlated and tabulated in the Lake States Division of the American Bureau of Penology.

			“My client stayed there in Canada,” Steenburg went on, after a brief pause, “for two years, and then Canada, at behest of the Lake States here, began to issue extradition warrants on the most trivial charges, against men who were classified here in the United States as habitual criminals. While at the same time the Illinois legislature made all minor crimes unextraditable—that is, when they made a No. 3 count on a habitual criminal law of any other state.”

			Steenburg paused a moment, and then continued.

			“So my client,” he went on, “got out of Canada. A number of people there knew him to be an American—and he began to feel insecure. In fact, he went to Illinois. He simply chartered a private plane—and flew straight from Canada to a private landing field, south of Chicago a hundred miles or so—a landing field known to the pilot. It cost my client plenty—yes—but in that way he arrived safely in Illinois, which state appeared to be his one safe haven now. For the man he had slugged, Mr. King, was still alive—is alive right today!—and had seen to it that the charge against my client was not nolle prossed—in fact had seen to it that my client’s description—and a standing reward for him—was kept in possession of all police chiefs—in all cities.

			“My client,” Steenburg continued, “arriving in Illinois, bought a small farm. Yes—within no more than a hundred miles of Chicago, I don’t mind telling you—since Illinois is bigger than some European countries. I won’t even say what town it’s near. He avoided settling in any of the bigger cities. Lest he did get picked up. By some sharp-eyed metropolitan detective—with a memory for old wanted faces in the old police bulletins. And then have to go through an extradition fight. He married a woman, in fact. Right off the bat. And had a kid—right off the bat—well no! I forget—about the laws of biology. He had a kid. A girl kid. Crazy about her—too. He took up a correspondence course—improved his English—his mind—his scanty education—tremendously. Took another correspondence course—in short-story writing—and—”

			“Short-story writing?” I put in, curiously. “I thought you said he bought a small farms?”

			“Yes, he did. But nothing so big, Mr. King, that it didn’t give him long winter days and nights with nothing to do—but think of improving conditions for his wife and kid. Yes, he took a correspondence course in short-story writing. And by God, Mr. King, he has, I believe, the stuff—to make eventually a fair side income in writing. He’ll probably never be a top-liner—no!—but there’s no reason why he hasn’t the same chance that thousands of others, men younger than he, have—a chance to skim some of the financial cream from the magazine fiction field. I’ve here—in my pocket now—” Steenburg pointed towards his breast pocket, “—a script of his which I’m taking back to Buffalo—something he wrote, unknown to the wife and kid, to sort of surprise ’em if it went over—something I promised maybe to clean up a bit in my spare moments—and try and market it for him—maybe to put it in the hands of some agent. And these things I tell you, Mr. King, to show you that he’s done with crime. And is content to remain a small farmer for the rest of his days—and to write fiction on the side. He’s done—absolutely done, Mr. King—with all the rackets.”

			“But there is a law,” I warned Steenburg, tapping my finger on the table, “that all criminals—are recidivists.”

			“Yes,” he admitted. And added: “But every law has its exception, Mr. King. And you must believe me, when I tell you this guy has quit crime. He’s—but I want to tell you now, if you don’t mind, the matter of the crime which put that skull in Henry Speevy’s field there in Wisconsin. Because—”

			But Steenburg’s words were shattered by the single sharp ring of the telephone bell.

			And I say “single ring” because, just before its first reverberation pierced the room, I was leaning over tying my shoelace which had become untied. And before ever the second ring had been reached, Steenburg had the instrument off its cradle and to his lips, for I heard him saying:

			“Yes, he’s here—and hold the wire!”

			And rising up from my shoelace tying, my head warm with suffused blood, I found myself confronting Steenburg’s outstretched hand with the instrument in it.

			It truly seemed as though tonight I was destined—whether I wished it or not—to be put willy-nilly onto all phone callers, thanks to the celerity with which all persons sitting across from me answered that phone!

			“Man or woman?” I asked Steenburg, taking the proffered instrument.

			“Neither—so far as I know!” Steenburg replied, with a half laugh. “I just forestalled ’em—before they asked—and said I’d put you on.”

			“It’s probably for Otto,” I returned reflectively. “Since, after all, I’m not known to be at home. And Mrs. King, likewise, is known to be away.”

			I spoke into the transmitter end of the instrument. To get contact with the calling party, tell him curtly “Not here,” and get back to matters with Steenburg.

			“Yes?” I said.

			There was a protractedly long silence indicating rather plainly, in view of the just-distinguishable circuit noises, that someone had temporarily laid his instrument down, the while he confirmed, in the telephone book, the phone number he was calling, or else obtained pencil, spectacles, or what-had-he; and I continued to wait patiently, tapping my fingertips on the tabletop. At last, after what seemed an interminable time, the calling party—having evidently taken up his instrument again—spoke.

			And in a brisk clear-speaking masculine voice which was unknown to me.

			“Skip at once,” were his surprising words, the one tumbling fast on the other, “if you’re guilty! The Minneapolis Morning Bugle has enough of some kind of a lead to what the Cobb woman is going to reveal on the gallows that—well, on the managing editor’s table right now stands the linotype slugs for a complete front-page story, already written up, and naming you—headline type blocks the same, with your name in ’em—and an electro-cut full 4 columns wide, made from some candid camera snapshot of yourself—all ready to be locked in the forms the minute the trap drops in London, and the cable news naming you gets across—and the edition containing the story to be gotten onto every doorstep in Minny by dawn. So if you’re guilty—skip now—and skip fast!”

			A sharp click followed. The decisive click that only a deposited telephone instrument can give. And I slowly returned to its cradle the instrument in my hand. And turned to Steenburg.

			“And you—were saying?” I asked.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XV

			How Blinky Went A-Riding!

			“Oh yes,” Steenburg resumed. “Well, as I was saying—but,” he broke off, “I hope, Mr. King, you didn’t catch some bad news—just now?”

			“Do I look—as though—I did?” I countered.

			“Yes—or no—that is, on second thought, you—you look frightfully bewildered. Some friend—give you surprising news—of any nature?”

			I made haste to dispose of Steenburg’s inward queries.

			“’Twas just—just some practical joker—having a little fun,” I said. But realized that I did look hopelessly dumfounded.

			“I see,” Steenburg replied politely. “Well, as I was about to tell you—”

			But now I interrupted him.

			“Though before you do resume, Steenburg, what, might I ask, as a purely academic question—and this is the second such kind of question I’ve asked tonight!—but I don’t often, you see, get the companionship of a criminal attorney!—what could a man collect, on libel, from a newspaper which set up a story slandering him? But—but didn’t publish it?”

			“Quite nothing, Mr. King—viz Paxton versus the New York Register—adverse decision confirmed by United States Supreme Court. Only can the plaintiff in such case collect libel damages if the paper actually publishes—officially publishes—the story. But not if, on the basis of hearsay, rumor, tip, suspicion, or what-have-you, the paper merely writes the story up, or sets it up, or anything else. The story must be printed and sent forth in regular distribution and sales channels. But of course,” explained Steenburg, “when a slanderous story about someone isn’t confirmed—no paper ever publishes it!”

			“No,” I admitted musingly. “No—if not confirmed—the story never gets published. True.” I was silent. “But you were about to tell me of the crime which put my skull in Henry Speevy’s field there in Wisconsin.”

			“Yes.”

			Steenburg paused a second, as a man collecting his facts. And then began:

			“Eight years ago, Mr. King, ‘Big Shoes’—as you suggest calling my client—was associated—here in Minneapolis—with a gang of hoodlums amongst which were—now again, I’ve got to avoid names. You understand? One was a drug runner. Cocaine and morphine. Fellow that didn’t touch the stuff himself. One was an asocial gang killer—if you get my meaning. And one was a one-eyed ex-gigolo.”

			“A one-eyed gigolos’“ I said, in frank surprise. “He couldn’t have been much of a lady-killer—with only one eye!”

			“No? Well as I understand it, Mr. King, this bird was as handsome as—well—he looked like a moving living collar ad! Very blond, you know—and blue-eyed; a Swede, in fact. And he had one of these glass eyes that the victim—patient—whatever you call a one-eyed man—can move about in his head—some clever surgeon had bunched up the muscles in some certain way when they took his bum optic out—so’s the knobs on the muscles could push the specially built artificial eye around and about. To a certain extent, that is, understand me. It’s called—I think—eye-muscle scarification. It’s really done, you know. My client tells me that that eye was said to have just—well—hypnotized the fat old ladies who hired this fellow, from some gigolo agent or agency, to squire ’em around. In fact, this bird—the gigolo chap, I mean—had more dope on rich old ladies—and their jewelry—and their inside lives—than all the gangs themselves. And you know how it was back in the last days of Prohibition? The illicit alky traffic had been so completely organized and sewed up that, to keep gangsters busy, new sources of illicit money had to be dug up. The gangsters, organized as they were for liquor hijacking—but with damned little liquor now being run in by outsiders—had to start hijacking commercial goods—and dope running, and selling—and blackmail—and even kidnaping. Well, my client had been a decent whiskey runner up to the time I speak of. And things had gotten so sewed up in the alcohol field that, with some others, he was hijacking commercial goods. And what little time he spent in the racket after the time I’m speaking of was sort of—well—‘holdover’—while he was trying to orient himself to a new world where beer and wine being legitimate, thanks to Roosevelt’s election, had virtually made hard liquor legal too. Now this other bird, the gigolo, came in on the gang stuff just at the end of Prohibition. He got drawn into the gang world for two reasons. One, because he’d never been bertillioned nor fingerprinted. Had no police record; in other words, he was pristine stuff—see? And valuable for that reason. And the other was all the dope he had on rich old ladies, from actual blackmail to the location of their pearl earrings or their diamond stomachers. However, now what am I going to call these birds—for I’ve got to refer to them all?”

			“Well,” I said, half amusedly, “call the dope-traffic fellow ‘Cokey.’ Call the official gang assassin ‘The Killer.’ And call the one-eyed gigolo ‘Blinky.’ Now we’ve got all the algebraic symbols.”

			Steenburg laughed. “Those names’ll do—fine.” He paused.

			“Well, ‘Blinky,’” he went on, a second later, “made the egregious mistake, it seems, of taking a five-hundred-dollar bill—to tip off where his gang chief was to be at a certain hour—of a certain date. To a man in a rival gang. Which gang wanted to put ‘Blinky’s Big Chief on the spot. It seemed that ‘Blinky’ palled around quite a big with the chauffeur for the Big Chief—see?—and so really had this vital inside info—and so, when he was approached, by the chap from the rival gang—he delivered the goods! But this gang—‘Blinky’s’ gang—had a spy in the other gang—see?—and so what Blinky had done came right back, pronto, to ‘Blinky’s’ superior—and so it was ordained that ‘Blinky’ would have to die. No, he didn’t know his perfidy had been discovered. Nor that he was going for a ride. The night he did go!

			“And it was my client, ‘Big Shoes,’ Mr. King, who drove the death car that night. And remember, a crook always gives his lawyer the true and complete low-down. Whether he’s guilty, that is; or whether he’s innocent. Now ‘Big Shoes’ tells me he positively did not know that night that ‘Blinky’ was to be erased. He was given to understand that the car he was driving—which car, Mr. King, left for East Minneapolis, Minnesota—an old hangout for Minneapolis gangsters in days long gone—was to meet a hijacked truck on what is today U. S. Highway No. 30, between Peshtowac Lake, Wisconsin and Indian City, Wisconsin. A truck coming up, by Highway No. 30, as of today, to Minneapolis from Oshkosh. It was supposed to be loaded to the gills with expensive silk from an Oskhosh jobbing house that jobbed all over Wisconsin, but which had gone into a receiver­ship, and the silk had been sold to another firm in St. Paul. The truck, however, was to be hijacked, see—just ahead of this town of Indian City, Wisconsin. By a quartette lying in wait on some small intersecting road that runs northward to Koontz Lake. U. S. Highway No. 30, as of today, it seems, crosses the Chippewa River somewhere between Indian City and Peshtowac Lake, and this silk—so ‘Big Shoes’ had been informed—was to be trans­ferred into the hold of a dirty old clamming boat on the Chippewa River, which boat would gradually transport it, over many weeks, and via the Mississippi, into Iowa, where it could be loaded at night aboard another truck—and sent into St. Paul. At least all this, you understand, was the story given to ‘Big Shoes.’ All he was supposed to do was to deliver these three extra men to help the crew of gunmen who would be on the hijacked truck to unload the silk in a big hurry. At the Chippewa River. Because of his old convictions, he wasn’t being asked to make any actual risks; just supposed to drop these other three men off—see?—and drive away. Back to East Minneapolis. As for ‘Blinky,’ he was to stand watch—on the river bank. Oh—it was all explained that way to ‘Blinky.’ And I guess the Big Chief of that day’s Minneapolis and St. Paul gangsterdom didn’t go into the finer details of why he maneuvered his men this way—or that way.

			“And so,” Steenburg continued, “‘Blinky,’ as it ‘happened,’ rode alongside ‘Big Shoes’ in the front seat. In back of ‘Blinky’ was this fellow ‘Killer.’ And back of ‘Big Shoes’ rode ‘Cokey.’ And only ‘Killer,’ it seems, had the real low-down on things—and had been instructed what to do.

			“And on a narrow deserted dirt road bringing them southward from U. S. Highway No. 6, as of today, to U. S. Highway No. 30, likewise as of today—somewhere around Flint Corners as I understand it—‘Killer’ did it! He took a gun from his pocket, there in the back seat—rose up a bit in the seat, behind ‘Blinky’—for ‘Blinky’ was looking partly downward at the time—calmly set it against the back of ‘Blinky’s’ head—or maybe held it off a few inches or so—and fired—and ‘Blinky’ fell forward dead. The bullet, as I gather it, went obliquely through ‘Blinky’s’ head—out his left eye—his one good eye, incidentally!—and lodged in the instrument board of the car. ‘Big Shoes’ stopped the car at once. And said—”

			“And said,” I put in mildly, “if your story is correct: ‘What the hell—“Killer?” Have you gone scrooey?’”

			“That’s just about what ‘Big Shoes’ tells me he did say, Mr. King. And then ‘Killer’ told him—and ‘Cokey’—that the silk hijacking job was the baloney—and that this was a one-way ride for ‘Blinky.’ And that his—‘Killer’s’—orders from the Big Boss higher up had been to dispatch ‘Blinky.’ Even then, ‘Big Shoes’ tells me, he couldn’t believe it. He thought it surely must be a private feud, So he backed the car up a deserted dead-end cross-road—a private lane, I guess it was. And went way up the narrow road on foot, and into a farmhouse. Where a few moments before they’d got their bearings from a blind farmer. A chap who was all alone at the time. And since the old chap was blind, and couldn’t legally identify anybody, ‘Big Shoes’ felt safe in using the other’s phone. Which he did. By permission. Called up his chief. In Minneapolis. And talked a little—very cautiously, you know, the way the old-time gangsters used to do. Using mostly code expressions. But he listened a lot more than he talked, it seems. And the chief told him, yes,—that those had been his orders: ‘Blinky’ was a double-crosser—and had to be erased.

			“So, ‘Big Shoes’ came on back to the car. In the meantime, however, ‘Killer’—acting under orders, it seems—had been severing ‘Blinky’s’ head. In the ditch, that is, where ‘Blinky’ had now been tossed. He used a razor sharp knife as far as he could—and then an axe, that he had under the seat, to sever the skull from the spinal column. The while ‘Cokey’ held a little pocket electric searchlight, and—”

			“Whoa, Steenburg! Not—not so fast. Why—why did he sever ‘Blinky’s’ head?”

			“For this reason—so ‘Big Shoes’ tells me. The Big Chief wanted the body to lie right there in the ditch—and be found next day—as a message to the rival gang organization who’d mighty soon be hep, that the ‘Blinky’ they thought they’d fixed so beautifully had received the count. But the Big Chief didn’t want ‘Blinky’s’ head to be found. For that head, you see, had one eye missing—that is, one eye was glass. To be sure, the glass eye could have been taken out—in fact, it actually subsequently was—but the coroner would soon find out that surgical work had been done in that particular eye-socket—probably the bunched eye-muscles I’ve spoken of. And the lid as well, I understand, was burned a bit—for ‘Blinky’d’ lost his eye originally through a splash from some caustic solution out of a vat. And so, you see, if the head were there, there would have been a clue to who ‘Blinky’ was. That is, the call would go out, in a thousand newspapers: ‘who knows a handsome collar-ad fellow—probably from up around Minneapolis and St. Paul—with one good eye—the left one—the other, the right one, glass, but capable of being manipulated and moved around by voluntary muscle action? And with a burned upper lid.’ And so forth. And so on. And somebody—the Big Chief was afraid, mainly, of some of this guy’s old ladies he used to squire around in Minneapolis—or even his wife in Minneapolis—with whom, however, ‘Blinky’ hadn’t lived for over 10 months—coming forward and identifying him then. And that would uncover dozens of leads, in the matter of people ‘Blinky’ was known to have met—hoodlums, see?—and through which he’d been inducted into gangsterdom. Besides all of which, the police would make inquiries all about Minneapolis—find out that there was such a handsome bird—and with such a defect—messing around, as a petty graft collector, or something, in gambling houses and nightclubs—and then they’d pull in all ‘Blinky’s’ closest associates—fellow hoodlums, naturally—and—”

			“Yes, I get it, Steenburg. I get it. Save everybody concerned a lot of trouble in the way of being questioned under the police greenlights—locked up—beaten up, maybe explaining their own obscure connections with ‘Blinky’—providing watertight alibis—and so forth and so on?”

			“Exactly, Mr. King. So the Big Chief told ‘Killer’ to bury the head someplace where the police couldn’t have it.”

			“And now the story falls together,” I commented. “They all drove, then, I take it, back to U. S. Highway No. 6—as of today—and thence—”

			“Not on your tintype, Mr. King, they didn’t! Not with that head—under the seat. And maybe some Wisconsin state motorcycle police looking for somebody else—on Highway No. 6. No, they wound their way zigzag along by a series of dark deserted roads which, it seems, run all the way westward from Flint Corners, Wisconsin, to north-south Highway No. 41, as of today! But when they shot through Wiscotown, Wisconsin, they knew they’d have to plant the head now—before hitting the wider, more populated highway.”

			“I see,” I put in. “And then, finding this pasture land, belonging to Henry Speevy, they drew up and buried the head—east of the poplar grove, I think you said—or 10 feet north of the 3rd fencepost from the west edge? For that’s not only the point where you told me Speevy unearthed the skull, but the identical point where Speevy told me—well, to be quite frank with you, Speevy did tell me how he unearthed the skull right there.”

			“Correct, Mr. King. And ‘Big Shoes’ story, to me, of the burying of the head, tallies to a T with Speevy’s story to me—and to you—of the finding of the skull. Years later.” Steenburg paused. “Yes, they plucked out the glass eye from the head—and crunched it to pieces, later, a full mile away. Just before turning into Highway No. 41. But I’m speaking now of the burial of the head. They lifted up a square of sod in that pasture land—it was about 2 in the morning now—and not a soul stirring over the entire countryside—and they dug down silently into the ground till they had a hole big enough for the head. Then they dropped it down in, plastered back as much dirt as they could on it—and the sod on top of that. And blew. And a rain, moreover, came up towards morning, and washed away all traces. Even if Speevy wasn’t busy, at the time, harvesting on his farm. For this was the fall of that year, you see.”

			Steenburg paused.

			“Well, next day—so ‘Big Shoes’ tells me—the headless body of ‘Blinky’ was found. In the Wisconsin ditch. As left! And officially recorded as so found. Although there wasn’t a thing by which to identify who he might be. Lucky for them, as I told you, be hadn’t been living with his wife for 10 months. Hence he wasn’t in line to be reported missing. And—to advance this story a bit—the car, which was a stolen one, but with obliterated engine numbers and parts-stampings—had to be abandoned a few nights later, in a hurry, 60 miles from Minneapolis—and Minnesota—and that too was picked up, and records made showing signs of blood on it—and even the bullet was found in its instrument board. Just isolated facts, you understand, that became recorded in various police files—but which could never have any concrete definite connection with each other, unless—”

			“Unless, for instance,” I put in, “some of the missing links were supplied. Like the head itself—rather, that skull I’ve got—as it is today. That, that is, plus somebody’s—anybody’s testimony that such incident even took place!”

			“Correct,” nodded Steenburg. He was silent a moment, evidently gathering together the threads to finish his very tangled tale. “Well,” he continued suddenly, “this gang eventually broke up. By the fall of the next year, in fact. The Big Chief, ‘Big Shoes’ tells me, died. And after that, things in gangsterdom sort of went from bad to worse. My client, in fact, was glad to get out of it all. He jumped bail, as I told you, after this slugging match in that Wisconsin city, and went to Canada. ‘Cokey’ stayed on in Minneapolis—at least for a couple of years—and then went to New York City. In fact, my client has gotten a card or a letter from ‘Cokey’ every Christmas—both while up in Canada and while down in Illinois—for ‘Cokey,’ of course, knows my client’s Illinois name—and that he’s jumped the racket. It was ‘Cokey,’ in fact, Mr. King, who kept watch, those first few years, on that Wisconsin ‘rap’—as the crooks call it—for my client. ‘Killer’ went to Omaha, and was later—a year later—shot dead in a bank robbery. ‘Big Shoes’ tells me he read of that himself, up in Canada, and of the positive identification of ‘Killer.’

			“In the meantime, he says, the old days have been, for him, all a sort of wild dream. The woman he married treats him O.K. And he’s nuts about the girl kid he’s got. She’s pretty—I’ll say that myself! Everything’s been going hunky-dory for him. No police ever bother him—because, for one thing, he doesn’t even ever get into any of the big Illinois cities. Everything, as I say, has been going hunky-dory for him. Except that, Mr. King, only about ten days ago, a tramp stopped off at ‘Big Shoes’ farm. For a handout. And he proved to be a bird from out the ‘racket’—as I told you it’s called—there in New York City. Knew just everybody in the racket, there, from A to Izzard. Oh, ‘Big Shoes’ quizzed him a-plenty—and in fact, this chap could see with half an eye that ‘Big Shoes’ had been a ‘hood’ himself way back when—but he has nothing to blackmail ‘Big Shoes’ on—and anyway, from what I hear, he’s a right guy and wouldn’t if he could. But here’s the important point, Mr. King. He knew ‘Cokey’—the fellow, that is, whom you and I, Mr. King, are referring to here as ‘Cokey.’ Absolutely, ‘Big Shoes’ tells me, the same fellow. He checks on every one of a couple of dozen points. And this tramp had plenty to tell ‘Big Shoes’—after ‘Big Shoes’ put himself down as wanting to knew all about ‘Cokey.’ And ‘Cokey,’ from being a dope runner—who never touched the stuff himself—has dropped not only to being a dope peddler—but worse—has become an addict: is taking 7 grains a day! And living—so this tramp told ‘Big Shoes’—only 3 jumps ahead of the New York police. And—well—do you know what that means?”

			I wrinkled up my forehead.

			“Well—not exactly—no. What bearing does it have—on the rest—rather, the other surviving member of that one-way ride?”

			“It means, Mr. King, that it’s only a question of days—weeks at most—before ‘Cokey’ will be arrested for peddling—for drug using—for vagabondage. The police will lock him up—he’ll be deprived of his drug—they’ll let him go through the usual hell—he’ll scream and cry with the unbearable pains in his legs—and the thousands of devils tickling him with hot feathers—and at last, due to their lying promises that if he tells all he knows about all his past criminal activities they’ll give him a shot—he’ll do just that. Or else he’ll be so mad with the drug torture hunger that he’ll actually volunteer, out-and-out, on his own behalf, for just one hypodermic of morphine, to tell them something about an old Wisconsin murder. In either case, he’ll have to produce some­thing other than a pipe dream. And to deliver the goods, and get that hypo, he’ll give the whole law-down on the murder of ‘Blinky.’ Tell them, at least, exact where ‘Blinky’s’ head is buried. And the minute he spills only that much, Mr. King—it’s all up! For him. And for my client too. A fact! What I mean is, that the police, clinching that much of the story, will then play the morphine hold-out game on that poor wretch of a ‘Cokey’ ten times harder—till every detail is wrung out of him: who were on that ride?—where the members are today?—oy, ‘Cokey,’ I tell you, will sell every single detail—detail by detail, too—for hypodermics of morphine—till they’ve got it all.”

			“Well,” I said, “granting that he cracks—and I understand that the tightest-mouthed crook, if he’s on the dope, not only invariably cracks 100 per cent when his dope is held out from him, but sells out his own brother in the bargain, if he’s got one, and—well, granting that this ‘Cokey’ cracks—and that he tells such a story—and complete from A to Izzard, as I concede it finally will be—and that there is a record of an unidentified body picked up somewhere in a Wisconsin ditch—in fact, there’s been dozens of such in the past!—and that there is a record of a car found elsewhere—in Minnesota, or outside Minneapolis—with a bullet in the instrument board—it still seems to me that there is nothing to convict your man ‘Big Shoes’ of murder on. For one thing, he claims he knows nothing—”

			“As to that, Mr. King,” Steenburg interrupted, “that will do him no good whatsoever. In a court of law. He drove the death car. ‘Killer,’ the only man who could prove—even if he would prove!—that he alone, that night, knew that ‘Blinky’ was to be erased, is dead. As far as cold hard common sense goes—with a jury of 12 men—or a grand jury—or even a coroner’s jury—‘Big Shoes’ was equal in guilt with ‘Killer’—and equal in knowledge before they started out on that ride.”

			“I see.” I pondered for a second. “Yes, it is hard to digest the fact that ‘Big Shoes’ was only going to a tea party. Or a labor delivery job—to a hijacking crew—as I think you said he believed he was.” I paused. “Well, suppose that to check ‘Cokey’s’ story—that is, when he ultimately breaks—and into smithereens, too!—the Wisconsin state police, at request of the New York detective bureau, or the New York U. S. Federal Bureau of Narcotics, go and dig on Speevy’s farm. At the proper spot. And that they don’t find the skull of the head that this addict has been telling about. They’ll, of course, beat hell out of Speevy—the Wisconsin state police here, I mean—even if he doesn’t tangle himself up four ways running—and he’ll admit that the skull was sold to me. And suppose then that they impounded—or replevined—or whatever is done in such cases—the skull from me, as evidence. Remember, I live in Minnesota—and I come under no damn laws about either holding or turning over such evidence to anybody. I can tell them, with impunity, to kiss my west end going east. Except, of course, that I’d have to turn the skull over. Yes. Well, suppose then they have it. So—what? What have they got? Nothing! For I’ve been reliably informed that by Wisconsin and Minnesota laws of some three—or is it four?—years ago, a murder lying over 3 months back, in time, of the proposed indictment therefor, has to be established legally as such by—now what’s it called?”

			“Corpus delicti identifactus,” Steenburg said promptly. “Quite correct. The law was passed in both states three some years ago. And it provides that corpus delicti, as in the past, is enough—for indictment—in a murder less than 3 months old. But farther back than that, the corpse has to be conclusively identified as that of some one definite person.”

			“All right,” I told Steenburg. “Then if they have the skull—what have they got? Nothing! For there’s no way on God’s green earth to prove that it’s ‘Blinky’s’ skull. I can tell you, here and now, that that skull has no dental bridgework. And today, moreover, it has no eyeballs! So that one, that is, can be said to be missing! Such surgery as was once used in removing that seared eye, and bunching those eye muscles, doesn’t leave any marks on the bony eye-socket. You know that. And there isn’t a jury on earth who would send ‘Big Shoes’ to the chair—on a cocaine-and-morphine addict’s story. Why, man, such a jury would know, too, all about the inter- and intra-gang hatreds that would be bound to hold over even today—from old days—and any lawyer could maintain that enemies of a reformed gangster, like ‘Big Shoes,’ had just planted a skull on Speevy’s farm—to shut ‘Big Shoes” mouth about some other old crimper even up some old score. Besides which, such a lawyer would then plead that the case be dismissed on the score of no corpus delicti identifactus—and the judge would have to throw the case out of court.”

			“You’re not such a bad criminal lawyer yourself, Mr. King,” Steenburg commented, admiringly.

			“Man,” I told him, “I ought to be, for I’ve had plenty legal messes in my own game. However,” I went on, “I don’t even think, on what you’ve presented here, that your client could even be pulled out of the State of Illinois—to stand trial in Wisconsin.”

			“No?” said Steenburg moodily. “Though remember, Mr. King,” he added, “that if only he could be—they wouldn’t need to convict him there on the murder at all—for if they once get him there, on any extraditable charge—they can give him life—as a habitual criminal.” He paused. “Well, to make a sad story sadder, even though ‘Blinky’ was never bertillioned—nor fingerprinted—I shall have to tell you, Mr. King, that his skull can be identified fully and conclusively as the skull of—well—we’ll just continue to call him ‘Blinky.’ In short, the corpus delicti identifactus, necessary for a charge of murder—and an extradition warrant—can be established with and by that skull!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XVI

			Corpus Delicti Identifactus

			It was all clear now. All clear, that is, except—

			“But how,” I queried Steenburg, “can that skull—”

			“I’ll tell you,” he interrupted me. “And in straight chronological order now—from Illinois—somewhere south of Chicago!—to Queen Avenue, South, Minneapolis!” He paused. “It was a week ago yesterday—let’s see?—today’s Tuesday, October 22nd, isn’t it?—yes—according to that clock up there, still Tuesday, with some margin to spare!—well then, it was a week ago today—at 10 in the morning—that I got an airmail special from ‘Big Shoes’—the client whose retaining fee saved my Old Man’s life just 9 years ago. He recalled for me, in it, the circumstances of our first meeting—told me that he’d just received disconcerting news—and that, because of the fact that his regular Minneapolis ‘mouthpiece’ of years ago was dead, he was calling on me now, in a hurry. Asked me to wire him only if I couldn’t come—and he enclosed money for fare to fetch me down to—well—where I had to go! See? I left Buffalo at noon—had absolutely nothing doing just then in the courts anyway. Got into Chicago that night at around 10 p.m.—and just too late, in fact, to be able to go on to ‘Big Shoes’’ town. So I laid over, and pulled out early next morning—Wednesday. And arrive at ‘Big Shoes’’ town between then and noon—I’ve told you the town is only about 100 miles from Chicago. All right. And with about 30 railroad lines going out of Chicago, you haven’t much chance, have you, Mr. King, to guess the town? No, I thought not!

			“But anyway, I landed myself at ‘Big Shoes’’ place. Wednes­day before noon. And believe me, he did need me! He was in bed—on the flat of his back—with acute lumbago. He couldn’t have gone north if all the Habitual Criminal Acts in the Universe had been repealed. Well, the tramp—that ex-grafter, you know?—who’d been there at ‘Big Shoes’’ place Sunday and Monday had by now gone on. And it was that same Monday that ‘Big Shoes’ had shot me that airmail special, with the fare money in it, pronto to Buffalo. And so we talked this thing over, pro and con. During which we decided exactly what to do. In fact, I stayed over with him till late next afternoon, Thursday. When I started back to Chicago—on my way not home to Buffalo, but up to Minneapolis here.

			“Our decision,” Steenburg went on, “was that that skull, as a result of about 8 spring plowings, since it’s trivial, has probably wandered a full couple of rods in that field. And couldn’t be surreptitiously dug for today—without maybe raising a big commotion over the countryside. And we decided that, anyway, the first and most important thing was for me to see ‘Blinky’s’ wife—to find out if by any chance, after all, ‘Blinky’ had ever been in any legal trouble in some other city—been finger­printed—and all that. For our first thought, to be candid, was that that body—found in that Wisconsin ditch—might ultimately prove to be the real weak point—against ‘Big Shoes.’ If and when ‘Cokey’ cracked—and revealed ‘Blinky’s’ identity.

			“At any rate,” Steenburg continued, “I got into Minneapolis at 11 a.m. Friday last, by taking a 1 a.m. train out of Chicago Thursday. With all ‘Big Shoes’ had given me on ‘Blinky,’ I had no trouble whatever to locate ‘Blinky’s’ frau. In fact, Mr. King, she’s locatable by anybody—who ever gets ‘Blinky’s’ name—out of ‘Cokey’!

			“I was with Mrs. ‘Blinky,’” Steenburg continued, “from 2 o’clock that afternoon—till 3:30 or so. Not under my own name—God no! I pretended to be investigating his rights to a bequest. From an unknown uncle. Proof of death—and all that. You know? Of course,” Steenburg explained, “she just thought he’d deserted her—had no idea whether he was alive or dead today. But I quizzed her from A to Izzard. And I must say got pretty well his complete life history. And no, he positively never had been in trouble. That was one thing, it seems, he’d always bragged to her about. But, Mr. King, he’d had his mouth—his entire head, in fact—X-rayed in the diagnostic laboratories of a certain well-known medical institute—still in existence today—trying, it seems, to trace down the cause of a frequently recurring facial neuritis. Two sets of films were made—mouth and head—and the head films, moreover, were taken from two different directions, at right angles to each other, for localizing purposes. One complete set was in the safety box of Mrs. ‘Blinky’s’ uncle—at present in Europe. The other complete set was locked in the Files of this medical institute—waiting for later developments in the patient’s obscure ease!”

			“Well what—” I asked curiously, “—what do the films show? What can they show?”

			“Nothing—by themselves,” was Steenburg’s reply. “But with the skull—if such is acquired by the police—everything! For one thing, they will show that such few fillings as were in the teeth of the man ‘Blinky’ lie in identical teeth—in the skull itself. What’s more, they will show which teeth have three roots—and which two. And which teeth have the wrong number of roots with respect to what they should have—for their position. A condition occurring in most everyone’s mouth. They will show the directions—and lengths—of all these prong-like roots. And those that cross instead of diverging. The files will also show the exact shapes of the frontal sinuses—the irregular hollow caverns above the eyebrows, you know?—which are different in every human being. Will show them frontward—and sideward! And, Mr. King, no less a body than the Supreme Court of the United States, in confirming Memphis, Tennessee, court ruling No. 45,161, in the suit against the Metropolitan Life Insurance Company of an amnesiac patient, Carson Hymer; and Niles, Michigan, court ruling 61,267 in the case of a first-born twin baby inheriting—the case is that of D. Agbora, guardian ad litem pro Philip Donson vs. Estate of Edgar Chalice; and Little Rock, Arkansas, ruling 983,212—State of Arkansas vs. George Filkinhole—that of a man claiming the right to be an alibi witness in a murder, has affirmed conclusively the fact that X-ray photographs of sinuses and teeth are sufficient to establish legal identification—with respect to all problems relating to either property—or life.”

			“Then,” I commented, “it looks as though ‘Blinky’ is as good as officially identified, eh? For I take it that this ‘Cokey’ is not only able to give ‘Blinky’s’ real name—but the road, farm and fencepost near where ‘Blinky’s’ sconce presumably now rests?”

			“Right,” nodded Steenburg. “That grove of poplar trees marks the field perfectly. Besides which, my client tells me that it was ‘Cokey’ who determined, that night, on that accurate location for that severed head—in case by any chance the Big Chief later wanted it dug up.”

			I pondered a second.

			“Well then—what did you do—when you unearthed the fact of the existence of this set—rather, these two complete sets—of X-ray films? Or am I asking—too much now?”

			“Not at all,” affirmed Steenburg. “I am a criminal lawyer—in this matter. Obligated to pull my client—out of his jam. But absolutely convinced of my client’s innocence—in the bargain.” He paused. “Well—I went through with the case—tried to, anyway—in such a way as to protect him one hundred per cent. In short, I went next to Speevy’s farm. On Rural Route 3—out of Wiscotown, Wisconsin. Not that afternoon. No. But towards evening. Intending to look things over—yes—but prepared, nevertheless, to do a bit of digging as well that night. If things at all warranted it. Yes, I had a short spade—and a lantern—in a long violin case. And I was more than ever determined to dig for that skull, after a countryman, who was walking along the road with me towards dusk, telling me all the case histories of all those fields and farms, told me that that particular field—yes, the one east of the poplar grove—had been allowed to run to pasture for 8 long years. And had had but one plowing—and that last year.

			“I laid up in the poplar grove till later on that night. In fact, till the whole countryside went to sleep. Which was about 9. The road was under repair—lucky for me—and was cut off, at either end, by detour signs. So I had no passing cars or buggies to bother me. I found my exact spot. You know?—10 feet north of the 3rd fencepost—from the west edge of the field. And I dug. Dug on for two full hours. Dug at least 3 feet down. And around and around. A hole with a radius—at least finally—of a good 6 feet. Look—” Steenburg showed me his hands. Remnants, anyway, of blisters were there. “And I found the skull—not! And I knew then and there that that last plowing had turned it up. And that either the State of Wisconsin had it—or else Speevy.

			“I ditched my stuff—maybe in a river bottom—I’d rather not say where, Mr. King—and I laid up the rest of that night in a cheap hotel on U. S. Highway No. 6 north of there—one of the many places that sells hot dogs and hamburgers. Gave ’em a song and dance about my car petering out on me further down the line—and how I tried to walk to the next town, but that my feet had given out. And so I was able, you see, to be back at Speevy’s place, next morning. Saturday, of course. About 9 a.m. Caught him, in fact, coming out of his barn with a pail of milk in each hand.

			“I told him to come inside his house. And there I talked hard—and tough. I had an ornate private detective badge on my vest—something I once got from a client in Buffalo who’d worked for this agency—now defunct. The agent, I mean—not the client. I told Speevy I had positive sworn evidence that he’d dug up a skull. Right there on his farm. From the one person who knew. Gosh, I scared the living daylights out of him, Mr. King. I was gambling that he’d told at least one person about having dug it up. While he thought, as I now know, that you had double-crossed him! He got so white under the gills when I quoted the Wisconsin law, that I knew he was guilty, and that the State of Wisconsin hadn’t got that skull. And he didn’t even know, as we talked, that I myself had been out there in that far field, the night just gone, digging my fool head off! Well, I told him of course that his only ‘out’ from a $1000 fine and a 5-year sentence under No. 5621 of the Wisconsin Revised Statutes was that I was purely a private investigator, working on an inheritance case—and not a regular policeman working on a criminal case. I told him his one chance to avoid imprisonment would be to come clean with me—100 per cent. In which case I’d cover him up completely. Well he confessed—all he had to confess—dripping with perspiration, too, as he did so. In short, he told me he’d sold the skull to you. For $100. All the why and wherefore of it all And so I told him that the private case I was on would never require revealing his connection with matters—and that if he kept his mouth shut up, for ever more, he need never go to the Wisconsin State penitentiary.

			“I was back in Minneapolis here,” Steenburg continued, “by noontime—that same day. I called up this place. Yes, on this very wire. Chando 0111. To make an appointment to see you. I’d rather not say what my plan of attack was to be with you—for at the time I didn’t know what I was to know later—that the skull wasn’t now worth, to you, powder to blow it to hell with. Maybe I was intending to do a little—well—er—shenaniging! For I was out to get possession of the skull. And destroy it—else send it to ‘Big Shoes.’ And I—but I say, Mr. King, you aren’t sore, are you? Because I was working to get hold of your property? Remember—I’m putting all my cards on the table tonight. And, after all, that wasn’t your property—that skull.”

			I shook my head, more in admiration of Steenburg than any other emotion. “Steenburg,” I said, “if I were a crook instead of a bookmaker, I don’t know but that I’d hire you—if ever I got into a jam. You sure are a worker—whatever else you may be! And you sure have messed up, it seems, in my affairs—with my servants too, apparently and what not else. However, with your dad withholding his testimony in that Senatorial Investigation, and me unsubpoenaed—and I expect to stay that way!—there’ll be no killing of racing in America. So I ain’t mad! Go on with the merry tale.”

			“Good. One look at you tonight, Mr. King, and I knew then and there that you were a man who—well—that my best play would be to lay every card on the table. I could see with half an eye that you were one who could view all sides—of any question. Like old ‘Ultra-Legal’ Penworth—of Chicago, don’t you know?”

			“No,” I said. “And who on earth—is Ultra-Legal Penworth?—of Chicago?”

			“He’s a criminal courts judge down there, Mr. King, whose decisions have been thought, by the lay public, to be pretty screwy in many cases—but which lawyers know are based on pure legal considerations. A bird that, Mr. King, if ever I were in a legal jam in Chicago—and could get my trial before him—I’d grab it. And—but here, I’ve got some facts to give you—a deal to make!—and a plane to board—before 1 o’clock tomorrow morning. Yes.” Steenburg paused. “Well you, of course, Mr. King, when I got around to trying to see you, were out of town. That’s all the girl who answered on this phone could tell me. Or would tell me, then. Yes, Rozalda. And neither was Mrs. King at home. That day, that is. Then and there, I figured, right off the bat, that that girl might be a ten times shorter cut—to that skull—than making a deal with you. And it wasn’t hard—at all!—to make a date with her. ‘Listen, Beautiful,’ I said, ‘I’ve sure heard plenty about you—I’m dying to meet you!’ ‘Go on, mister,’ she said, ‘you don’t even know my name.’ ‘No?’ I said. ‘Well, your name is Rozalda—’ You see, Mr. King, Speevy, when he was here selling you that skull, had heard you call her that. ‘And I know all about you, Beautiful,’ I told her. So finally she consented to meet me. That night; yes. At 8 p.m. Down near the city. At a tavern. In fact, she gave me the name of the place. And I was there that night, too. An hour early—believe me. She’s a pretty-looking skirt—and it wasn’t hard to make love to her, either. She—she—well—she lapped it up. I put a bottle of champagne into her. That is, half the bottle I ordered. So’s I could put across a little proposition to her—about that skull. And did that bottle make her communicative? And how! Though not about you, Mr. King, I will say. She’s damn tight-mouthed—when it comes to you. Dries right up the minute your name is even mentioned. If you ask me, I’ll say she’s got a secret yen for you. And—”

			“No,” I said. “I’ve got both of my servants trained on that—never to discuss me—with anyone. But go on.”

			“Well, her other boy friends, Mr. King, ought to train her likewise! For she sure shoots her mouth off—about all of ’em. Their private affairs, I mean. And that, by the way, is one of my reasons for thinking she’s straight as a string—for I’ve always found it to be the case, Mr. King, that a woman, spifflicated or otherwise, won’t even talk about a boy friend if there’s something between them—that there oughtn’t to be. But anyway, here she was, shooting off her mouth. About this one, and about that one. And so, having got the half of that bottle down her, I decided to make my play. And I told her that what I’d really been trying to call you about at noon that day was that I’d heard you had a skull—a piece of bric-a-brac—and that I’d been trying to get hold of one—to pull an initiation stunt with—on a friend who was desperately scared of such things. Of course she admitted there was a skull here in the house. And I told her if she’d loan it to me—for just one evening—while you were out of town—she’d told me that much about you, you know—and Mrs. King also away—I’d buy her a new lid costing not less than ten bucks. She was communicative enough, however, right then, to tell me that she was sorry—but a boy friend already had the loan of the thing. Right at that very moment. And no—she wouldn’t say who. But it’d knock me off my feet, she said, if I knew the why, what, and wherefore of it. So gosh—nothing to do but call for another quart bottle of Ruinart Brothers joy-water. And dribble it down her. Jesus, it’s hell to toss your own champagne under the table, Mr. King. Just what I hadda do. But by the time that half-quart got down her—boy, howdy I—she was yapping her head off. Oh no, not about you. In fact, I wasn’t interested any more in you. No, she was spilling about this boy friend. Who had the skull. Yes. In fact, she was so hanging on the ropes by that time, Mr. King, that she was—”

			“I know,” I said. “Expansive! Trying to demonstrate that she was participating in something of world importance. By God, I ought to fire her.”

			“Well, you do what you want to, about that, Mr. King. This is all cold-blooded business with me. Enough to say that she bleated forth a yarn that, to tell you the truth, I didn’t believe off-hand.

			“For the reason, Mr. King, that it was all based on—well—what looked to me like a drug dream. But wasn’t. For if you think she yapped last Saturday night, that was just nothing, Mr. King, to what this Dr. Sciecinskiwicz did the previous Sunday night—yes, 9 days ago tonight, if you want actual dates—while they were having a little party, late at night, in his office. Sure—he’s the boy-friend! No, she wouldn’t tell me his name—no!—he was just her ‘Doctor Friend.’ I got that later. By pulling a fast one on her. Anyway, it seems that her ‘Doctor Friend’ that Sunday night had downed a drink of absinthe—and then smoked a marihuana cigarette—one he’d got from some Filipino patient of his. And he—well—he must have just shot the works. And from what I’ve since learned, Mr. King, from a book on drugs—though maybe you know something yourself about the so-called ‘muggles’ cigarettes—if you smoke one, atop any kind of alcohol—let alone absinthe—you’ll just tell your whole family history.

			“Which he—Sciecinskiwicz—did exactly.

			“For he told that girl the whole of what I told you—a while back. About the notorious Two-Gun Eddy being in actuality his kid brother—though under another name: and about his deciding to operate on Two-Gun’s nose—and get him out of pain. So he wouldn’t get nabbed. And catch the electric chair. And how Two-Gun, well-heeled with ‘scratch’, was going to give him $1000. And he also told Rozalda about his having that one skull—yes, the one loaned him by that contractor—the one he’d made an experimental drill hole in, through its back—and about that one cadaver head. And how he wanted to make not less than three practice operations before attempting to work on a living patient. And how he asked her if she’d let him take your skull. The existence of which she’d told him about at some time, it seems. And how he’d fix up the chiseled and cut places inside the nose with some kind of stained acid so’s they couldn’t show as recent work. And how—”

			“In short,” I put in, to avert a whole lot of repetitive facts, “she told you all you told me—a while back?”

			“Correct. Except that she conveyed a further additional few facts, which I haven’t given you thus far: one, that she had sent your skull over to him—wrapped up, of course—next morning—Monday—about 9 in the morning—by some kid she found crossing the prairie here. And that it hadn’t come back yet. And that she didn’t intend to bother ‘Doctor’ for it—hic—till he was done with it. Hic! But I should get in touch with her in a few days—hic—and she’d loan it to me. Hic! And that Mrs. King—hic—would never notice its absence—hic—as she didn’t particularly like the thing—hic—and would only believe that she—Rozalda—had put it away out of sight. After which we sang, I believe, ‘Sweet Adeline’!”

			“I see,” I put in. “But she wouldn’t give you this fellow—this Doctor’s name?”

			“Right! And not even her half of those two quarts of champagne—coupled up with the few highballs we led off with—could pry that out of her. I believed her story, all right, bleary-eyed as she was when she dished all that dirt; but I was certain that her doctor friend had been all coked up on that marihuana weed—and had been plumb goofy that night in his office—and imagining all he’d told her. Of course she, being Polish, I suspected he was Polish—even though she didn’t at all admit so. She didn’t even tell me, you see, that the supposed ‘Two-Gun’ was a Polack—like herself. But I figured if I only knew who her doctor friend was, I could pull a fast one on him—by moseying over there—and telling him that you, Mr. King, had come home unexpectedly—and that Rozalda must have the skull back immediately—if not faster than that—and that I was to fetch it. That skull which, for some reason best known to him, so I intended to tell him, she had shipped over to him—the previous Monday morning. Yes! But how to find who the devil he was? For the number of Polish doctors in Minneapolis must amount to several hundred, at the very least.

			“However,” Steenburg went on, “about this time Rozalda gets well liquidated, and has to go to the ladies’ room to powder her petite nose—or what-have-you. And her purse is lying there on the sticky table. And so I just open it up. And there’s not one—but three cards—all with this Sciecinskiwicz’s address on—4132 Queen Avenue, South. It was plain as day to me: she wouldn’t likely have two doctor boy-friends—and she must have liked him, or she wouldn’t be peddling his name to other Polacks that she met at dances and so forth—in other words, drumming up business for him.

			“When she got back, however, she was about ready to pass out. I could see it. I could see, too, that she didn’t scarcely know all she’d just told me. So I had to stick her in a taxicab, and put a two-buck bill in the driver’s hand, and send her home here. And I—but listen here now, Mr. King—you’re sure you aren’t sore?”

			“No—no—no,” I assured him. “I’m glad to get the real low-down on matters in my own home for a change. Mrs. King has always implicitly believed that Rozal—” But I broke off. “Go on with the story.”

			“Well,” Steenburg said, brightening markedly up, “next morning—Sunday—bright and early, I got hold of that file of Robbinsdale Telegraph. You remember? From the chamber­maid—of the hotel—where I was staying? Yes. And by golly—I did find a story about a Two-Gun Eddy. The story, of course, that I showed you a while back, Mr. King. And right there things were, for me, a little bit confirmed. For at the least, both Two-Gun Eddy and this doc were Polish. Though, to be honest with you, I still believed that Sciecinskiwicz had been plumb goofy. And so I stopped off after breakfast—at the library. Yes—exactly as I told you a while back. And found out what I also told you—about the exact kind of operation that would have to be done on ‘Two-Gun.’ And—also!—in a book on narcotics, exactly what marihuana—atop alcohol—will do to the human tongue! And when I left there, Mr. King, I believed absolutely that Sciecinskiwicz had been giving Rozalda the real low-down on real things—and not a lot of hooey.

			“And so naturally,” Steenburg continued, “I made tracks for Sciecinskiwicz’s place on Queen Avenue, South. For both his card—and the entry in the Minneapolis telephone book showed that his office and residence were in the same place. Evidently, in fact, a left first apartment in an apartment building, for just preceding the street number in the phone entry was the prefix 1-B. So—Sunday or no Sunday!—I figured I would catch my man. Well, it was only a little after 10 a.m. When I reached there. And, tacked on the door of apartment 1-B, was a typewritten card reading: ‘Gone out of town. Back by next Wednesday.’ And nary wife, maid or servant answered my repeated knocks at the door.

			“I dropped swiftly down to my knees and peered under the door. The skull was somewhere, I knew, inside that place. I could make out the legs of, obviously, a desk in some room—the bottom of, plainly, a metal filing cabinet. And—what proved to be later of prime importance—apparently no claw feet or wheels of any iron safe.

			“Which was all I could get, for I had to jump up as I heard feet outside in the vestibule. The owner of the feet came on it—and proved to be only a kid. With whom I proceeded to talk. Darned kid, Mr. King, couldn’t have been over 2 years old. But was as bright as a 3-year-old—no, by gosh, as bright as a 4-year-old child.

			“‘Doctor mans live there,’ he informed me, gravely.

			“‘Oh yes, sonny,’ I nodded. ‘And you live here too—in this building?’

			“‘Oh no,’ he said. ‘I des live in nay’hood—’ And he waved a tiny hand in a great expansive are. ‘I des come in—to try fin’ penny in halls. People they pull out keys—sometimes drop pennies.’

			“‘But you know the doctor mans here, eh, sonny!’ I asked him.

			“‘Yes,’ he said. ‘He nice to me. Show me dead man’s heads—and tell me I got des same in my head.’ And he put his fist to his tiny head.

			“‘Dead man’s heads, sonny?’ I asked him. ‘How many dead man’s heads did Doctor man show you, sonny?’

			“‘He show me two,’ he said promptly.

			“‘Two, eh’ And what color were they, sonny? I’m going to give you a penny in a minute. What color—were those heads?’

			“‘Sort’ white like,’ he told me childlike. ‘Des like—bone what my dog chews.’ And he paused, thinking. And added: ‘An’ both got stickum plaster und’ chin so—so mouths don’ fall off.’”

			“Then,” I put in, to and for Steenburg, “you knew that my skull—and that contractor fellow’s skull—were both there? By the fact that the child described them as ‘bony’—and described adhesive tape holding lower jaws to sconces?”

			“Right, Mr. King. Right.” Steenburg paused, then continued. “Well I tried to get more from the kid. But got nothing more. Except that ‘Black mans come sometimes—scrub floor for Doctor mans.’

			“But he had no idea what the ‘Black mans’ name was—or where he could be found. In fact, it seemed that the ‘Black mans’ apparently didn’t live around there at all.

			“So I paid off the child—with a cautious single penny so that he wouldn’t be likely to remember the conversation at some later time—and with the ‘Black mans’ as a clue, I went down and out on Queen Avenue. And up—or maybe it was down!—the street a short ways—to the first drugstore. Figuring that always, around in front of a drugstore, is hanging one or more persons with voluminous information about that neighborhood. But I found one fellow only, lounging outside, a typical ‘drugstore cowboy’—as I’m sure, Mr. King, you’ve heard such called—these chaps, you know, who loaf outside of drugstores with their hands in their pockets, eyeing the trade—at least the feminine trade going in and out!—and wishing they had the price of another double chocolate malted milk! Well, this chap knew of Sciecinskiwicz—but didn’t know of any Negro, and didn’t even know, in fact, that Sciecinskiwicz was out of town. Had even seen Dr. Sciecin­skiwicz, near that very corner, at 10 p.m. the night just gone. Which fact, Mr. King, subsequently helped me to reconstruct various certain events that must have happened. But an older man who had been inside the store buying a cigar, and just coming out, biting off the end of it, heard part of our conversation—and inserting himself in it, as it were, told me that he lived just a short ways from Sciecinskiwicz, and knew of a limping Negro who came every Tuesday, around 4 p.m., to clean the doctor’s office and flat. More than once, in fact, he’d seen the Negro washing the doctor’s windows. And the Negro came, moreover, from—he knew definitely—St. Paul, because he’d asked the black man one day if he could work an hour a day for him, and the Negro had said he couldn’t do that little work daily, because he’d have to come too far—all the way from St. Paul. And as the fellow pondered, Mr. King, over this Negro, he remembered how the Negro came just the same—even when the Doctor was away at Medical conventions, and on vacations, and what not. Had a key or something to the doctor’s flat and office.

			“Well, Mr. King, I had all I wanted! I’m not a burglar, you know. And I wasn’t going to try to enter that place—and rifle the drawers of Sciecinskiwicz’s desk—and his filing cabinet—and all that. No! But I didn’t need even to think of such a thing as that. For everything stood apparently hunky-dory for me. The skull was out of Rozalda’s hands—and the Doctor gone—for a half week yet to come. Nothing—no one—to deal with but that nigger. I could flash my detective badge on him, I realized—and get away with the skull. And so—nothing to be done but abandon the chase for the moment—and wait for Tuesday—today—4 p.m.

			“So I boarded a train—at noon that day—and went up to a town near Duluth. To take care of something that had to be done on that Soo Ching case. The clipping concerning which you just read. I had to dig up some proofs—see?—of death on the parts of certain other relatives of Soo Chong, Soo Ching’s father. And on the way I doped out completely what took place in Sciecinskiwicz’s life, between the arrival of your skull in his hands that Monday morning at 9 a.m.—and the present moment.

			“I believe, Mr. King, he operated on either your—or the other skull—that Monday night. I figure then that he let 24 full hours go by—to get the stiffness out of his fingers—and operated on the other skull—by the next night, Tuesday. I figure then that he let another 24 hours pass—and that he then operated on the cadaver head by Wednesday night. Getting close now to the real live head, see? And I believe that he operated on ‘Two-Gun’ Eddy sometime Thursday morning. Early. Or maybe in regular office hours. I don’t know.

			“I believe,” Steenburg continued, “that he then held over 3 full days. The medical book I read says that such an operative case will have to be watched approximately that length of time to make sure that no traumatic infection, as it’s termed, starts up. I believe that Two-Gun was coming along O.K. Friday morning—24 hours after the job was done. And was O.K. Saturday morning, 48 hours after the job. And O.K. Sunday morning, 72 hours after the job. After which, if it so happened that the operation was done on Queen Avenue, South—Eddy was whisked back to his hideout, wherever that may be. Before the police started raiding Polish doctors’ offices—on general principles! Or, if done in Eddy’s own hideout—he was then declared okay Sunday—with nothing to do but syringe out his nose with salt and water. After which the doctor—Sciecinskiwicz—blew town; blew it, in fact—as I subsequently learned—around midnight Sunday. Probably wanting, so I thought then, to spend some of that thousand smackers.”

			“Or,” I put in, “in view of the appearance of that story about a raid on another Doctor’s office—dated October 18th—that was Saturday—maybe Sciecinskiwicz got a bit scared—and blew?”

			“You’ve got a good memory, Mr. King, to recall the date of that story.”

			“I could practically repeat that story to you, word for word,” I told him. “For I’ve made it a point since childhood to memor—but that’s neither here nor there. You were now, as I recall it, on your way to Duluth. Figuring, I suppose, that ‘Cokey’—there in New York—wouldn’t be likely to break—right in the interim?”

			“That’s right,” Steenburg added. “Neither I nor ‘Big Shoes’ looked for an immediate crack-up of ‘Cokey.’ But the same might easily come any minute. For judging from what the New York tramp told ‘Big Shoes’, ‘Cokey’s’ pick-up by the police there was inevitable and certain, in view of the way ‘Cokey’ had thrown off all guardedness in his piddling narcotic dealing. So as I say, ‘Cokey’s’ pick up—and then his crack-up—could come any minute, However, I was whipsawed and hamstrung—down here in Minneapolis.

			“Well, I got to Duluth late that afternoon. God!—such a crawl by steam—my rickety train carrying two freight cars between two old passenger coaches! So tired—I had to go to bed. And next day started on my Soo Chong stuff. And which kept me busy all day. And I never got out till late in the afternoon. Getting back late last night here to Minneapolis—just in time to sleep, in fact, and get up today—and get ready to catch that nigger—who had the precious key to Sciecinskiwicz’s office.

			“I went out there right after breakfast, and hung around in the neighborhood all day. So as not to possibly miss him. For—”

			“Did the Negro show up?” I asked, riveting Steenburg’s story down to essentials.

			“Yes. But only at 4 p.m. On the dot. Like clockwork. And one look at him—and I knew he probably paid Doc Sciecinskiwicz more money than Doc paid him. Cokehead, Mr. King. His eyes showed it.

			“So I determined to pull a fast one first—and then, if necessary, to flash the badge. And I cornered him inside the hallway.

			“‘I’m Doctor’s friend,’ I told him. ‘He wants to loan me a certain one of those two skulls he’s got. And told me this morning, on the long-distance wire, to see you.’

			“If he’d asked me, Mr. King, where Sciecinskiwicz had been talking from—I’d have had to say that Sciecinskiwicz had called me—and didn’t say! But he was a very simple-minded nigger. And apparently questioned nothing. ‘Das’ too bad, boss,’ he told me. ‘But I done hab alreddy deliber’ bof uf dem skolls back to dem peoples whut’s to git ’em.’

			“‘Delivered—’em back?’ I queried.

			“‘Yessah,’ he affirmed. ‘Doctah he come to mah house—obah in Sain’ Paul—late Sunday night. Wid a trabbelin’ bag in he han’—on his way to leavin’ Minn’ap’li. Ah ain’ no phone—so he hab to come in pusson. An’ he gib me de key to de cab’net in he desk—see, heah it is—’ And he held up a key, Mr. King, ‘—an’ he say he gwine see some gal in de Midwes’ whut crazy ’bout him. He hab a big roll ob money. Man, oh man, whut a roll dat wuz! An’ he gib me fi’ dollah ob it, too. An’ he say Ah should go obah to his office, nex’ day, wid’out fail, an’ wrap up dem two skolls whut’s in de desk cab’net, an’ deliber ’em to two diff’ent folks’ houses heah in Minn’ap’lis. An’ dat de ol’ daid pickled med’cal collige haid whut wuz in wid ’em Ah wuz to bring to mah house in Sain’ Paul, an’ buhy it. All of whut Ah is done, sah.’

			“‘Then,’ I said flabbergasted, ‘you delivered the skulls—yesterday?’

			“‘Yassuh,’ he affirmed. ‘Didn’ hab nuffin to do yes’day—so Ah des git it all obah wiv. But mebbe, sah, you lak to go to de peoples whut has de skolls, heh?’ He was fumbling in his pocket now, and bringing out a piece of paper. ‘Doctah, sah, he say bof dem skolls done got a hole in de back of dey haid—lak a auger hole. An’ so dat I is to go on’y by de Injia ink letters he hab done lettah on de backs.’ He was looking at his paper. ‘An’ de one whut say on it “M.K.” I is to deliber at a house ’way out on de prairies—sixty-fo’ fo’hty Yukon Street—own’ by a man named Mort’mer King—and I will hab to ask ’roun’ dah, w’ere it’s call’ “Hobury Heights,” how to git to dat house. And I is to gib it on’y to a suhvant gal what say she name is Rosy. An’ dat lessen she is dah, I ain’ to gib it in, but is to come back again. An’ de odder skoll, whut is got lettahed on its back “J.R.” I is to deliber to de house ob a man by name ob—’ And there I shut him off, Mr. King, for I was not interested in the contractor himself.

			“So I got away from the Negro. Sore as the devil at myself. Such a simple-minded creature. I could have wangled that skull out of him with no trouble at all.

			“And I went down the street a few blocks—to another drugstore in the region—and I called Rozalda up. That is, I couldn’t get her first—the line here was busy—and so I dialed Sun 0000, and asked immediately for Transcription Soo, and—”

			“Whoa—Steenburg!” I ejaculated. “Transcription—Soo? You’re talking Greek to me. Sun 0000—and Transcription Soo—what—”

			“Well,” he admitted, apologetic in tone, “I guess you wouldn’t know about that, at that, if you’re only just back in Minneapolis from the sanitar—but you didn’t see this morning’s Sun?”

			“No,” I said truthfully, “I did not.”

			“Well,” Steenburg explained, “The ‘Sun 0000’ and ‘transcription business’ is a brand-new experiment, it seems, in the newspaper game—in reality, of course, a continuous advertisement for the paper that utilizes it!—and being watched tonight with huge interest, as I understand it, by the other papers all over the U.S.A.—and probably to be taken up, by one paper in each city. Since the scheme is, it seems, patented! Anyway—as per the announcement in the Sun this morning—the Sun will, beginning today, make phonograph records of all the latest developments in all important news-stories. If, that is, there are any later developments! Each of these records—they estimate that around 20, on the average, will be in continuous employment—will be kept on the reproducing machines until supplanted with a later record. Anyway, to get any last-minute development in a news-story, Mr. King, one dials that new special number—Sun 0000!—asks the replying operator for ‘Tran­scription this’—or ‘Transcription that’—naming the chief feature of the story one is interested in—and one’s line is immediately connected with the soundbox of that particular transcription; and, in case the phonographic record isn’t revolving for an already-delivered phone connection, it automatically starts to revolve—but goes back to starting position immediately in case one hangs up. And—well—that’s quite all there is to the whole thing. The announcement this morning had stated that the plan was to commence today at 4:30 only—and since it was 4:31 when I was in the drugstore trying to get Rozalda—and this line here apparently busy—I just dialed the magic Sun number and asked for Transcription Soo. Just in case—don’t you know?—that the Buffalo Trust and Savings knocked my Chinese client off—or some strange thing?”

			“Yes. Of course. Though they’ll ‘knock your client off,’ I rather think, by bringing him into old age before he gets a settlement! But be that as it may,” I asked interestedly, “you got—what?—when you asked for Transcription Soo?”

			“I got a report—obviously from off a revolving disc—and incidentally a special disc!—calling forth, over and over: ‘You are now listening to a news transcription record in the Minneapolis Sun. With regards to the story about which you have just inquired, there is nothing recorded in this department. If your story is not of wide general interest or special local importance, you had better look further into the columns of the Sun. You are now listening to a news transcrip—’ And thus,” Steenburg finished, “over and over and over—till I hung up.”

			I nodded. “Well, now that I’ve learned some new developments in my own home town,” I commented, “carry on—or rather finish your story. Which you were just about to do, I think. You called Rozalda? About the skull she’d promised to loan you? And got her, I take it?”

			“Yes. And boy, oh boy, but was she cool? She must have had an idea I’d pumped her last Saturday—or else she had a guilty conscience due to knowledge on her part that she’d probably talked too much. And when I asked her ‘hows-about’ it—the skull—yes—she gave me the ritz. Said she was sorry—yes—it’d come back to her, all right—yesterday morning—but that you’d just returned to town at noon today, and that you’d locked it in your safe. And had said it was going to stay in there—from now on!”

			“Rozalda lied,” I told Steenburg. “Because I didn’t come back to town so early as noon today. Nor did she even know I was coming back—to town. Nor had I actually locked it in my safe. Nor did she see me wrap it for airmail shipment. Nor mail it. No—she suspected some skullduggery, Steenburg—on your part—against her doctor friend—and thought she’d just abort any further attempts on your part to get the skull. Maybe it was nothing more than that she didn’t want to lose her job.”

			He nodded slowly. “Well, I guess you’ve got the right answer to that. For she was plainly agitated, all right. But since I at least believed that lie she told me—that you had come back to Minneapolis—and that you had locked the skull in your safe—I just decided to camp right on the job—up to the very last minute, if needs be, that I could leave Minneapolis, which would be by the 1 a.m. plane to Buffalo, for you’ll remember my big case opens tomorrow morning in court in Buffalo?—yes—and to see you personally, Mr. King, and give you the low-down on what’s been done with your skull to destroy its lucky properties as a fetish—and to put it to you, as man to man, to turn it back to me. Or, rather, to ‘Big Shoes.’ But for a healthy consideration—as I look at it.”

			He had finished.

			“All this,” he reaffirmed, “it was my intention to do—and now have done, thank heavens, and all before Mrs. King’s arrival home here at 3 a.m.!”

			“Laurel’s arrival—here—tonight?” I echoed in surprise. “But what on earth makes you think that she will return before—

			“Oh!” he said, half apologetically, “I just presumed, when I spoke thus, that you knew all about it—perhaps from some wire she might have sent in advance. But I refer, Mr. King, just to the little society item I read tonight, in the early edition of tomorrow’s Morning Sun, out at 8 p.m. tonight, while waiting in that drugstore across the prairies there. And which item said—” But Steenburg was already sheepishly fishing the said item out of a vest pocket, and handing it to me.

			I read it. It ran:

			Mrs. Mortimer King of this city has terminated her customary annual “3-day novena” at the Convent of St. Ethelreda, Milwaukee, a bit earlier this year than her friends expected—or even she herself anticipated, and will—as of October 23rd and thereafter—be back in her home in Hobury Heights. Mrs. King was seen by the Society Editress of the Milwaukee Chronicle, in the Milwaukee Union Station, boarding the Chicago and North Lakes Special, which stops daily at Milwaukee at 6 o’clock p.m., and replied, in explanation of her hejira, that she had terminated her novena suddenly this year at the petition of the Mother Superior of St. Ethelreda who deemed her not strong enough, at least this year, to continue the somewhat ascetic ordeal. Ascetic as it may have been, Mrs. King looked—as she ensconced herself in her compartment on the Chicago and North Lakes Special—very blooming, and mentally happy.

			“And of course,” Steenburg was saying, again apologetically, “I knew, from having studied the timetables between Chicago and Minneapolis as I have, that since that Chicago and North Lakes Special gets into Minneapolis at the unearthly hour at 2:15 in the morning, to switch its Pacific-bound sleeping cars onto the Seattle Transcontinental Limited—and knew also that this place out here is about 30 minutes, at the most, from downtown by taxi, then—”

			“—then a taxi would bring Mrs. King straight out here? Or just before 3?”

			“Yes,” nodded Steenburg. “Just before 3—yes! Indeed,” he commented, rather gaily, “everything seems to be taking place tonight—around 3. The Cobb execution in London—Mrs. King’s return to Minneapolis. Indeed,” he added, “I rather fancy that while I’m flying homeward tonight, you and Mrs. King will both be downstairs in your parlor, tuned in with your radio, and listening to the last chapter in the Jemimah Cobb caser?”

			“Yes,” I said, unsmilingly, “we will be—at least can be, yes!—both downstairs—tuned in with our radio—and listening to the last chapter in the Jemimah Cobb case. But I believe you’re waiting for me to pass—on your mission here—yes?—no?”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XVII

			“It’s Your Move, Mr. King.”

			“I am indeed waiting on you,” was all Steenburg said.

			“Well now,” I told him frankly, “this skull of which you speak—carrying within itself the results of a complete practice surgical operation, as it undoubtedly does—isn’t worth a nickel any more to me. But that doesn’t mean that I’m simply going to toss it into your client’s lap. Either for nothing—or for something, so far as that goes. You know, Steenburg,” I went on, “we bookies are looked upon by the smug and churchgoing public as sort of belonging to the criminal class. Yes—a fact. Yet nobody ever stops to think that the criminal class is our sworn enemy. Good Christ, man, the times we’ve been mulcted by wire-tapping gangs—laying bets in our handbooks on information that should have come in on our wires, but which was momentarily sidetracked—and then later firing in the information themselves. More than once our bookies have been kidnaped—and more than once, let me tell you, taken for a ride—oh yes—and the times we’ve been swindled out of thousands by fellows who drug horses—why hell, Steenburg, I once knew a whole racing stable to be drugged—all but a certain 100-to-1 shot nag, who waltzed in and took us—each and every one of us—for nearly all we had.”

			“But my client, ‘Big Shoes’—” Steenburg began.

			“—didn’t work in that angle of the racket, eh? Well possibly not. But he was a crook. He worked and hobnobbed with crooks. He was one of the fingers on the arm of—of a social body that has always worked against us, the bookies. A little world that has taken us for plenty of rides—both financial—and in black limousines, with drawn curtains, too. Oh yes! He’s on another side of the fence from me, Steenburg. So what on earth was the sum you expect to pay me tonight—for that skull?”

			“Expect—to pay you?” he replied, repeating my words, even to the present tense I had given them. “But—but you said you’d shipped it down to Evanston, Illinois, tonight—on the airmail?”

			“True,” I admitted blandly. “I did. And still I ask the question. What was the maximum you were ready to pay me tonight—if I’d had the skull here?”

			“We-ell,” he said slowly, “I wasn’t in a position, myself, to pay you anything. Or even to advance it—for my client ‘Big Shoes.’ For—be assured, Mr. King!—I’ve got my financial troubles—and plenty. But ‘Big Shoes’ himself can raise—well, he has raised—at the close of banking hours today—some $500. On a mortgage on his place. He’d pay that sum. Plus, I know, transpor­tation to and from Chicago. For any trusted messenger you might care to send. And—and it’s impossible, I know, for him to pay any more.”

			“Can’t be much of a farm,” I commented, “if that’s the most he can raise?”

			“Yeah? But have you stopped to think—it has had to be raised—through a country bank?”

			“I did forget that—for the moment,” I nodded. “And will agree that a small-town banker is so tight that he’d rattle inside the cast-off shell of a cockroach. The only thing he’d more prefer to foreclose on than his own father is—his own mother!”

			“Whooie! Mr. King!” said Steenburg admiringly. “You sure don’t love small-town bankers. You must have had a sad experience with one—at one time?”

			“And how!” I replied sourly. “One—after he dropped a thousand dollars in one of my books, playing 50-to-1 shots, and trying to get rich, sued me for the return of his thousand. And made so much trouble that, believe it or not, I actually found it advisable to give his money back to him. Yes, I know country bankers!” And I got back to the original subject. “And so that—that measly $500—is all ‘Big Shoes’ can pay—for his life?”

			“Absolutely all he has been able to raise, or will be able. I give you my word on that.”

			“And how soon,” I asked sardonically, “will he be back in the criminal game again—once he feels safe as to this murder charge?”

			“Never, Mr. King. The child—”

			“Who may—or may not—exist,” I pointed out. “After all, Steenburg, you’re a lawyer—and since you have a right to keep ‘Big Shoes’’ identity secret, you are safely able to give him all the children you want to.”

			He shook his head. “No, there is a girl child, Mr. King. Though I can’t prove it to you. And he won’t go back to the rackets. Even if I can’t prove that.”

			“But whether or no,” I queried, “you’re convinced he wasn’t in on that Wisconsin gang killing?”

			“Absolutely, Mr. King. The man wept like a baby when he told me about it.”

			I wasn’t so altogether convinced of the actual existence of those tears. For Steenburg was, as I had told him, a lawyer who knew how to present facts effectively.

			“At any rate,” I commented dryly, “if he’s made this $500 loan in a small town—he’s got about 22 times that much equity still left in his place. In which event—the girl kid—hypothetical or otherwise!—isn’t due to get robbed. Is that correct?”

			Steenburg nodded emphatically. “Absolutely, Mr. King. You—you wouldn’t be robbing anybody—if you’d play in with him. He can pay off that mortgage in due course. And he wants to pay—that sum—to whoever has that skull—and will turn it back to him. As I told you, I went to the Despatch office tonight. At 6 o’clock. After I talked with Rozalda. And I read—got a copy, too, as now you know, of that article. Yes, the one about this place—out here on the prairies. And about yourself. And from what I could see, you were a square-shooter—yet a hard business man. And so I rang ‘Big Shoes’ by long-distance—in one of the slot-boxes in downtown Minneapolis. And found he’d now got the money—absolutely all that could be gotten. And I ascertained the general details of exactly how he preferred to ‘make the meet’—as the term is known, Mr. King, in crookdom—provided you would either take the skull down there, or send it down there. For he has recovered enough from that lumbago now that he can come up to Chicago—which is virtually the northern end of Illinois. And ‘make the meet’ himself. And when I speak of his preferences as to the conditions of the ‘meet,’ be assured that they are such as to constrain and effect him only—and not you nor your messenger. He’s awful jumpy, Mr. King—afraid even to be cooped up inside a hotel room with any strange messenger. And wants to clean up the whole affair on a street corner. Which would, I take it, be equally as satisfactory to the other man in the affair. But anyway, after I got done talking with ‘Big Shoes,’ I went to my hotel, and typed out, on a hotel machine, the still further details for that ‘meet’—as roughly outlined by ‘Big Shoes’: mainly, concerning how the mutual ‘identification’ shall be carried out, and the exchange of goods and money be effected. Which instructions I sealed up in an envelope. And have here—” And Steenburg tapped his breast pocket significantly. “And then I came straight out here—and settled down—at around 8 o’clock—in that drugstore over there on the edge of the prairie—to wait for your return.”

			I came back at him promptly.

			“It’s a damned small sum, Steenburg, for saving a man’s neck from the rope. Or however they kill ’em off now in Wisconsin! And I’m thinking now of the huge sums that ‘Big Shoes’—and people like him—have taken me—and my bookies for—in the past. Boy—they worked in thousands—not in lousy hundreds.”

			“Listen, Mr. King,” he pleaded, “forget what they did to you, will you? ‘Big Shoes’ never was in a racket against your game. But you naturally feel a little sore. At his tribe. And about this five hundred, now. He’s frantic, Mr. King. I hate to say this. But unless that skull comes back, I’m here to tell you that that five hundred will be telegraphed tomorrow to New York—he knows plenty guys in the racket there—and ‘Cokey’—”

			“‘Cokey’—what?” I said sharply.

			“Will be bumped off,” announced Steenburg. “To avert the inevitable. I tell you, Mr. King, ‘Big Shoes’ doesn’t intend to come back to the chair—or life imprisonment—in Wisconsin. No one would.”

			“No,” I granted. “I wouldn’t myself.”

			“And ‘Cokey’ is part of a gang there—that’s at the throats of another gang. If ‘Cokey’ gets bumped off—by a private guy in the racket—his gang will retaliate—against the other gang. See? And there’ll be a gang war. As sure as hell. And plenty dead—each side.”

			“That doesn’t mean anything with me,” I said promptly. “Crooks are better off—as dead crooks. No, there’s only two considerations here, Steenburg. ‘Big Shoes,’ crook—vs. the little girl. If she exists! ‘Big Shoes’’ tribe has taken me plenty—in the past. The little girl—if she exists—well, I don’t want to bust any possible inheritance of hers—20 years from today. Though $500 plastered against it today hasn’t much chance to affect it—20 years from today. Hardly. For the inevitable rise in farm values will wipe that out. No,” I added, “if I were quite certain ‘Big Shoes’ was really out of the crime game for good I might—yes, I might—be inclined to give him a break.”

			“You do that, Mr. King,” Steenburg begged, “and if ever you get into a jam of any sort, I’ll do any kind of legal work for you. Free gratis! I’ll—however, come to think of it, because of Father’s walking out on that senatorial investigation, helping you—or knowing you—is one thing I shan’t ever be able to do. But I’ll do anything for you that wouldn’t involve Father. For—”

			“Sure—sure—” I put in. “I understand. And you say ‘Big Shoes’, in your estimation, will never return to the crime game?”

			“No. No, I tell you. No. He’s got a wife—and a kid—and, but of course you have no way of knowing that. God, I wish I had some way to convince you.”

			I was thoughtful for a few seconds. Then I spoke. “I don’t know, Steenburg,” I said, “but that you have got a way that will tell me exactly all of ‘Big Shoes’’ future course in life.”

			“I have?” he ejaculated in surprise. “Why—what is it?”

			“Well, you said you were taking a short-story manuscript of his with you to Buffalo—to sort of clean up a bit—and try and market?”

			“Yes, that’s right. It hasn’t got his name on it, but—”

			“That doesn’t matter. For you described the existence of the script before this point we’re now discussing even threatened to come up. Steenburg, I rather fancy that that manuscript would—but now you say ‘Big Shoes’ definitely has five hundred cash available—the same being, incidentally, only a fraction of what he and his kind have cost me?”

			“Yes. It’s all ready and available, as I told you. He has it positively in hand. Plus transportation expenses for your messenger to boot! No more details—nor red tape—involved in his getting it—unless, perchance, it be the banker himself having to put the mortgage on record tomorrow—or something like that. As for ‘Big Shoes,’ the cash is absolutely in his possession.”

			“And ‘Big Shoes’ will come up to Chicago for this ‘meet,’ you say—if I send a man down there? A man, that is, who would first pick up the skull in Evanston—and then ‘make the meet’—as you’ve put it?”

			“Yes. ‘Big Shoes’ could come anywhere that was in Illinois only. Chicago was, he thought, the, most convenient for anyone coming down from Minneapolis. He could get up to Chicago tomorrow morning in a few hours. I—I could send him a long-distance message by slot-phone tonight—or early tomorrow, at downtown Buffalo—to ‘make the meet’ according to the fuller specifications I’ve already worked out—or according to any revised specifications you might lay out.”

			“Yours are just as good as any I could work out,” I said. “Since your client has the jumps—God forbid that I give him triple-neurasthenia besides! The only really important detail is that money passes—for skull. Yes. But what are the rough underlying details for the ‘meet’—if I may ask?”

			“Well, Mr. King, ‘Big Shoes’’—remember, he’s fearfully skittish—suggestion was that the messenger would stroll slowly and casually—between noontime and o’clock tomorrow—and like—like an out-of-town traveler—around the entire block containing the old post office there in Chicago—yes, the one facing Quincy Street. And would have, under his arm, a crimson shoebox—a few holes punched in it on each side—and the box containing the skull. He—yes, the messenger—would stick, in his strolling, solely to the side of the four bounding streets which run right alongside the post office building—but would draw up, occasionally, for 5 minutes or so, at each of the four corners bounding the place, as though deciding to take the next streetcar, perhaps, and be off—and while waiting for the hypothetical car, or whatnot, he’d be casually—”

			“Listen,” I put in, “you’ve written it all out?—to the last detail?”

			“All of it—yes—to the last detail. Which merely involves just the mutual identification when ‘Big Shoes,’ seeing the strolling or waiting messenger—or messenger’s crimson box—comes up. There isn’t much to it.”

			“And it’s simple enough—that a dumb messenger couldn’t possibly fall down on any detail?”

			“Absolutely,” said Steenburg. “Unless he was a moron!”

			“And where oh where, might I ask, would one find a crimson shoebox—between tomorrow morning and the noon hour?”

			“Where? Why, by smearing any old shoebox over with a bottle of Cartford’s Crimson Fountain Pen Ink.”

			“To be sure! And the crimson box would mark the messenger as being the one with the right package?”

			“Exactly. For there’d be lots of people with packages in the Chicago Loop in the general lunch hour. Both strolling around, and waiting for streetcars going this way—or that way. Anyway, Mr. King, the messenger would stroll casually around the block—and stand, occasionally, on the four corners—anytime or during the hour noon to 1 o’clock. The holes punched in the box would merely indicate, to outsiders, that he had bought a pet lizard, or horned toad, or something. And while standing—on any of the four corners—he might be waiting for a car—or for his wife—or any fool thing. And during the arrival of my client on the spot where he was, the messenger would be casually—”

			“It’s all in the typed instructions, you say?”

			“Yes.”

			“Well then, jumping over details which as yet we haven’t agreed will ever be fulfilled—no, we haven’t, Steenburg!—after the exchange of general civilities would take place, identifying each individual to the other, as it were, and which civilities would end, I take it, by the two moving up the street a ways to where there were no people, and ‘Big Shoes’ peeping inside the box at a theoretical ‘animile’ contained therein—” Steenburg was nodding emphatically “—and rolling the skull about with his finger perhaps—but how would he know that that skull was ‘Blinky’s’?”

			“I explained to him,” said Steenburg, “about how the right nose aperture does not now contain the shingle-like appendage hanging down—and about the two inked letters on the back—and last but not least, Mr. King, he happens to know that a certain one of ‘Blinky’s’ teeth is missing, for he helped a dentist once who drew it. Plus—where another filling is.”

			“I see. Well then, after checking on these simple points, he’d hand my messenger five hundred dollars? Rather—five hundred and sixteen dollars—figuring double railway fare over 500 miles?”

			“Right. And will take the box—and leave. And all done up the street a ways, of course, from any corner where the contact might actually first take place. Right, Mr. King! You’ve got the beginning—and the end. And—but have you somebody you could trust to pick up the skull tomorrow in Evanston—and go to that ‘meet’?”

			“Well,” I said, half facetiously, striving to get a few seconds, before answering, to think further on the matter, “I know a bright nervy girl in East Minneapolis who—well, I don’t believe she’d ever be willing to tote a crimson box around—no!—but she does own a lavender gripsack, a thing of leather, but stained so brilliantly that it screams aloud, and—”

			“Well—that would do just as effectively, I’m sure,” granted Steenburg. “And are you willing then to have her—or anybody else, for that matter, whom you can trust—pick up the skull tomorrow in Evanston—and go to that ‘meet’?”

			“Not—so—fast,” I replied. And pondered. “Steenburg,” I said at length, “I’ll tell you what I’ll do. ‘If ‘Big Shoes’ shows me, by the script in your pocket, that he’s written a fiction story that has any decent degree of value other than sheer rot—I’ll know conclusively that he’ll be digging himself out a writing career—at least of sorts—and will never go back to crime again. A fact. I know writers, Steenburg, and would-be writers. I’ve a cousin who is one, of sorts. And my wife has a nephew who is one. Give a writer the bare taste of success—by magazine acceptance—and after that he’s utterly ruined for all such jobs as being a bank president, a millionaire’s traveling companion, or what-have-you! For he wants to do nothing else after that—but write more—and get more acceptances. Till, of course, Old Man Death accepts him—in the magazine called ‘The Grave.’ So—let me see your ‘Big Shoes’ script. I’m no editor. Or literary man. But I read the weekly story in the Turf Review—and the Track Digest, too. So I can at least read—like the man in the street. And if the story smells bad to me—which means then that ‘Big Shoes’ will doubtlessly get it back from all regular editors—from where he sends it—and thus ultimately drift back to the crime game for want of more absorbing interests—then I think I’ll tell you right here and now that he can wiggle out of this jam the best he can—himself. Whether it’s a matter of shooting a bird now in New York—or going to the chair in Wisconsin. But—if his yarn shows any promise—talent—or ability—I’ll have a man go on to Chicago tonight, and ‘make that meet’ tomorrow. And put ‘Big Shoes’ perpetually at ease.”

			“Is—is that a bargain, Mr. King?” Steenburg inquired, almost exultantly.

			“I said so,” I retorted, a bit angrily. “Nobody has ever accused me of being a welcher.”

			He was already withdrawing the script, though a bit nervously, from his breast pocket. And handing it to me.

			“I’ll sit back and rest while you read,” he said. “It’s very short.”

			I took the script and unfolded it. And why not? For after all, the vital hour of dawn in London—at which hour, and not before, it would be possible to start the wheels that might turn that execution—if, that is, they were startable!—yet lay sometime off, estimating from the hands of the clock across the room—and the fact that this was late October in London as well as in Minneapolis!—and that there was exactly 6 hours difference in time between the two places. And in the meantime, therefore, it was possible only, at best, to mark time. And so—

			And leaning back in the swivel chair, I commenced the script. Not scenting in the least, as I did so, the exact manner in which my own Destiny was wound up with that thin sheaf of typewritten pages! And curious only, as I began the script, about two things: One, what that one crook locked in the closet was now thinking of—and, two, just what kind of a short story would be written by an ex-hijacker!

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XVIII

			A Short Story by an Ex-Crook!

			THE SEARCH

			—A Short Story—

			The Eel was a dip. Otherwise known as a pickpocket. And a pickpocket of no mean ability. He always played solo—functioning as wire, stahl and block—all in one. He worked the shorts—the “shorts” being the streetcars—on famous West Madison Street, Chicago—those going east, and those going west!—and could even take a poke that was an “insider.” And weed it, if needs be, on the way to the door. That’s how good he was.

			Careful, too! For he practically invariably carried a C-note—a $100-bill—folded four ways in his sock—for “fall money.”

			The nickname of “The Eel” was due, of course, to his long-continued successful elusion of the ever-wakeful Chicago police. For he’d seldom had to beef out, in court, that he was up against a bum rap. Now and then, of course, in a jim-up on a short, he’d had to scram for it; once, in a blue moon, to actually take it on the sock-and-clout; and twice, when actually glaumed, he’d effected a “fix.” A couple of times he’d taken the fall—though for a fine only, and under the charge of d.c. only—disorderly conduct—since he’d smelt a rumble just before the pinch, and had done nothing, before being glaumed, but the jostle; and each time, however, he’d had the precious fall money in his sock—that C-note!—and so had been able to hit the pavements again. And once, in fact, he’d even lammed—from a certain bail bond in a court in far South Chicago—under the phoney handle “Peter Ibbetson” which he thought was a hell of a good handle, though he hadn’t the least idea where he’d ever heard of it. Of course, The Eel also possessed many other names such as ordinary untalented mortals bear—but they were many and various.

			He cultivated the inconspicuous, in both action and appearance, and was 25 years of age.

			Thus, The Eel.

			Tonight—the precious fall money, that C-note, in his sock, which he’d gained from a juicy 20-sawbuck “lift” the week before—he edged along in the jostling home-going crowd on the West Madison Street car, until at every jolt of that “sardine express” his shoulders bumped those of a little wizened yet kindly faced old man, the tag on whose carpetbag bore the bold inscription, “Jonas Brown, Hemp Corners, Iowa.”

			After his slender and skillful fingers had worked for a moment under cover of his own body, The Eel began to recede by degrees toward the door; in his own pocket now reposed Mr. Jonas Brown’s black wallet.

			But he did not reach the door—at least in the manner he intended; for a mitt (hand, to you, brother!) that belonged to the brawny arm of plainclothesman Sean O’Flaherty closed on his collar.

			“I’ve got ye this time, ye son of a bi—um—rascal,” said O’Flaherty, realizing there were ladies in the car. “I seen the whole game ye played on the old gent yonder, from beginnin’ to end. An’ now ye’ll hand me over that there black wallet, ye swine, and thin we’ll just dismount and call th’ wagon.”

			Thus it came about that Jonas Brown, O’Flaherty and The Eel were shortly riding in the patrol wagon to the Desplaines Street station house.

			Jonas Brown reached his dingy little West Madison Street lodging-house room that night later than usual, thankful that a certain $7700 that had been in his wallet was safe, and remem­bering the stern admonition of the desk sergeant to be in court next morning to add his testimony to that of Detective O’Flaherty’s, and regain his property.

			For a long time, however, he lay in the dark thinking of the task he had set himself to perform, if possible, in this big strange city. And how he had at last found courage to come alone to Chicago to search for his long-lost son Danny, who just fourteen years before, at the age of 12, had run away from the home-farm because Jonas Brown, foolish father, had soundly thrashed the youngster for sneaking off to the circus and marching defiantly home again with a red star tattooed above a blue moon upon his sturdy young arm.

			And he was thinking, too, how he had taken his tale to the Chief of Police here in Chicago, and had been permitted by the latter the run of the files of the “unidentified dead”—to see if by any chance he could trace the missing youth—perhaps through the very “disfiguration” for which he had so long ago punished and lost his son.

			Next morning, bright and early, he was seated in the front row benches at the Desplaines Street police court, long before court convened, fretting inwardly because he must lose the entire morning—because he must be set back a half-day in the search for his boy.

			But when, after several minor cases had been disposed of in their regular order, The Eel, having discreetly waived his jury rights, appeared from the bull pen and stood at the bar accompanied by a huge blue-coated officer, the usual crowd of curiosity seekers pricked up their ears; a pickpocket case was always interesting.

			O’Flaherty told his story; then the old man was called up, and, after being sworn, related his simple tale—all about his coming to the city to search for his long-lost son, taking Chicago first because of the fascination that city had always seemingly held for Danny. The old man told how he had been riding on a Madison Street car; how he had felt for a wallet of his which contained $7700, the proceeds of the sale of his farm; how he had later heard a commotion, discovered the loss of his wallet, and had turned to see the prisoner now at the bar being held by the plainclothesman.

			As soon as he was excused, he resumed his seat in the front row. Then the Judge looked at The Eel long and intently. Finally he asked him if he had anything to say.

			The Eel shook his head sullenly. He realized that a clear case existed against him this time, and that he had no defense; he knew, though, that his treatment would be the same as that invariably accorded to dips, on their first fall for “larceny,” by easy Judge Freeman, up there on the bench—a sentence of exactly three months. And that, in fact, was exactly why he’d grabbed at the chance to take the rap—here in front of “Easy.” And he realized philosophically—as he always did—that not only must one expect an occasional setback in every “profesh”—but also that three months would soon pass.

			Perhaps, though, “Easy Judge Freeman was in ill-humor that morning; possibly he had dined well but not slept well the night before. At any rate, he looked at the prisoner for a moment over the tops of his eyeglasses and said, tersely:

			“The limit for you! One year—in the Bridewell.”

			The Eel, startled out of his complacency, looked up at the Judge with a hurt expression on his face. A year! Wowie! That was a shock! Coming from “Easy” Freeman. A whole year—away from the sunlight and the green parks, from the movie theatres and the busy city streets, from the wine rooms and taxi-dance halls of Halsted Street; a year behind the dirty graystone walls of the Bridewell; a year!—when by all the rules of experience, encountered by numberless others he knew, he had expected but three months!

			“W’y—Eas—that is, Judge,” he began in an injured tone. His voice turned to a whine and the curiosity seekers, scenting possible theatricals, leaned forward still farther in their seats. “Why, Your Honor... a year. ...I never been convicted before...” But the Judge was already ordering the bailiff to call the next case.

			The Eel raised his hands to the high edge of the Judge’s desk; there his fingers clawed nervously, beseechingly, futilely. His loose sleeves dropped to his elbows, exposing his forearms, slim and white; even the sleepy nodders in the rear of the courtroom could see the conspicuous tattoo-mark just above his left wrist—a blue crescent moon surmounted by a red star!

			To the onlookers in the courtroom, the tattoo-mark suggested nothing—no new possibilities of dramatics, but their dying curiosity was suddenly jolted into life again. For the timid old farmer in the front row had seen it too. With an inarticulate cry he sprang to his stumbling feet and half fell against the prisoner at the bar, his trembling hands groping for The Eel’s slouchy shoulders.

			“Danny—Danny, my boy—my long-lost son!” he gasped. “Have I found you at last?”

			The Eel, taken completely unawares, swung ’round on him, superstitious fright and stark incredulity fighting for mastery in his face.

			“What’s—what’s all this?” he shouted, fending off the pawing hands of the old man desperately. “Who’s this here crazy loon? I’m no son of his! Take him away from me,” he implored the staring throng.

			“But—but Danny, the tattoo—the tattoo!” insisted Jonas Brown, wonderingly loosening his grip on The Eel.

			“Oh, that?”—and The Eel held up and examined curiously his left wrist, as though the heathenish symbol pricked upon it had developed a new interest for him. “Why—that’s mine; I didn’t snitch it. I—but what’s your game, old man, anyhow? What you trying to put over on me, now?”

			The Judge rapped his desk smartly and interpolated a remark of his own.

			“Here, you!—none of that here!” He motioned to the bailiff, who led the old man back to his seat and stood The Eel up fronting the bench again.

			“Now, you,” the Judge proceeded, fixing the flabbergasted Eel with a cold, suspicious eye, “what’s this stuff about a tattoo mark you say you didn’t steal? Come clean now, or—”

			But The Eel complied readily enough—eagerly, in fact. He went on to tell the gaping roomful how, about a year before, having had his left forearm horribly burnt in a lodging-house holocaust, he had been taken to the County Hospital. How the “croakers” there, despairing of healing it, had advertised in the Chicago papers for volunteers to give up as many square inches of skin as they could for grafting onto their patient’s burns. How among those “dead game sports” who came forward to help him, The Eel, “like real guys,” was one young fellow who had made the condition of his sacrifice a peculiar one: that the “big docs” use only that portion of his arm’s cuticle covered by the tattooed design now on his, The Eel’s, own arm, the fellow saying “his folks hadn’t liked it on him.”

			“No,” The Eel said, in answer to the old man’s excited interruption, he “never did get to know that guy’s right name.” But the County Hospital people might know who he was, The Eel added.

			Other explanations followed, and, after some argument, the Judge reluctantly suspended The Eel’s sentence, at the pleadings of the distracted but hopeful father, paroling the “dip” to the complainant in the case in order that he might assist Jonas in locating the “donor” of the much-discussed star and crescent.

			“But mind you,” he warned The Eel, as he prepared to go out with his new-found guardian, “if you’re ever up before this court again, after all this good man is doing for you, you’ll get no mercy from me! It’s the last call for you. I’m taking a big chance letting you off this time, but never again!”

			Inquiry at the County Hospital by Jonas Brown and the really grateful Eel, that same afternoon, elicited the discouraging information that—though they remembered there, distinctly, the odd circumstance of the tattoo’s transference to the Eel’s person—they could not furnish either the name or address of the original possessor of the grafted design—he having bluntly refused to divulge either, saying they could either take it or leave it, but must leave his identity entirely out of the case.

			Outside, The Eel agreed, at the impassioned insistency of Jonas Brown, to continue with him in the rather hopeless search, but refusing all offers of the latter to pay him for his time.

			“Now see here, old man,” said that supposedly slippery person, “that kid of yours, if he was yours, done me a white turn oncet—and you bet I’ll do as much for him! If that roll you still got on you is going to him, I’ll do my goddamnedest to spot him for you pronto. And so long as I didn’t get it, I’ll take goddamn good care no other grifter gets it away from you—see? Come along now. I’ll take you back to your lil’ ol’ hole in the wall—and tomorrow we’ll make a regular day of it.”

			“You’re a good honest boy; I know I can trust you,” replied the simple-hearted countryman, naïvely; and for the first time in ages The Eel turned aside his face and blushed. Then his form stiffened with a newborn, silent resolution; he seized the old man’s horny hand and shook it fiercely, his eyes blinking rapidly.

			Next day the still hunt went on, along new and devious ways known only to such as The Eel; but night brought only new doubts, new perplexities to the twain. And so the hopeless yet dogged search dragged on for uncounted days.

			At about 7:30 p.m. several weeks later, thinking it might take the old man’s mind off its long worrying and fears for a time, The Eel proposed that the two go over near the Star and Garter Burlesque Theatre at West Madison and Halsted Streets.

			“I got a hunch,” he insinuated as an excuse, “that we’ll do better if we just drift along for a while and keep our lamps peeled. I figured it out oncet, in my own ‘profesh,’ that you meet twice as many people just standing still on a busy corner, or near a theaytre, as you’d do if you kept moving—for they pass you from all directions to oncet, don’t you see? And in front of a burleycue running a new and hot show is another godd—er—darned good place to drift into ’em, just before or after a p’formance. We’ve tried about every reas’nable thing, Mr. Brown—now let’s just trust to chanct for oncet.”

			Dutifully, Jonas Brown agreed to his more sophisticated co-searcher’s suggestion, and they repaired at once to the vantage ground proposed. The Eel bought two tickets, “so’s the cops can’t tell us to move on,” and rejoined Jonas at the curbline to watch the slowing augmenting crowd.

			A Lincoln car, containing two men, chugged noisily up to the near-by corner, and deposited one of them; and then made off; but neither of the two watchers noted it consciously—their eyes were all for the ingoing audience gathering at the “burleycue’s” doors, expectant too of the other audience soon to belch forth upon them.

			Suddenly the old man felt a hand laid on his shoulders from behind. He jumped, and the “dip” whirled snarling on the intruder. Then came surprising words.

			“Why hello—Father!” came the astonished voice from the passenger deposited by the departed Lincoln. “What on earth are you doing in Chicago?”

			“Why—why—it’s Dan!—it’s Danny himself at last, thank God!” burst out Jonas Brown, and almost flung himself upon the newcomer in near collapse.

			The Eel stood open-mouthed, hardly breathing in his excitement; but a cloud quickly came over his expression. He plucked at the old man’s sleeve warningly, trying to edge in between the two.

			“Wait a minute now—wait a minute,” he interposed. “Say, Mr. Brown—are you sure you’re right this time?” He eyed the stalwart third member appraisingly, even hostilely.

			Jonas Brown turned quickly to the newcomer, then glanced inquiringly back at The Eel. “I never thought he’d be so big,” he said proudly; “but he has grown a lot since I last saw him. Why, don’t you recognize him?” he asked the latter. “He—he gave you his own skin, you know, that time; he’s—”

			“Never saw this here guy in all my life!” coolly announced The Eel.

			Jonas Brown stared helplessly at The Eel.

			“But—but the tattoo mark—the star and crescent he—” he sputtered.

			“Say, Father,” cut in the larger man, “I don’t quite tumble to what you two are trying to get at—but if you’re talking about that old tattoo-mark you licked me for, why, here it is, same as ever.” And he laughed. And pulling back his left coat sleeve and rolling up his cuff, he showed—an exact duplicate of the star and crescent, line for line, then ornamenting the arm of the “dip”! The two other men stared with unbelieving eyes.

			“No,” the newcomer added, “your peculiar-looking ‘friend’ here is right, Dad; he never did see me before—so far as I know.”

			Then Jonah Brown and the now-mollified “dip” told the astounded Dan the whole story of their first encounter and the subsequent search; he, in his turn, explaining that the circus-following “artist” who had tattooed him had had only five or six designs he knew how to prick with the needle, and that probably any number of other boys, in many places, had received the same distinguishing disfigurement from his bungling hands.

			“And Mother?” ended up Dan. “How is she?”

			“She died last year, Danny boy,” said the father. “We didn’t know where to find you, and she kept asking for you day and night—day and night.” His voice shook. “And just before she passed away she called me to her bedside and made me promise to find you, and—and to tell you she sent you her undying love; and—and to—to ask you to take good—good care of your poor old father for the rest of his days—for—for her sake. Oh, Danny!—Danny! Can you forgive me? I didn’t mean you any wrong—and I’ve suffered so long for that one act of mistaken correction! Even the farm is gone now—and I have only you!”

			The old man was weeping openly, and Dan choked back the horrible hurt that welled up from his own lonely heart. He patted his father on the back reassuringly and said:

			“Never mind, Dad. All I’ve got is half yours right now. It isn’t much—just a little auto repair shop and twenty-car garage, about a mile from here, but you’re sure welcome.”

			The Eel pricked up his ears and grinned behind his hand.

			“Why, why Danny boy,” said Jonas Brown, “you didn’t think your poor old father would come to you broke, did you? I’d—I’d die first.” And the old man pulled his old well-stuffed wallet laboriously forth from under his coat tails, and held it up before the paralyzed Danny. “There’s just $7700 there, Danny boy; I sold the old farm, as I couldn’t bear to live there all alone any longer—and I had to go and find you somewhere. I’ll put that in as my half, and we’ll just expand your business—I’ve always heard there was good money to be made in it—and I’m now used to handling gas-engines and the like—on the farm.”

			“Well I’ll be darned!” exploded Dan. “You dear old rapscallion! I might have known you’d deliver the goods—you’re my father, after all, at that!”

			“But, why—why didn’t you write me, Danny boy, all these long years?” queried the old man, half resentfully. “We thought—”

			“Oh, I don’t know—you know how proud some boys are when they skip out from the old home without stopping to say good-by, or anything—won’t write back till they’ve made their fortunes, or at least made good somehow. And it is only just here lately that I’ve been able to get a real foothold and start a business for myself.”

			The Eel had begun to sidle away, feeling decidedly, woefully out of the picture in the present reel; but the old man sharply called him back.

			“Here, son—what you leaving me now for?” he expostulated. “You told me you were crazy about autos—and wanted to get into that business if I could fix it so the police would let you alone. You’ve got mighty nimble fingers, as I happen to know,” he laughed happily, “and you’re just going right along now and work for me and Dan—ain’t he, Danny boy!”

			“Okay by me,” replied that hope-elated young business man. “And now that we’re all happy—let’s go on in and see this wild show, The Girls from Oskaloosa—what? Follow me!” And they did!

			Towards the close of the next-to-last “blackout” The Eel asked them to excuse him for a few minutes—he wanted, he said, to go out and telephone a certain party. He did not return immediately, and when the house finally lit up, after the last “blackout,” for the ensemble and final exodus, the two others went to find him outside. They waited around for fifteen minutes, but no Eel slid into view.

			“Guess we might as well mosey up the sidewalk 20 feet or so,” suggested Dan, “and get out of the way of the crowds coming in for the next show.”

			Which they did. And another five minutes passed. And no Eel yet.

			And so, just to while away the time, Dan asked his father for a real peep at the wonderful seventy-seven hundred “iron men” he had in ambush under his coat tails. In the semi-seclusion of the doorway of a deserted store, Dan opened the old-fashioned wallet and peered into it, then inserted a tentative finger.

			His face went white; he grasped the old man’s arm impul­sively, rigidly.

			“Why—why Father, there’s not one cent in it!—only a couple of soiled handkerchiefs!” he gasped, and drew them out to the old man’s astounded view. “This sure is one hell of a party—at the break-up!”

			The old man seemed too dumfounded to speak. Then suddenly the same two words came to the lips of both: “The Eel!” “The Eel!”

			“Probably another reversion to type,” half sneered Dan. “I thought this Eel bird seemed too good to be true! You can’t reform some of these crooks—it don’t last.”

			“Why, Danny,” defended his father, “he swore he couldn’t do enough for you for saving his life with your own skin, and for me for keeping him out of jail.”

			“Yeah, sure!—he’d feel that way then, all right, but now that he’s found out that it wasn’t me who got ‘skinned’ for him, and he’s found me for you, he’d think he’d done about enough—and that ‘business was business’—even with a crook. No, we won’t see The Eel any more—not if he sees us first, we won’t!” Then: “I suppose now we’ll have to go back to the police and tell them you’ve lost the whole seventy-seven hundred again,” he growled, sotto voce. Though he was, indeed, at a loss to understand his father’s taking the second theft by that same pampered Eel so coolly.

			“Seventy-seven hundred dollars!” exclaimed Jonas Brown. “Why, Danny—your old father must be getting a mite absent-minded—there was only about sixteen dollars in that wallet, all in one-dollar bills. You see I forgot, in the excitement of finding you and all, to tell you that The Eel left me for an hour or two down on State Street this afternoon; and who should I run into there but Silas Whiffin, the old banker from our home town. Of course Silas wanted to know all about what I’d been up to all alone here in this big city, and before I got through he had the whole story. Well, he was horrified when he found out I was still carrying around all that money on me—and he wouldn’t listen to any talk at all about The Eel’s being my protection for it. Even though, Danny, The Eel has been letting me take charge of something he calls his—his fall money—a folded hundred-dollar note, Danny, which I’ve got in my watch pocket. Anyway, Silas pulled me right along with him, in that masterful way he always had with us country folks, and—I’ll swan!—before I knew what happened to me, I’d put $7700 of my $7716 cash into registered Government bonds. In fact, here they are, Danny—” And Jonas Brown pulled a big official-looking envelope out of his innocent-looking old inside coat pocket, and tendered it to his son, quite apologetically.

			“Well—I’ll be damned!” said Dan Brown. And shook his head admiringly. “And so, Dad, with The Eel slithering out of this, as he has tonight—and kissing his ‘fall money’ good-by—you’re only $84 to the good! Listen Dad, a few more weeks in Slickville here, and you’ll be able to—”

			“To what, Danny?”

			“To go out and work the Madison Street cars yourself—just as friend Eel does. Come on—and let’s you and I get down to some legitimate business!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XIX

			The Set-Up

			I looked up, with a half smile, from the manuscript.

			“Okay!” I said.

			“You mean,” Steenburg put in, delightedly, “that—that it’s great stuff?”

			“No,” I said. “It isn’t great stuff. Its viewpoint prowls around and about like an alley cat ranging all the garbage cans in a square block! And some of its expressions remind me a bit of the old ‘mellerdrammers’ given on the Showboat, that used to be anchored off Barkley Street in the River here. But the yarn has a good beginning and a neat ending—and enough twists and turns in its ‘innards’ that with a little ironing-out by Sol Steenburg, it ought to certainly go over. Considering the thousand and nineteen pulp-paper magazines on the market just now.” I gazed down on the script. “No, your ‘Big Shoes’ is going to click. Which’ll mean the end of the criminal game for him—whether he really has got that girl-kid—or whether he hasn’t. And, since reading the script, I somehow fancy he has.” I riffled over the typewritten pages again. “Only—tell him to do some tales about the dramatic things he knows—instead of about farmers’ lives. Though, come to think of it, he is a farmer at that.”

			And I handed the script back to Steenburg.

			“I’m glad,” was all he said. And he truly seemed overjoyed.

			A long pause fell between us now. And he finally broke it, with a direct question.

			“Will you—will you be going down yourself, Mr. King?—picking up the skull there in Evanston?—and making the meet in Chicago? Or will you be sending—a messenger?”

			“What does it matter?” I queried. “So long as Senor ‘Big Shoes’ gets his precious evidence?” I reflected for a moment. And then looked up. “There’s quite nothing in the way of my taking care of the whole thing myself,” I said. “For Mrs. King will be busy as all get-out on her first day back here. And I’ve a half dozen friends I could put in a day with in Chi. However, since you asked—well, I’m pretty certain I’ll be sending a messenger.”

			“The girl with—with the lavender gripsack?” he asked.

			“Forget the girl with the lavender gripsack!” I said. But realizing that that possibility which I had lightly and half-facetiously broached a few minutes back was now due to be religiously conveyed to the mysterious ‘Big Shoes’ down in Illinois, I amended my words. “Oh,” I said casually, “you can tell your client—yes—that if nobody appears in that block with a crimson box—then ’twill be the gal with the lavender gripsack he’s to approach. But I’ll aim to follow our matters exactly the way he evidently wants them: a man—no woman; and a crimson shoebox—no gripsack! Okay?”

			“Quite! But you couldn’t say, for sure,” Steenburg inquired troubledly, “that you will be sending a messenger—not that it matters, of course?”

			“No, I can’t say,” I told Steenburg truthfully. “But you can tell your ‘Big Shoes’—when you talk to him tonight or early tomorrow morning, on long distance—that regardless of who shows up with the crimson box in that block between noon and 1 tomorrow—or even with lavender gripsack!—yes!—it isn’t going to matter. For the receptable—be what it may—and colored whatever it be!—will have in it the skull—and let ‘Big Shoes’ be sure to have his five hundred. Plus a few odd dollars for possible final reckoning. For this, after all, Steenburg, is going to be cold business; don’t forget how his tribe have taken me for plenty in my day—many times five hundred. But I may likely send a messenger. A man who may uncover some certain vital information for me tonight, in Hob—that is—in Minneapolis. And, if he does so, I’ll simply pay him by giving him the skull—and the dope by which he can convert it into five hundred cold. Plus return fare to Minneapolis. Without, of course, telling him any of your inside facts. For I don’t need the five hundred myself—and it still looks just a little like—well—bloody money to me. Yes. On the other hand, so far as this messenger goes, well—he may be dead. And lying out on the prairies here—this very minute. In which case I myself will take—”

			Steenburg was just coming to life.

			“He—he may—may be dead?” he ejaculated. “Your messenger may already be—Wha-a-a’ do you mean, Mr. King?”

			“Just what I said. This chap may be dead—and quite unable to travel southward. You see he—well—he has enemies. And he’s expected here—later tonight. And he always cuts across the prairies. And his enemies may follow him. And shoot him dead. Yes, he warned me of that. So—if he doesn’t show up by midnight—which is one hour before 1 a.m., when the last plane and last trains leave for Chicago—then his body is lying out there in the blackness—with a bullet through its forehead. Though it won’t be found till tomorrow. And daylight dawns. In which case—his non-appearance by midnight, that is—I’ll have to go myself. And don’t be surprised if, in Buffalo, you read about the finding of such body.”

			“Jesus—Christ, Mr. King, this—this is a most dramatic thing—I’ve walked into. They—they won’t shoot me, will they—his enemies?—when I leave here?”

			“Hell no,” I said, realizing that my too-elaborate fiction which might account for the results of any possible scuffle tonight between myself and The Man With the Magic Eardrums, there in the closet—and perhaps the latter’s demise—was too florid. “No, it’s—it’s inside bookie stuff only.” I regarded Steenburg critically. For this question was important. “And I suppose,” I queried, “if by any chance his body were to be found out there—on the prairies tomorrow—and the police questioned me as to whether I heard anything tonight—or saw anything—that you’ll come forward—as a material witness—to corroborate my words to you—about his enemies?”

			“Listen, Mr. King,” said Steenburg agitatedly, passing a hand over his brow, “if—if they find two dozen bodies out there tomorrow morning—I don’t know anything—about you—nor your house. Or anything. If he’s the cause of your being jimmed up into any mess, don’t, for Cri’ sakes, call on me. For I—”

			“But,” I told Steenburg pleasantly, “you said, five minutes ago, that if I ever got into a jam, you’d—”

			He shook his head firmly. “This is different, I tell you. I’d do anything for you—yes—sub rosa. But not—in court. Or publicly. For I can’t even afford to know Mortimer King. Because of Father, you know. He—”

			“I get you! Again—as before. Well, let’s just presume this chap is a good boy—and doesn’t get rambuncti—that is, doesn’t get shot at—and that he successfully unearths a certain piece of information for me—and traipses down there to Chicago—and gets the five hundred. In which case, since you will be talking once more by phone to ‘Big Shoes’—and he may want all possible last-minute dope on the bird who’s to carry the crimson box, this fellow—if he comes—well, you have my description, so now I’d better give you his.” Steenburg’s ears rose markedly, and he took out a fountain pen. “This rather likely—and possible—messenger of mine,” I said, “will be dressed in an ill-fitting brown suit. With baggy knees. And will wear a checked cap. And a red tie. And will have a round face. And—and will murder the King’s English!”

			“Okay!” nodded Steenburg, putting down, in a notebook, the last of a series of evidently stenographic notes.

			And now, decidedly apprehensive, he looked at the clock on the mantel behind him.

			“Well, Mr. King—seems like everything’s set. It’s 11:16 now. And my plane—I’m plenty scared of planes, I don’t mind telling you, but having stuck here in Minneapolis till the last dying moment, I got to go back to Buffalo that way—goes at 1 a.m. sharp. Though fortunately for me, a whole troop of planes are going back east—most empty—thanks to some trade convention that opened here today. Anyway—I’m going to get now. Which’ll leave you in charge of your castle—and give you the chance to talk with your messenger—when—that is, if—he gets here—yes—and get him off on the 1 a.m. plane to Chi.”

			“Oh—yeah?” I said sardonically. “I think I spoke of a plane—and trains. If I have to go—it’ll be by plane, yes. But if he goes—he’ll go by train—and he’ll sit up all night, to boot!”

			Steenburg stroked his chin puzzledly.

			“Twice tonight, Mr. King, you spoke of ‘trains’—going out for Chi—at 1 a.m. But I guess you meant just ‘train’—yes? For I’ve been studying timetables between Minneapolis and Chicago like nobody’s business—figuring whether I could by any chance at all go down there—and get back to Buffalo at 9 a.m. tomorrow—which I couldn’t—and of course there’s only one train—at 1 a.m.”

			“I did speak of ‘trains,’” I admitted. “But it was only a mind-slip—due to the fact that the Scotchman’s Special goes out at 1 a.m.—as well as the Minny-Chi Limited. The Scotchman’s Special being a de luxe train which one of my bookies—by name, Jock MacTavish—always rides—when he goes down to Chicago to see his mother.”

			“Jock—MacTavish?” Steenburg commented. “I—I can’t imagine a guy named Jock MacTavish riding a luxury train. Even if there was one, other than the Minny-Chi Limited. No, a Scotchman—riding a luxury train—”

			“This train,” I explained, with a smile, “is the famous Minneapolis-Chicago Non-Stop Perishable Through Freight! Which—as I understand it—makes up in the Outer Belt railroad yards along a board fence, along New Deal Street, every night—and gets into Chicago—so Mac tells me!—at 10 a.m. to the second. My understanding is that all a man does—in fact, all a dozen hoboes do every night—for my shrewd Jock got his info originally from a hobo!—is to flop over some low fence at New Deal Street at just about 3 minutes to 1—pick out a comfortable set of rods under some box-car—then, toot-toot!—and Chicago, for late breakfast, at Pittsburgh Joe’s—at 10 a.m.”

			“I get it now,” Steenburg laughed. “Well, as far as I’m concerned—there’s still only one train for Chicago—going out of Minneapolis—at 1 a.m. Even if your MacTavish has a special one of his own. And—”

			He checked the clock now by his own watch. And rose—with alacrity.

			“I’m off—Mr. King! I don’t honestly like the idea, don’t you know, of those birds—gunning for your baggy-kneed friend. I sort of think I’d like ‘out’—of Hobury Heights.”

			He fumbled in his breast pocket, and brought up a sealed envelope.

			“Here’s the brief dope,” he said, “I typed out—for the ‘meet.’ It gives everything. The name ‘Big Shoes’ is to introduce himself by. Which will be the first key by which you—or your man—or even your gal with the lavender gripsack!—will know that everything’s oke—so far!—as to his—‘Big Shoes’’—identity. And the few further ‘key’ questions that’re to be asked—and answered—both sides. Innocent like, of course—in case some nosey guy is standing off to one side. And I trust you’ll destroy it?—after its brief contents are memorized?” I nodded assurance on that score. On which he handed his envelope to me, and I put it in my breast pocket. “And if, by any chance at all,” Steenburg went on, “‘Big Shoes’ couldn’t or didn’t show—well, of course in that case your messenger would have to contact you by phone—and you, in turn, would have to phone me—at Colvin Parkway, Buffalo. And I, in turn, ‘Big Shoes.’ And arrange a subsequent ‘meet.’ Calling you back here then—and you, in turn, your messenger. Like going around a circle two ways—yes—frontwards—and then back. However, ‘Big Shoes’ will show. I guarantee that. And he’ll—But listen—don’t tell your messenger, will you, about this—this Scotchman’s Special? For the streetcar that brought me out here tonight must have passed that very point where it makes up—at least we went over a long long viaduct—” I nodded. “—and the conductor, once we were across it, called out ‘New Deal Street’—” I nodded again. “—and, that point being therefore only about 20 minutes at most from here, well—your messenger might just take a chance to cram the railroad fare you give him into his pocket—leap off the streetcar—and ride that S-S into Chicago; and he might get plucked off somewhere between here and Chicago—and everything would be—up the spout.”

			I had risen as Steenburg did. “I won’t tell him,” I assured him. “Though the Scotchman’s Special, as I understand it, doesn’t stop for a single second between Minneapolis and Chicago—lest the Minnesota eggs—shipped at the high rate of 3 cents a dozen—hatch into chicks; and the Minnesota Guernsey milk turn sour—and the Minnesota onions grow sprouts. A fact! My messenger will go in state, all right. So don’t worry.”

			Steenburg thrust out his hand, relieved. And I shook it. And he turned toward his hat on the near-by rack. Then turned back to me.

			“Incidentally, Mr. King—and I daresay I should have mentioned this long before—your frau will be ringing you from Wabansia Falls Junction, Minnesota—within a few minutes.”

			“Yes?” I said in surprise. “But how the devil do you know that?”

			“Because,” he explained, “on that last telephone call I made here tonight, I accidentally got into a long-distance telephone call she was trying to make here, en route; that is, I’m sure it was she, and I’m presuming it was long-distance! At least the feminine voice said to the operator: ‘No, it won’t be of any use to call me back when that line is clear, because I won’t be here—where I’m calling from. But I’ll call again at—let’s see?—11:30.’ And since, Mr. King, that Chicago and North Lakes Special stands at Wabansia Falls Junction for 15 minutes—and at around 11:30 moreover—and I’d just read that item in the Sun—well, I just put two and two together that the calling party must be she. Of course I’d have gotten off and given her to you—only the connection went out before I had a chance. And then—I was talking to you. Or, rather, to your man.”

			“I see,” I nodded, curious about the call. Though, of course, the call could, in reality, have come from many, many parties, I was confident that Steenburg’s accurate deductions about it were entirely correct. And I added the only explanation that occurred to me. “She probably wants to instruct one of our servants about something—in advance of her coming. She’s not trying to contact me, because she doesn’t anticipate my being here tonight. However—I’ll look out for her call.”

			He looked at his watch again. And got his hat himself. And so I conducted him down the stairs to the front door. And let him out. And the last I saw of him, he was trudging up the narrow sidewalk between the dark lots, looking apprehensively to both sides of himself.

			The minute I got back into the library, I fished out of the wastebasket that confounded skull which Speevy had brought here. And holding it up—face, that is, up to the overhead lights—confirmed completely what Steenburg had told me: for the shingle-like hanging appendage on the left side of the nose aperture was missing entirely on the right side—and the structures back inside of that nose—on the right—were plentifully cut away—dear to a cavern back almost under the brain pan. And I turned it over. And, had I had any doubts thus far about Steenburg’s story of the Polish doctor on Queen Avenue, South, and Rozalda, and the Negro who was to deliver the skull back here, and all that—my doubts were completely dispelled: for printed there, in India ink, over the bullet hole which had been the cause of Speevy’s bringing the skull here originally, were the identical letters ‘M.K.’ which Steenburg had stated Doctor Sciecinskiwicz had put there for the guidance of the Negro’s personal delivery.

			Gone—one lucky fetish!

			And—but then, for the first time in several minutes, I thought of my prisoner—in the closet.

			And made haste to release him.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XX

			The Stubborn One

			I unlocked the door. He still sat hunched against the rear wall, knees drawn up under hands, just as I had left him—though blinking a bit as the light came in on him, and carrying on his round face that immeasurably blank deaf man’s look.

			“Come on out,” I ordered him. But my words were lost on him, particularly with my back to the light. So I raised my hand. And beckoned him out.

			And so out he came at last. Rubbing his eyes. I was already over at the table. And in the swivel chair once more, just as I had been when last we talked. Watching him emerge, and at the same time transferring his patent eardrums from the drawer to the table. From whence I slid them over in front of the gilt-legged chair which, just five minutes or less ago, had been supporting the person of one Sol Steenburg of Buffalo, New York. I pointed at the eardrums. And he nodded.

			He crossed the space intervening between himself and the gilt-legged chair, and taking up the eardrums inserted them in his ears.

			“Jesus!” he commented. “But they do feel good. Comes a hundred noises—again—that make me feel like a guy who’s alive.” Hesitant, seemingly, as one who hasn’t been instructed to do so, he dropped down on the gilt-legged chair.

			“Then,” I informed him, “with the old ears properly ‘bewitched’ again, you’re all nicely set—to perform that little exhibition job you agreed to do awhile back.”

			“Well,” he answered, with a shrug of his stocky shoulders, “I said I’d try.”

			“Though before you do,” I queried, “what’s that—leaking out of your ‘hankie’ pocket—there?”

			For indeed something was leaking out! A small newspaper clipping—with very ragged rough-torn edges—it appeared to be about an inch in depth—had, thanks doubtlessly to his having sat all “screwched up” on the floor in that closet, worked up in that pocket to where one of its ends now peeped more than a half inch over the pocket’s rim.

			He looked down at the half-emerged clipping. Painfully. “Oh—that?” he said, with manifest embarrassment. “Oh that—that ain’t nothing.” He poked it hurriedly down in the pocket. “Now let’s see—now about this safe—”

			“The safe will be here,” I told him dryly, “for a few minutes more.” For I was curious as to why he’d told me he had a huge clipping—when this one I’d glimpsed was only an inch deep. “Come on—dig it out. What story is that?”

			A deep crimson flamed over his round face, taking in even his ears.

			“It—it ain’t nothing,” he said desperately, “but just—just something—something I tore out of the evenin’ paper—th’ World—tonight on the way out here—come on, now—let’s—let’s get going.”

			“Put—that—clipping—down—here!” I ordered him peremp­torily. In view of the manner in which he was making most valiant efforts to talk and virtually laugh it off.

			“It ain’t nothing, I tell you,” he insisted. “It—”

			“Put it down here—on this table,” I said. “Or else—” I broke off, and put my hand in the pocket where the gun was.

			He gave a helpless gesture with his two hands. And laid the clipping midway of the table. At which I drew it over—the while he gazed at me with the most sheepish expression I had ever seen on a man’s face. And with the corner of one eye on him—and my other on the clipping—I read it—in toto. It ran:

			CLOWNS HIS WAY OUT OF A $50 FINE

			Peter Givney, occupation given as “unemployed,” and residence as The Workers’ Rest, 2375 South Humboldt Street, was released this morning in Misdemeanor Court by virtue of having made the Judge laugh. Givney was arrested last night by “Long John” van Critchford, the famous 7-foot-high traffic officer stationed in front of Donaldson’s Glass House, at Nicollet and Hennepin Avenues, who, coming back to his traffic post from a cup of coffee in a near-by restaurant, found Givney stationed there and imitating him in controlling traffic. Givney pleaded in court that he had had one too many drinks. Judge Fellows, presiding, asked him to show the court exactly how he had imitated Long John. Which Givney thereupon reluctantly did. The sight of the pudgy little squat man that Givney is, imitating the tall thin officer, and the latter’s long-armed signals to traffic, made the entire courtroom titter, and the Judge smile, and the latter said, at the end of the pantomime: “If a traffic officer hadn’t been down-right insolent to me this morning, Givney, I’d hand you a $50 fine and costs. As it is—why don’t you get a job as a clown? Discharged!”

			When the hearing was over, reporters, assigned to Misdemeanor Court, asked Long John, known to be the holder of a Doctor of Philosophy degree from Harvard, for a “philosophical expression” of comment concerning the “clown” decision. Long John’s reply was: “Okay, boys! I’m just on my way out now to call up a friend. But I’ll gladly pause a second to give you a truly philosophical and even academic comment—on the hearing just completed. Partic­ularly since my comment involves the very friend I’m just about to call up! Well, I see you have your pencils ready; so here is my comment: A very good friend, whom I am just about to call up, is deeply indebted to me. This friend is a likely runner-up on the National Heavyweight Champion­ship. He weighs 240 pounds stripped. And both of his fists are like hams. He lives at the Workers’ Rest, in a room on the first floor that faces the front door. And he has insomnia! That’s all, boys. Good day.”

			“So—” I said, looking up from the clipping—and before I told him precisely who the man was whom he’d imitated, “our Petie is a clown, eh?” And he was already reaching forth for the clipping with the avidity of a man making a collection of favorable publicity to show someday to his great-grandchildren!

			“No clown,” he mumbled. “No. No clown. I—I just pulled some of the motions that goddamned human windmill down there in front o’ Donaldson’s Glass House pulls—and the people in court, they seemed to think it was funny.”

			I laughed. And waved his reaching hand warningly downward. And added: “And I could kiss you, Petie—for your stunt this morning in court.”

			“You—you could kiss me,” he commented, obviously a bit aghast. “W’y?”

			“Because,” I told him, “Long John happens to be my wife’s cousin. A fact! And if you had read the tail end of that story the front 9/10ths of which you’ve got in your hip pocket—the part, that is, that spilled over onto an inside page—you’d have known that fact. Long John—”

			“Just—a—minute,” he said, passing a hand over his brow. “First you said you hadn’t never seen the story—and now you say you’ve read its tail end. So what the hell! If—”

			“Since the time of my last statement,” I explained, “I talked to a man who had read the story—the whole of it. Yes, while you were having a—well—siesta in yon closet.” And I went on. “And so as I just started to tell you, Long John happens to be my wife’s cousin. The most damned insufferable snob who ever lived. For I’ve met him—through her—more than once. He looks straight through me—thanks to that Ph.D. degree he’s got—as though I were the dirt on the tracks where I make my living.” I shook my head admiringly. “No, Petie ol’ boy ol’ boy, you ought to have a prize for that Ziegfeldian stunt.” I looked down at his clipping again. “But what did his friend—the friend with the fists like hams—and the 240 pounds of weight—at the Workers’ Rest—do to you? I don’t see any black eyes.”

			“I’ll say you don’t!” he bit out. “Nor—won’t! For—listen, you don’t think, do you, that Petie Givney, Esquire, after getting his write-off from th’ court clerk, and then hearing from them reporter guys what Long John had to say, would go back to that dump on South Humboldt—at least for a few days—till all this cools down? Hell—no! Not while he can get a clean bed, on the River Front, at 20 cents a night—till this thing sort of all blows over, like.”

			“I see,” I laughed. Then added: “You’d better relinquish your one collar, and your comb and brush, for good—and get a new room right off. For my sweet cousin-in-law, I don’t mind telling you, will never rest till he pays you back for making an ass out of him on the street, and then again in court. Not that, I’ll admit, he isn’t an ass and a damned ass.” I put the tiny clipping in the desk drawer. “I’m sure you won’t mind if I keep your clipping, yes?”

			“Why should you have—my clipping?” he asked belligerently.

			“Why?” I said, in mock amazement. “Why—for two good reasons. One, you can easily get another downtown after you leave here tonight—which I won’t be doing. And two, I want it to show to my wife when she returns—for she’s ‘real people’ herself, Givney, and thinks the same concerning that insufferable snob as even I do!—and I’d like her, too, to get a good laugh out of how the college-educated ass was made a monkey of—in court—by the talented actor, P. Givney.”

			Again he gave that helpless gesture with his hands—the gesture of a bug on a collector’s pin.

			“Take it,” was all he said.

			A brief glowering silence followed. Glowering, at least from his end of things.

			“And now,” I said, to get back to our subject, “you were just about to state back about the time a visitor barged in on me—that you were feeling an urge to make a try—at my safe. In exchange for a walkout. All right. Everything stands as agreed. So let’s see how good you are.”

			He rose from his chair. But at that moment the stillness of the room was shattered by the ring of the telephone bell. Undoubtedly the very call Steenburg had predicted.

			I ignored it.

			The while it rang a second time.

			The little man returned to the table, from which he had partly turned away, just before the first ring, and stood waiting, with his hands in his pockets. “Shall I wait—till you answer?” he inquired blandly.

			“No,” I told him, equally blandly. “We’ll just let it ring.”

			He watched me closely, his eyes narrowed, and then his face broke slowly into a grin.

			“The missus—eh?—checking up from Milwaukee, to see if you’re out with any floosies. Better rest ’er mind.”

			“It is she,” I affirmed. “But she can ring again later.”

			He looked at me bewilderedly.

			“We-e-ell—long-distance calls cost dough—though, come to think of it at that, them that ain’t answered ain’t either charged nor recorded. Still—this is the first goddamned time in my life I ever heard of a hubby that wasn’t willin’ to prove to wiffie he was home in his carpet slippers—so long’s he was. Jesus, man, this is a break for you. Save you plenty suspicions ag’in you someday—when you are phylandering. Go ahead an’ answer. I’ll wait.

			But he was to find that his arguments were falling on ears as deaf as his own—when his eardrums were out. Particularly when the phone rang for the third time. And I still made no move to answer it.

			Now his face was malignantly triumphant. He leveled his forefinger directly at me and launched forth into a scathing speech.

			“Sa-ay, King,” he bit out impudently, “I’m—I’m on to you now. That is—part way. I don’t catch it all. No. But you’re—you’re afraid to answer that there phone. You don’t want your dame to know you’re home in the house alone tonight—while she’s in that there convent prayin’. You raised hell tonight w’en I answered it a while back—by mistake. An’ you wouldn’t even talk till you learned it was some nertzy guy passin’ through Minny—instead of she. A-all right—baby! It’s my innin’s now—to ask questions. Just why are you home in the house t’night—while Mrs. King’s hawgtied in Milwaukee—and you’re supposed to be in Virginny? In short—what’s comin’ off here tonight? What’s—what’s your game, King?” At which point, being a slight bit asthmatic, he ran out of either breath or denunciatory ideas.

			The cursed phone then rang for the fourth time. I was not only quite flustered now—but angry as well. Angry at him—at myself—at Fate—that, at this moment of all moments, Laurel should have taken it into her head to ring here. For, of course, it must be she. And—“That’s—that’s enough from you,” I growled. “Get busy!”

			“Oh—yeah?” His accusing forefinger was again pointed at me as the phone bell gave one last curtailed querying ring—the last of its series of such. He must have taken a lot of delight in making me squirm, for he started off again.

			“You got somethin’ shady scheduled here for t’night, Brother King. Wimmen—I’ll bet. And you don’t dare answer that phone. A-all—right! When you get ready t’ let me into your little game, King, then maybe I’ll try my hand at your dirty work. But not until. Nossir—not until.” And he sank down into the chair he had just been occupying, and stared at the window in back of me.

			Immediately I glanced apprehensively back of me, so vacuous and straight-eyed was his stare. But there was no confederate seated on the windowsill—with a gun pointed at my back. Window was down. Shade was down. All was quiet—on the Potomac! We were all alone. And I had the only available gun. For about a quarter of a minute I thought on the matter. This fellow had arrived at a crucial moment in my life for me. A hyper-crucial moment, no less, considering that not only were my financial affairs involved, but that—And I glanced at that clock troubledly—that execution, in London, and Jemimah Cobb’s revelation, now lay but 3 1/2 hours distant. And, I reasoned, if I had an ounce of sense, I should placate this fellow, and get the benefit of his talent—or rather knowledge—if he really had such, especially in view of the fact that that telephone had complicated matters as it had. And, when I thought of the way Steenburg had talked quite plainly with me, knowing that no witnesses existed to corroborate that conversation, I saw that I too was in a position to do exactly the same with this fellow. So I leaned back in my chair, and began the recital, to my stubborn customer, of certain salient facts which had transpired back there in San Francisco.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXI

			What Happened Back in Frisco

			“Givney,” I said, “I’m broke!”

			He stared at me. Unbelief was depicted on his round face.

			“Broke?” he returned. “You—broke? You, runnin’ a half dozen books at every track—under half a dozen sep’rate names? Don’t bull me, King.”

			“I’m not bulling you—as you put it. The cycle of my financial life has joined its ends, Givney—and I’m right back to where I started as Lucky King—with a hundred dollars. And no more.”

			“You—down to a C-note?” was his only comment. “The hell you are!”

			“Yes,” I told him quietly and truthfully, “I am. And outside of that C-note, as you call it, Givney, I’m as broke—as you.”

			“As me? Jesus! Then, outside of the said C-note—you must be broke then. Still, what is this? A play on words?”

			“No,” I said. “It’s no play on words. I’m broke. A five-letter word meaning ‘busted.’ Though,” I added, “at the same time—I’m worth a hundred thousand dollars!”

			“Ah!” he bit out. “I—I thought there was a catch in it. Well—that’s different. A hundred grand!”

			“Wait!” I said. “I told you I was broke. And I am. I’m worth a hundred thousand—yes—only it’s not in my own possession.”

			He stared at me helplessly.

			“I’m going to be absolutely frank with you now, Givney. I’m going to give you the whole low-down. And you’ve got to play with me—or go to jail. And if it’s jail—and you even try to spout a word of what I’m telling you—they’ll tell you you’re crazy. In fact, I’ll tip them off that you threatened to blackmail me—and not a reporter would dare print a word of this story.”

			“It must be interesting,” he commented. “Well, go ahead. Seems like I got something you need. Maybe we can get to­gether.”

			“We can,” I told him firmly. “And, at the same time, you can maybe earn a sweet commission. On top of which, you and I can be friends—for the rest of our days. Think, Givney, you could learn to run about a track grandstand—and take bet money—and make out tickets?”

			“Hell yes, I could.”

			“All right. Play with me—and you’ve a life job. Maybe I’ll even put you in as a blackboard odds writer. Your days, Givney, as second-story man—are over.”

			I paused.

			“Givney, the world doesn’t know what the tracks did to me the past spring and summer—because of the half a dozen books I’ve run under the names of other fellows—tight-mouthed, confiden­tial chaps, all. No, the world doesn’t know, Givney, what the tracks really did to me. Tapped wires. Bad calculations. Dark horses. I even learned just tonight, Givney, that one of my good luck fetishes has been tampered with in a certain way—and turned into a hoodoo—a jonah! So take your choice of what really sent me to the cleaners. In short, I was cleaned at the end of the last Misaugee Lake meet.”

			“And was that why you had to go to a sanitar’um for your nerves?”

			“Hell no,” I said. “I didn’t go to a sanitarium at all. That was just a story very covertly given out by my wife—by arrangement between us—to hoodwink the process servers. On a certain matter where it’s up to me, broke or not broke, at least to play to protect the rest of the boys as much as I can. No, I went as far as I could get from Minneapolis. To Frisco. And took up residence there under another name. But I see you’re puzzled about this matter involving process servers. Well, I had it from good sources, Givney, that I was certain to be subpoenaed in the forthcoming Senatorial Investigation of track booking and horse racing—because of my being President of the American Bookies’ Association. So I burned all the records I had. And went to Frisco.”

			“But you was broke, you say?” he queried, almost querulously. “Your wife, then, she financed—”

			“No,” I said, bitterness in my voice. And as I thought back of my lonely days in Frisco, there was bitterness in my heart as well as my voice. “No, she didn’t finance my hegira. Exodus. Or what-have-you. For the fact of my being broke, Givney, is one of the last things I’d ever tell Laurel. Laurel being Mrs. King. For my wife, Givney, is all heart and soul in that Convent at Milwaukee that her father founded. A compulsion, no less, and—” I broke off. I realized that I was a rat for discussing, with the man across from me, an utter stranger, her whom I was discussing. But realized also that I must deal with facts tonight, whether the doing so caused me recriminations or whether it did not. “A compul­sion, a psychologist—bug expert to you, Givney—would call what Laurel has. A compulsion based on grief for a parent whom she admired tremendously. She has no use for my profession. She’s always said: ‘Mortimer—if you ever drop your pile—it’s God’s own warning that he wants you to become as a beggar—without a place to put your head. And I shan’t work against God’s will—by taking care of you. If God sends that sign—then, Mortimer, I’m going to get a legal separation from you—and enter that Convent—as Mother Superior.’”

			“Do you love her?” he asked, with startling directness.

			“Why, of course,” I said, surprised. “Just because she can’t see my profession—or because I can’t see the sense or wisdom of an annual ordeal for the Old Man, now completely evaporated into dust and nothingness!—doesn’t prevent me from loving her. Probably from loving her all the more.”

			He nodded sagely, as one quite understanding that bit of human psychology.

			“I can see through and back of various little things,” I added gruffly, “that she does subconsciously, and which enables me to look far beyond her apparent willingness to leave me.”

			“Whaddye mean—sub—sub—sub-conshully?”

			“My God, Givney,” I said appalled, “have you never in your life read anything more than a newspaper?” I paused. “Sub­conscious? Well by that word I mean—but here’s an example of what I mean: Whenever in my whole life I’ve talked on the telephone to my wife, I’ve always—unknown to myself—and bar no time, either!—put three of my fingers in the gap between two of my adjoining shirt buttons. Showing exactly my subconscious evaluation of our relationship.”

			“Three fingers—in your shirt gap?” he said helplessly. And then laughed scornfully. “What the hell would that—have to do with anything?”

			“Simply,” I said, pityingly, “that it screams aloud that I feel humbly inferior to her—consider her far finer and better than myself—in short, in comparison with her I feel ‘little,’ and—”

			“Yeah?” he almost yelled, what intellectual curiosity he had, completely frustrated, “but what the hell has the three fingers in the shirt gap got to do with that!”

			“Simply,” I explained, and still pityingly, “that, feeling ‘little’—and being on the phone where I’m not observed—the old subconscious knows that, you know!—and trying desperately to raise my ‘littleness,’ I take the attitude of Napoleon—you know?—hand in coat?” He nodded, showing he evidently had seen plenty of Napoleon’s pictures. “And who,” I continued, “though little in stature, became a world figure.”

			“Hrmph. So that’s what you always do when you talk to your wife? And that, what you just spieled, is what it means? Well now I’ll tell you one! Why is it that whenever I used to talk to my brother on the phone—my brother what’s dead now—I used to make little hats on paper? Over and over. Hats and hats. What does that mean?”

			“Easy,” I said. “Your brother was older than you, wasn’t he? By several years?”

			“W’y—w’y, yes. But how—”

			“And when you were kids, you never had a hat—that is, a new hat, did you?”

			“No!” he retorted, bitterly. “Every goddamned lid I got, I inher’ted from my older brother. And—”

			“—and all were, by that time, worn—had grease-stained bands—and were too big for your head anyway. And there you are,” I finished. “Your first lesson, Givney, in the mysteries of subconscious actions. For when talking to that particular brother, you ‘manufactured’ ‘new hat’ after ‘new hat’—sure, the pencil-drawn hats!—desperately—to avoid, during your temporary relationship with him on the phone, ‘inheriting’ those cast-off ones which gave you such shame.”

			“I guess,” he admitted grumblingly, “there’s somethin’ to this sub-conshus stuff after all, all right. Too bad horses don’t have subconshusses! Then a bookie like you could tell which ones wasn’t going to let theirselves out—in a race!” He paused. “Well then now, getting back to the case of you and your wife, and what you ‘were’ telling me a few minutes back, just how—how, now—can she just become—a Mother Super—”

			“Money, Givney,” I told him. “Which can do anything—as in a second or two I may explain. But here are the salient facts. As concern me—and now, in a slight sense, concern you.” I paused. “When times were at their best in my game, Givney, I salted lots of money away in diamonds. All gamblers do, I guess. I had already given Laurel this house—which, by the way, is wholly in her name, even my dower rights to it waived at her request—a gift to her on the 5th anniversary of our marriage. When it was put up, Givney—all this neighborhood was just country—outskirts of Minneapolis—the region here not even yet scheduled to be Hobury Heights. Today the house and grounds are worth twice what we paid for them—when we built the place. But that’s neither here nor there—except to let you know that I don’t even own a slice of the room we’re sitting in. And so as I started to say, when times were good in my game I salted plenty more money in diamonds. But I made the fatal mistake of giving them, as I had the house here, to my wife. I never, never, never thought, Givney, that she’d become imbued with this convent idea—she didn’t seem to have those sorts of ideas in her head at all. At least then. And I gave the diamonds to her by legal deed, too—so that no disputes could ever come up afterward, with disgruntled losers on my handbooks, that the stones had been put up as bets, wagers, or gambling payoffs.”

			He was paying interested attention to my words; so I continued.

			“And now, Givney, the situation is this: This convent, down there in Milwaukee, needs a hundred thousand dollars. A matter of an overdue mortgage on it. The old Mother Superior is ready to retire—to a cell—and finish her days in prayer. And my wife’s got a hundred thousand dollars in diamonds—and I mean cash sales value, Givney, on the present market. Not their value as bought. And she’s just so damned near to quitting me—and tossing that bunch of diamonds into that convent—that two adjoining eyelashes on a mosquito’s brow couldn’t be closer.”

			I waited, wondering if he could get it all through his head.

			“We-e-ell,” he commented, after apparently digesting each fact separately, “I—I seem to begin now—to catch it. For one thing, I take it that you know def’nit’ly she don’t keep those sparklers in any safety box. Yes, no?”

			“Right,” I told him. “Her father once got blackmailed—by facts in letters in a downtown safety box—by an attendant who actually had an ‘in’ to the box. And she wouldn’t trust a safety box today, Givney, for the deposit of an eighth carat ring.”

			“I see,” he nodded. “And so they’re in that safe over there. Well, it’s your library—your safe. Whyn’t you open it—and take ’em out?”

			“Why? I’ll tell you why. Givney, the whole idea of my being here in Minneapolis tonight—in my own home here—never even came to me until long, long after I got to Frisco. I’ve always been known, you know, as Square-Shooter King. And it took nothing less than the strangest coincidence of my life to place me in the peculiar position of a man who will have to steal back something that he morally owns.”

			“What was the coincidessence?”

			“Well, I was broke there—in Frisco,” I went on, “wondering how the devil I would tell Laur—my wife, that is—the sad news, when I got the letter from her warning me of what she would do if the Lord ever sent the sign. And believe me!—I shut up tight then. I was in a precarious position. I didn’t even dare write to her for a ten-dollar bill. I was living in a cheap hotel—the cheapest of the cheap—though because of its name it sounded, to her, like a million-dollar hostelry. I was eating in cheap feed joints—on Market Street. I was down, Givney, believe it or not—to my last five dollars. And wishing—oh, how I wished!—that I even had back the precious $12 I’d risked, a couple of nights before, on an after-midnight transatlantic telephone call to—well—I’ll call him ‘Horses.’”

			“‘Horses’? Who—who was ‘Horses’? And where—was ‘Hor­ses’?”

			“‘Horses,’” I explained, “is a pseudonym which I personally once plastered on a certain man. And under which name I always think of him! He was, amongst various things, an expert odds-figurer—on the tracks. And, as you can gather, once worked for me. A Britisher, incidentally. And now living in London. I’d done him several favors—back when I was in the money. Which, at the time, he’d tried hard—very hard—to repay. But I was in the money—and didn’t need his repayment. And so one night there in Frisco—when my money was dwindling like hell—I gambled $12 on a 3 minute ‘after-midnight’ long-distance phone call—yes to London—to the place where I’d last known ‘Horses’ lived. And he was still there. Still a bachelor too, incidentally. And I asked him whether he could possibly cable me 20 pounds across. Well, ‘Horses’ told me enough about himself so that I saw in a jiffy he was broke. In fact, he was desperately broke—said he would sell his own soul for a thousand dollars—or even climb up and paint Old Ben a bright scarlet! That being, Givney, the famous clock on the House of Parliament. A thousand dollars ‘Horses’ wanted desperately—to pay off a £190 debt of honor there. And, with the remaining £10, dive back to America—on a freighter which was leaving the Thames—” I figured mentally forward from the day I’d talked to ‘Horses’ to the day ‘Horses’ had quoted. “Well, ’twould be leaving the Thames around 6 o’clock tomorrow morning—Minneapolis time—to be exact. And—

			“But this,” I broke off, “isn’t the story of ‘Horses.’ It’s the story of me—down at last to my last five dollars.

			“And that day—but this, what I’m about to relate, isn’t the coincidence, Givney, any more than the fact that all race horses in every race always have the same birthday—I—”

			“Just—a—minute!” he bit out. “If—if that wouldn’t be a coincidessence, then I don’t want to hear yourn. For—”

			“You poor egg!” I said, but my tones were friendly. “The birthday of all race horses, bar none, is officially January 1st. No matter when he is actually foaled, a horse’s birthday is New Year’s Day. And every January first, his age advances one more year. Now may I go on—or shall we hold a track school here?”

			His mouth had fallen ludicrously open at my information, and he pulled it hastily shut again.

			“I get you,” was all he said—and humbly.

			“All right. Well, as I started to say, this—what I’m about to relate—isn’t the coincidence that I had reference to a while back—it’s just an example of plain downright horseman’s astuteness—my own—well that day that I was down to my last five dollars, I saw a lineup of horses on the new track just out of Mexico City that looked to me to hold a sure killing—for a parlay. I’d wandered into a big book that was running wide open on Market Street—with two cappers shilling on the sidewalk—to sort of catch the smell of the old blackboard, as it were. And there, amongst the nags chalked up, was one As-You-Like-It Vth, which I happened to know almost certainly was the direct lineal descendant of As-You-Like-It Ist, on which I rode my first successful race as a jock, so long ago, Givney, that it—it would make you dizzy trying to contemplate it. And as we’re not talking ages here tonight—we’ll stick to horses. Yes. Well, I noted they were offering him as though he were a cheap selling plater—whereas I knew damned well that he had fast blood in him. Which made me study their layout more carefully. That is, for the Xochimilco track where he was booked. And the more I studied the lineup for that track, the more it looked to me like the chance of a lifetime. With nothing less than box-car figures on one nag that I, as a booker, would have given only odds or less on—and the prices on two other nags, one of whom was As-You-Like-It Vth, being offered as though they were rank outsiders. And—but again I see you don’t quite get me, now that I’m down to talking track stuff. Box-car figures, Givney, is a track term that means long odds—what you might call a long shot, see? While ‘outsiders’ are nags that have no chance in a race. And so, as I say, it looked to me like the chance of a lifetime. With those Frisco bookies gone apparently screwy on their odds-chalking. You see, Givney, we bookies—when off the track, and in real focus with things—can often see the hole in a lineup of nags—or a chalk-up of odds—where absolutely nobody else can. And the more I studied those nags—and their odds—and the whole layout for the Xochimilco oval—the more I saw that I was clean plumb crazy not to play a certain parlay that, at least on this particular book, would pay exactly 100 to 1—whereas its payoff odds shouldn’t be any more than 25 to 1. Or maybe even 15 to 1. Well, five dollars wasn’t worth anything to me, and two dollars of it was worth minus zero—if only we could get Einstein in here to figure out how much that is. And I might as well, I figured, shoot virtually half my wad—or minus zero!—to get plus very-much something. And so, Givney, I played the parlay for two smackers—and it consisted of New Deal, Who-Was-Greta-Garbo, and As-You-Like-It Vth.

			“As I came out of the handbook office, after laying my deuce-spot, I was accosted by a man who begged desperately for an inside tip—if I had any. Evidently I looked to him, right off the bat, as an insider. Which, Christ knows, I was! And at that second, Givney, is where the coincidence I spoke of lay. The matter, you see, of who the fellow was. But at the time, I didn’t know. He was just a smooth-shaven fellow—eyes sick with trouble and worry—about 55 years of age. And so I took him off to one side. And pumped him a bit as to who he was—and why he wanted a stranger’s tip. Well, the fellow told me his story. Bitterly. He was dying of inoperable cancer. Discovered recently, by accident, through a routine medical examination, somewhere in the Midwest. And trying now to get to Australia—to a sister whose husband had a small private hospital, and would ease him up—with dope—during his final months. He’d come on to Frisco, immediately he had learned of the disease he had, with practically no money—figuring to go to Australia with a Captain—a friend—whose vessel, then in port, would be leaving for Australia shortly. But this captain, it seems, had gotten a sudden cargo—and had loped off for some port in South America. And so the fellow was left high and dry. Was down to one dollar, Givney. Well, I told him the parlay to play in that book—for I saw that his dollar was worth no more to him than my five was to me. And I gave him the hotel and room number where I was living, thinking to see him again maybe—win or lose.

			“And that afternoon, Givney, the parlay came through. The world heard once more of its forgotten Garbo—thanks to the way that Who-Was-Greta-Garbo galloped in in the third at Xochimilco. And the other two horses, likewise, sailed in, clear winners, in the fourth and fifth. And—but here—here’s the sweetest clipping I ever chopped out of a newspaper—the Frisco Evening Eye, of October 16th—but no different, however, than what must have appeared here, in Minneapolis, at the same hour in the Minneapolis Telegram.” And groping with my two fingers in my vest pocket where I’d put that truly sweet clipping—keeping it for luck of a sort, if and maybe!—I drew it out. It read just:

			AT XOCHIMILCO

			1   2.25   Miss Dolly	4.25   President Almedo	5.50   Little Mex

			2   3.00   Bowery Boy 	8.00   10-Story-Book	1.50   Tehuantepec

			3   1.00   New Deal	7.75   My Lord o’ London	6.50   Bottlecap

			4   3.50   Who-Was-	1.25   Fille de Paris		7.75   Two Brooms

			              Greta Garbo

			5   5.25   As-You-Like-It 4.00   Sweet Alice		2.25   Viva Guadelajara

			And I slid it over the table.

			“Pay no attention,” I said, “to those figures in front of each winner; those are the last minute official odds at the track—while this screwy book I’d wandered into had laid 2 to 1 for New Deal, 5 to 1 for Who-Was-Greta-Garbo and 10 to 1 for As-You-Like-It Vth. And on which beautiful resultant 100 to 1 my $2—of my lone five—was now $200. And my total capital was $203!” He shoved the clipping back, forehead screwed helplessly up, as one who did not grasp the rapidly mounting proportion created by a geometrical progression. And so I went on: “As for this fellow I’d tipped—he showed up that night—at my room. He’d won $100, of course. Was grateful as hell. Had money now to book himself 3rd class to Australia. Wanted me to accept $10. Which I wouldn’t do.

			“After which refusal of mine,” I continued, “he said: ‘Well, my friend, I’m a dying man—as I told you today—and so I can’t ever repay you, unless, that is, you are a crook—in which case I could pay you back a hundredfold right now.’

			“That puzzled me,” I went on. “And—purely experimentally, Givney—I said ‘Well, I am on the make.’

			“‘Good!’ he said. ‘I couldn’t help but believe somehow that you were. Well, my friend—you were damned good to me today—and I’m gonna pay you back—if you have the coin to get to Minneapolis, Minnesota.’

			“And,” I said to the man across from me, “who do you suppose that man turned out to be?”

			“I give up,” said the man across from me. “Who did he turn out to be?”

			“He turned out to be,” I told him, “no other than a chap named Alonzo Hetchel—who, bearded at the time, had worked several weeks for my wife, as gardener, right here at this house. And, Givney, with the facts he—ye servant!—gave me—ye master!—I was in a position which, as Mortimer King, I’d probably never be able to be in again. Namely, a position in which I could rob my own house of my own diamonds—and nobody, not even my own wife, could ever know it!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXII

			Concerning Two Letters

			“You could have knocked me over with a feather,” I went on. “For I’d been gone from Minneapolis here for practically two long months. My wife had written me, yes, of a man she had hired to do gardening around this place—a sort of morose, silent, bearded man, she said—and who had departed her service more or less suddenly. But she hadn’t mentioned his name—much less the fact that he had lobeless ears—and why should she have mentioned either, since he was just a servant, and a short-lived one at that?—and here he was—Alonzo Hetchel, the very man she’d hired—except that he was clean-shaven at last—talking to me about her—and about Otto, and Rozalda, my servants—and telling me all about myself being in some sanitarium in the South. All the scandals—and below-stairs gossip—including even certain information about a new bookie association that is being formed here, and how he opined that I’d gotten out to avoid a ‘pineapple.’ He even told me, quite unsuspiciously, later on in his conversation, such things about myself as that I was known in Minneapolis as ‘Camera-Shy’ King, for the reason that I’d never had any pictures taken of myself since I was in diapers—and lucky it was, Givney, that I rightfully deserved the name—and that I’d never had my portrait painted, either!—for this fellow had never taken occasion to inquire particularly what Mrs. King’s husband looked like—and thus didn’t even dream he was talking to ‘Camera-Shy’ King himself! And—but getting back to all he told me, it was the below-stairs gossip, Givney, that really made it possible for me to come here tonight—sub rosa as I have.

			“His story, in general, was to the effect that, up to some time back before our meeting, he’d worked three weeks in Minneapolis for a woman married to a racetrack bookie off somewhere in a sanitarium. And, he said, she had a ‘slew of diamonds.’ He didn’t know the values, no—but I, Givney, did! And she kept them, he told me, when not wearing them, in a small old-fashioned cast-iron safe imbedded in the wall—no, Givney, not that safe over there behind you at all—no!—and that’s the complication! It was my own former safe, which I’d given Laurel for her own use, that he had reference to, and which was in that wall when he left here. At any rate, this chap Hetchel knew, from the servant talk, about how Laurel went once a year to that convent in Milwaukee, and became a provisional nun. And all that. And that nobody therefore, she or I, would be on the premises here on those nights—nobody, that is, but the two servants who, he said, had strict orders never to leave the premises at the same time.

			“And it was the inside info, Givney, that he gave me about my Otto—and my Rozalda—that made possible what I hoped to do here tonight. That—and the fact that this fellow possessed a key to my front door which nobody knew he could possibly have. Yes. For my wife—in the first letter I got from her in the West—spoke of having had a new intricate lock put on our front door instead of the old one. So, naturally, I had no key to that lock. But this fellow Hetchel in Frisco there did. For it seems he’d found Otto’s key one day—and had quietly filed himself up a duplicate, so that he could step out of the house a few minutes at such times as he was left here in charge—and get safely back in again. And he had put Otto’s key right back where he found it.”

			“Then nobody,” put in the man across from me, “in the world—even your wiff—knew that there was a key there in Frisco?”

			“Exactly, Givney. Much less in my possession. And—but about my Otto. Well, Hetchel told me that Otto had confided in him that he had a German sweetheart in Stillwater, 35 miles northeast of us here; a sweetheart named Gretchen—and married to some tradesman there. And that Otto—Herr Otto Schaartze!—used to sneak up there and meet her, here and there on the outskirts. And, Hetchel said, my Rozalda had a Polish lover in Dayton, 40 miles or so to our northwest: a lover named Tomacek. And likewise married—as in the case of Otto’s sweetie. And Rozalda, Hetchel said, used to meet this lover surreptitiously—sometimes up there in Dayton—and sometimes down here in Minneapolis. Both lovers, moreover, it seems, used to write to Otto and Rozalda—but were very careful to use typewriters—the girl Gretchen always using, for some reason, the red side of the ribbon on her husband’s machine, and the man typing his in ordinary black. Otto and Rozalda, of course, guarded these people’s names and identities absolutely—as well as their where­abouts in their respective towns—but Hetchel happened to have a page from a letter of each one, fished out of my furnace firebox before the daily trash was ignited, on which, poor devil, he’d made some calculations on the probable progress of his cancer—at the rate of a daily doubling of the cells—and his possible progress over the Pacific Ocean. Which two sheets he now gave me. And so there, Givney—in that info—and those fragments of papers—lay the absolutely sure method—rather two sure methods—of getting Otto and Rozalda out of this house on one of the nights that Laurel, too, would be out and far away—and the diamonds in the house. And, so Hetchel informed me wearily, all that I would need to do, after working a certain specific game on Otto and Rozalda to get them out, would be to walk in—knock the knob off that old cast-iron safe, with a sledge that Otto kept downstairs in the tool box—and be in the safe. For all the old safes, he told me, were strictly ‘knob-knocking jobs’: that is, he said, you could knock the knob off with a sledge, and through the large hole left when the combination dials fell off, operate with your fingers the bolt or bolts that held the door. And, said he furthermore, if I was interested in doing all that—I’d have a fortune. Which was all he could give me, he said, for my lucky tip that had made it possible for him to get home to Australia. Of course I asked him for his Australian address—telling him sort of half jokingly that if and when I made that ‘cleanup’—if, that is, I should ever tackle it!—I would send him a ‘commission.’ But he only grimaced and said we were quits—and that he didn’t have long enough to live to make a ‘commission’ worth the having.

			“But, Givney, I didn’t come over to the plan right away. No. For this fellow, cancer or no cancer, was a possible source of blackmail. Or, in case he later talked to Frisco or Sydney police, could be the cause of my being possibly arrested on, say, some strange damn technicality that if I had robbed my wife I had committed grand larceny. I didn’t know. But two days after he sailed for Sydney, on a small liner called The Southern Cross, I read—in a Frisco paper there—that he had committed suic—however, Givney—here—read the item yourself, just as I cut it out from the Frisco newspaper. And which is probably identical—to the last punctuation mark—with some story of like head and dateline appearing in the morning papers here the same day—since it had a direct Minneapolis tie-up.” And I quietly handed to him that little item I had cut from the Frisco Blade the third morning after I’d said good-by to that poor devil who had talked so freely with me, unknowing of who I was.

			The item, as I knew from having read it more than once on the way to Minneapolis here, ran:

			FORMER MINNEAPOLISAN LOST AT SEA

			Jumps From Pacific Liner Into Ocean

			(Radio Despatch to Frisco

			Blade, from Australian-bound

			Liner, “Southern Cross.”)

			October 19: Jack Smith, known to be last from Minne­apolis, Minnesota, committed suicide today by jumping into the ocean from the stern of the Southern Cross just near nightfall, on its second night out from San Francisco. The vessel was stopped in mid-ocean, and boats were put out, but darkness prevented any rescue, even if such had been possible in the slightly rough seas then arising. The man Smith had been booked, via 3rd class, from San Francisco to Sydney, Australia. Fellow travelers in the 3rd class reported the man to have been very silent and morose, and he had also told his cabin steward that he had nothing worth living for. The only clue to his identity was his statement to his steward that he had worked in Minneapolis, and was en route to visit his only relative, a sister in Australia. That, and a small cheap silver horseshoe pin he wore in his tie. He was about 52 years of age.

			The man facing me looked up. Shoving back the clipping wonderingly to me. “The horseshoe pin—” he began.

			“All of this brief story,” I said, replacing the clipping in my pocket, “certified to me that the fellow who jumped into the ocean was Hetchel. I rather fancy he gave in the name ‘Jack Smith’ into the passenger lists with some faint idea that I might determine to go ahead with what he thought was that ‘criminal undertaking’—might get nabbed—and might involve him as ‘accessory before the fact.’ And so he promptly dropped the name of Alonzo Hetchel, in case police-radioed messages were later sent to the vessel. But it was the horseshoe pin that confirmed his being Hetchel. For I had given it to him for luck—when he left. Something I’d picked up on the sidewalk weeks before—it wasn’t pawnable for even two bits—but I’d kept it for luck. And since he’d given me a lot of stuff—about myself—I had passed the pin on to him. And then—this item. I suppose the poor devil suddenly thought, on board ship there, ‘Oh, what’s the use of anything’—and slipped into the briny. Anyway, Givney, the one dangerous link—in any plan of mine to come back and rob my own home—was broken. And then and there, Givney, I decided I would sneak back home here by plane—steal back those diamonds—and, most particularly, the legal deeds to them that I have given Laur—that is, Mrs. King—and then fly surreptitiously back to Frisco—and then wire that I was coming home by train. And start back home again. Lots of travelling—yes. But worth it. Once home, I’d express deep sorrow about Mrs. King’s losses—sure!—but in the meantime I would have placed those stones with the proper parties in Frisco, and, back here in Minny again—officially this time!—would be getting back into the booking game with the hundred thousand capital—and soon be on my feet again. And, eventually, restoring to Mrs. King the full equivalent, in jewels, of her stolen ones. And so, Givney, last night—48 hours after I’d read that item—I despatched an ordinary letter to Mrs. King—to place me definitely there in Frisco up to that moment—and took the plane. And landed here this morning—where I put in the whole earlier half-day going out to, respectively, Stillwater—and Dayton—and mailing two letters, special delivery, one typewritten in German—on a red ribbon of an L. C. Smith machine!—and one typewritten in Polish, on the black ribbon of an Underwood machine! Yes. And those two letters, Givney, cost me $10. For they were carefully created for me by an educated old tramp whom I frequently met in a park in Frisco, and who was living in hopes of getting up into Canada somehow to see his married daughter. I never knew his right name, for I always called him ‘The Prof.’ For he’d been once, it seems, a professor of languages. Knew all the foreign languages, bar none. And booze had gotten him all the way down. And I promised him ten juicy dollars if he would fabricate two letters for me—according to certain copy I would give him—as practical jokes, I told him—one to be in. German, and written in the exact linguistic style of a certain sheet of paper I would give him—and the other to be in Polish, of the same style as another sheet of paper. And, I assured him, I would expect him also to copy his productions for me on the machines corresponding to the typewriting in the sample sheets—which machines were available to us in any of the typewriter companies there in Frisco. All of which, Givney, he did—and, so I am certain from what has since transpired, conscientiously and perfectly. And, with the precious $10 I gave him, he blew towards Canada. Poor old Prof! But here, Givney, is the original copy, which I had translated—transmogrified—and typed—for my Rozalda and my Otto.” And I withdrew from my breast pocket that pencil-written manila sheet that I had prepared for the old boy in Frisco who had translated its two versions for me on the morning I had finally decided to follow Hetchel’s plan. And I tossed it over to my one-man audience. Waiting patiently while he read it with manifest interest. As he should have, since it ran:

			My Darling {Rozalda/Otto}

			There is much trouble afoot. All wires from your place—and my place—are being listened in on. So make no tele­phone calls to me—whatever you do. The traitor in the case appears to be this {man Otto/woman Rozalda} who works there with you. So say nothing to {him/her} whatever you do. And send no letters to me, much less wires. But meet me WITHOUT FAIL at 10:30 o’clock tonight—(October 22nd)—at the identical place where last we met in this town. Do not fail me, my {Rozalda/Otto} whatever you do—for unless you come tonight you will never learn of facts which otherwise, unless I show you how to counteract them, may result in your discharge, your arrest, and maybe your life.

			Your own

			T/G

			Again, beware. And do not betray by the slightest move, to this {man Otto/woman Rozalda} that you have received such a message as I have had to send. Particularly if {he/she} receives a special delivery, around the time of this one. For that will indicate most certainly that {he/she} is the guilty one. Make no telephone call to me whatever you do—or all IS lost.

			In God’s name {R/O} be at the spot at the exact hour I give. I rely on you.

			My one-man audience read the manila sheet through, evidently understanding that it served duplexly as copy for two letters. And looked up. Shoving it gingerly back. “Well,” was his only comment, “you sure sewed your Dutchman’s—and your Polack girl’s—lips.” He paused, thinking. “And so,” he went on, “after having mailed ’em—and it musta taken you a good half a day all right to go out to Stillwater—and then to Dayton—you done—what?”

			“Marked time,” I told him truthfully, “in the new Franklin D. Roosevelt Park—as far from the center of Minneapolis as I could get—lest somebody recognize me. And read the late developments—in the Jemimah Cobb—execution! And finally, only when it got dusk, came out here. Getting here about 7 o’clock. And I sat in that deserted building-materials shack—down the street. If I’d figured my train schedules right, to both Stillwater and Dayton—either via steam or via the electric suburban lines—Rozalda, fulfilling her end of that critical ‘date’ for 10:30 in Dayton—and lingering at least a half hour fruitlessly waiting—could not possibly land back here on Hobury Heights till 1 in the morning. While Otto, doing the identical things in Stillwater, could not get back here till 1:30 at least. And both ought to be getting out of here by—But to make a long story short, Givney, at 8:15 o’clock Rozalda rushed out of the house here—consulting her wrist watch every time she passed a lamppost. Which meant—making a train! And at 8:45 out came Otto—he with an overnight bag!—Otto evidently hoped that his sweetie might be going to have the entire night off—and off he went, too. The streetcar up there gobbling him up as it had Rozalda 30 minutes before. And now the house was entirely dark. Both my servants had disobeyed my and Mrs. King’s orders.

			“So up the street I walked, Givney. And let myself into my own house with not my own—but Hetchel’s—key. Which fitted most perfectly. And as I came up the old familiar stairs, and hung up my things on the rack there, I was thinking that I was like nothing else than a jock who was riding a race under silks other than his own stable. For I was coming into my own house—rather, Mrs. King’s, in view of the fact that it’s entirely in her name—as an intruder. And then—I heard fumbling at the sill—saw you silhouetted against the shade—making burglarious entry here into my home—and, as well you know, I nabbed you with my gun as you clambered into the room. But the minute, Givney, that your eyes fastened on that safe over there—and I took a hasty look too—and saw a steel door twice as big as the one I knew to be there—and a mess of gleaming dials—and bright new gold and red paint letters—I knew I was sunk—that Laurel had put in a new vault since Hetchel’s departure—and that not in a thousand years did I have the ghost of a show to get in by any ‘knob knocking’—much less whirling those great dials around.

			“And then, Givney,” I finished, “when you told me your strange story—about your magic eardrums—I saw that my plan had been saved—by an expert! Now do you see why I need you?”

			And I leaned back, and mopped my forehead. For I had talked to him for a considerable length of time.

			And it looked as though I had talked in vain!

			For his answer finally came.

			“Yes,” he said, “I see why you need me all right. And also—why you ain’t going to get me! For my answer is, King—that I ain’t going to open that safe!”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXIII

			Last Card!

			I looked at him aghast. For I had considered that the facts I had given him—plus my assurances of a profitable track job for him—had won him over.

			“Well, why—why in the face of all I’ve told you,” I expostulated, “won’t you play ball?”

			“Because,” he said stubbornly, “you ain’t told me everything.”

			And he closed his lips in a thin hard line that was that of a man whose feelings were hurt.

			“What—what do you mean?” I queried.

			“I mean,” he retorted, “that you ain’t played square with me; that there’s still something you ain’t told—something concerning the hangin’ of that nigger wench in London.”

			“What on earth,” I blustered, “makes you think that?”

			“Because,” he said triumphantly, “when you told about sitting in Franklin Roosevelt Park there, and reading the late afternoon papers—with the new development in that there case—you suddently looked a million years old. No foolin’! For ten seconds there, King, you actually looked 100 years older than you prob’ly are. I—I never seen anything like it. An’—an’ that meant somethin’.”

			I stared back at him. He certainly didn’t need, in his tussle with life, to depend on observations of subconscious actions! He was just plain downright shrewd, that’s all; and used his two eyes! Obviously, he was curious, merely, about what he was quite certain I was holding back; but now I found myself wondering whether an appeal—an appeal to his sense of decency where a woman was concerned—might bring him over the rest of the way—and speedily.

			In short, should I play my last card?

			If I did, he would know something for the rest of his life that preferably he ought not to know. But, again, he knew so much about me right now—that he might just as well know a little more! And anyway, if I could get him to do this thing I wanted—and if he could do it—two ifs, yes!—then it would mean that Jemimah Cobb would never make that revelation on the gallows. In which case, the facts I would be giving to him now would—should he ever confide them to any living person—be, so far as his auditor or auditors went, the purest fantasy, the wildest moonshine.

			My decision was made in an instant.

			“Well, Givney,” I said slowly, “there is one more thing that I haven’t told you. And it is, yes, about that black murderess due to hang there in London—in about 3 hours from now. And the reason I looked perturbed was because, Givney, the white American whose name she is going to reveal is—myself!”

			“The—the hell you say!” he retorted, plainly dumfounded. And then I saw a look of supreme scorn rising slowly on his round face.

			“But don’t get superior,” I warned him. “I’m no degenerate—as perhaps you think. I tumbled across her threshold, years ago, ill—and was half out of my head when she married me.”

			He stared at me. “We-ell—I might accep’ that—but damned if I think anybody else ever will. Including the woman you married!”

			I winced at that.

			“I wouldn’t hurt her for the world,” was all I said.

			“Well it sure looks,” he commented dryly, “that she’s gonna get hurt now—an’ plenty!”

			“Not,” I said calmly, “if I get that jewelry.”

			“Not?” he echoed. “What c’n you do—jew’lry or no jew’lry—to stop that hangin’ in London?”

			Now again I thought hard. Everything, absolutely everything, depended now on his willingness to play ball. If he didn’t—all was lost anyway! And if he did, the London affair would be turned before ever he might get a chance to talk—and ‘Horses’—well, ‘Horses’ would be out of England—and out of danger himself.

			And so I told him, with no qualms, my entire plans.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXIV

			The Vial

			“In the first place, Givney,” I said, “there’s an emerald ring in there amongst Laurel’s jewelry—a ring that’s easily worth $2500 cash—and on which I can obtain $1000 cash in less than 30 minutes from now. And—”

			“Oh yeah? How?”

			“How? From a rich old codger who lives in Minneapolis—at least used to—on the fringe of the downtown section, and directly between here and downtown—and who collects emeralds avidly. Emeralds only. And never asks questions—I regret to say! This emerald I speak of is a beauty—and of a rare shape, for it’s triangular. This old man always keeps plenty of money on his premises. Distrusts banks. Eccentric. Has two husky servants—yet nary a telephone! And, do I ever call there—with that emerald—he’ll buy it in a minute. And will forget, moreover, that Mortimer King, Esquire, ever called there. Naturally!”

			He nodded, uncomprehendingly.

			“Well go ahead with the plan,” he ordered. “And you can get a thousand bucks pronto. All right. So then what?”

			“Then what? I can wire that thousand dollars across to London in thirty minutes. From the downtown cable office of the Postal-Union. Or—don’t you know that?”

			“Of course I know that. Ain’t I seen the two big signs in their window that says, one of ’em, ‘Open All Night,’ and the other that money c’n now be shot acrost the ocean, day or night, in a half hour—I think it says, ‘Counter to Foreign Doorstep—in 30 Minutes.’ But who the hell will you wire this money to? Jemimah Cobb?” He was waxing sarcastic there.

			“No, not Jemimah Cobb,” I said harshly. “To that fellow ‘Horses’—to whom I referred a while back. Together with full instructions—via transatlantic telephone—but couched in the old private lingo we once used together on the tracks.” I hated to go on divulging facts about ‘Horses’—but divulge, it seems, I must tonight! “And ‘Horses,’ Givney, happens to be a Negro. No, I didn’t tell you that when I first mentioned him. Nor even that he’s an ex-actor. But a consummate actor, Givney. And possesses the nerve and gall of the devil—of 20 devils. Why, one day on the tracks—but skip it! Anyway, he lives in Low Holloway—within a short mile of Pentonville Prison. He’s a man who never gets home till dawn—but dawn always and invariably sees him coming in. So much so, Givney, that one man we both once mutually knew called him ‘Milkwagon.’ While still another called him ‘The Clock’! And it’s for that exact reason that all evening, up till now, I couldn’t have done anything through ‘Horses’—or tried anything through ‘Horses’—had I wanted to. But now, at last, Givney, dawn is just about to break in London. And, in 30 minutes or so, ‘Horses’ will be coming home. And, Givney, ‘Horses’ has for years carried on his watchchain—and does yet today, for I jokingly asked him about it when I talked to him a few days back—‘Horses,’” I repeated, “has for years carried on his watchchain a tiny, almost microscopic, glass vial—no bigger than a tack—filled with hydrocyanic acid.”

			“What the hell is—is that?”

			“It’s an acid that, Givney, if you bit into that tiny vial with your teeth—and it even spilled on your tongue—you’d be dead in 5 seconds.”

			“Wowie! Why does he carry it?”

			“Because he’s had a fear, for years, of being caught in a burning train wreck—or a burning house—or a burning plane wreck. A sort of bug idea, that’s all.”

			“I get it now,” he said. “And you figure that this guy, for the thousand bucks he needs bad—and no doubt a promise of another thousand from ‘Square-Shooter’ King—” I nodded confirmation of his words, “—would pass the poison to Cobb, who—but listen—he couldn’t never, black though he is, get in to see her—and second, she wouldn’t be hep, if he did, what he had in his mitt for her; and third, she wouldn’t have the guts to—listen—how is all this goin’ to be accomplished?”

			“How?” And I thought back, over the years, to what Jemimah Cobb had told me in that long ago, while I lay, convalescent and weak, in her canopied bed on Quarter Moon Road.

			“If ebah Ah gits into trubble, Honeh Man f’um Amurriky—trubble lak a hangin’—Ah’s gonna tell Scotland Yahd an’ de Po-leece dat Ah has a brutthah somewhah dot prob’ly is ashame’ ob me—but dat Ah hopes will relent an’ come to see me fo’ Ah dies.”

			“Oh—you’re too smart to ever get into trouble,” I had told her weakly. “But, granting all that, why would you invent such a brother?”

			“W’y? So dat somebuddy whut is frien’ to me git into mah deaf cell on dat—as mah brutthah—an’ slip me, in de hug o’ in de han’shake, a deafpill, o’ one ob dem p’ison viles wid snek p’ison in it.”

			“Good God, woman,” I told her. “If you ever got into trouble like that, you’d find you didn’t have a friend on earth. And—but a deathpill?” I broke off curiously. “Are you afraid—of the English form of—‘trouble’?”

			“’Fraid? Good God, Honeh Man f’um Amurriky. Ah’ mo’ ’fraid ob de rope what dey has obah heah in Englan’ dan Ah w’ud be ob one ob yo’ Murrikan lynchin’s whah dey po’ petrol obah de victim an’—an’ set fiah! Wy, Ah’d kill mahse’f wid any kin’ ob p’ison—swaller an’ting dat eben had a chance to do it—’fo’ Ah’d ebah go to de rope. Ah’s—Ah’s in terroh ob dat, Ah tells you. Sooner Ah’d sit in twenty ob dem ’lectric chaihs whut you got obah dah in Murriky. But rope—Good Gawd!—rope!” And her coarse black pockmarked face had actually turned a shade paler. “W’y, Ah’d swaller all de p’isons whut dey is in de w’uld befo’—but see heah, Honeh Man f’um Amurriky, dis heah talk don’t set well wid you—you jus’ comin’ out ob sickness de way you is—an’ if Jemimah spec’, lak she do, to dress huh Honeh-Man up lak a millyun poun’s stuhlin’—wid all de fines’ clothes whut is mak’ on Bon’ St’eet—her’ll hab to git out dah now an’ cuss out dem goddam’ w’ite sluts fo’ lazy nogoods. Fo’ ifn dey don’ mek de money, Honeh-Man, us don’ gonna mek it neider!”

			And then my mind, glad to leave the nauseating incident, leaped forward across the years to the single “human interest item” in the story I’d read that day in Roosevelt Park. Jemimah Cobb had claimed to have a brother somewhere in London! But he’d never yet shown up to say good-by. Ashamed! But if, so the story ran, the brother were man enough to show—the penal authorities would give him audience with his sister.

			“We’ll skip the full details of my plan,” I said harshly. “Sufficient it is, I tell you positively, that a death potion can be passed to Jemimah Cobb. A full hour before the death march. And she’ll take it. Gladly. Forgetting completely all her intentions on that gallows trap. And fulfill, in the very taking of it, the very thing the British law is going to give her. All this I know. But the price for the consummate nervy black actor to do it—is at least a thousand bucks. And promises of a few thousand more—of course. But a thousand down—for ‘earnest money.’ So now do you see why, in addition to all the reasons I already gave you, why I want to get into my wife’s safe?”

			He sat studying the table.

			“An’—an’ you say you can raise the one-grand cash—in the next 30 minutes?”

			“I said so—yes,” I retorted.

			“Well, how long,” he asked critically, “since you knew this old guy lived—where he does?”

			“How long? Oh—several years.”

			“Sev’ral years? Hell—he mayn’t be there now at all. He may be in—in Floridy. And if so—what? Again you say he’s ‘old.’ Then maybe he’s dead! If so—what?”

			I sighed. And probably because of the ever-growing dubiousness in my own heart about those very things.

			“We’ll settle that definitely—and at once,” I said. “By way of a certain married woman who lives in St. Paul. And whose husband—a queer duck named Joe Bird—once worked for me. For a while, anyway. And she knows this old gent and all about him, for the simple reason that—well, for a couple of years in her younger life, he brought her up!”

			“Listen,” he said suddenly, “did this Joe Bird, by any chance, have one brown glim—and one blue glim?”

			“He did. Why?”

			“Was th’ left glim th’ brown one—an’ the right one th’ blue?”

			“Again yes. And why?”

			“Well, I met him about a year ago. Living in a river Hophouse—where I was kipping for a couple of days after a drunk.”

			“Living in a river flophouse—Joe Bird?” I shook my head. “Impossible.”

			“The hell it’s impossible. I say—”

			“Well, it is impossible,” I broke in. “For he’s married—been married, moreover, for some years—and living with his wife in St. Paul; so how could he be—”

			“Well, I tell you I met him a year ago, living in a flop—listen, was this Joe Bird a gentleman?”

			“Yes. Whatever the devil he may have been, he was that.”

			“All right. There couldn’t be but one Joe Bird in the entire world that’s a gent, and had one brown glim and one blue one; in fac’, I never before, in my whole life, nor since, met a guy with both a brown an’ a blue glim; and so I say I met your Joe Bird—and he was down and out—an’ livin’ in the lousiest flop on the whole Minneap’lis river front.”

			I stared at him puzzledly. Then drew over the telephone. And dialed that certain St. Paul number which, because of its combination of digits, had remained prominent in my mind—even though I hadn’t talked to anybody on it for several years.

			And realizing too, as I did dial it, that what the man across from me had said, a few moments back, was only too true. If the old boy with the insatiable yen for emeralds was under the sod—then no power on earth could stop Jemimah Cobb’s revelation!

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXV

			The Emerald Collector

			I knew I had my party by the unmistakable tones of her answering “hello.” But before identifying myself further, I curiously tried out her memory.

			“Ahem!” I said, half facetiously. “And do you know, Madam—who this is?”

			And she did know me—immediately I spoke—even though I hadn’t rung her place, I am sure, for at least 4 years.

			“Mr.—King!” she ejaculated. “For—for heaven’s sake! Know you? I couldn’t mistake your absolutely unmistakable voice—if I hadn’t heard it for 10 years.”

			“Well, Mr. King is it,” I admitted. “And how is—yourself?”

			“Oh, I am just fine,” she replied. “But what are you doing in Chicago, Mr. King?”

			“In Chic—what do you mean—that is, how did you—” I broke off.

			“How did I know?” she laughed. “Well, I’d like to pretend that I’m Mrs. Sherlock Holmes, but unfortunately—Central told me.”

			“Central told you? But—but—”

			“Yes. Just a few seconds before you came on the wire, Central had said, ‘I have a call for you—from Chicago—just hold the wire, please,’ and as I held the wire—well—then, of a sudden, you were on!”

			I saw I had barged squarely into another person’s long-distance connection. And decided then and there, in view of the circumstances underlying my presence in Minneapolis, to take full advantage of that concatenation of events.

			“Yes,” I said, “I am in Chicago. On business. But needed some information from you. And—but first, Mrs. Bird, now that you’re on the line, tell me about yourself?”

			“Oh, there’s nothing much to tell. I’m re-married—and have a sweet baby about 2 years old.”

			“Remarried?” I said in surprise. And deep satisfaction, too, considering all I knew about that girl’s husband. Or, as it appeared now, ex-husband. “Well,” I added helplessly, “do—tell!”

			And now I did hear a child’s high piping voice somewhere near her, or in back of her.

			“But you seem surprised, Mr. King?” she asked curiously.

			“Well, I’m not surprised at all,” I assured her, “that a nice girl like you gets a good husband and has a baby—but—but how about Number 1?”

			“Oh, I divorced Number 1 about 3 years ago.”

			“Naturally! Or you couldn’t have remarried. Get your divorce in St. Paul?”

			“No, I went all the way back to my home town to get it.”

			“But listen here—how about—the old religion? Your being a Catholic—and all that? I thought—”

			“So always did I, Mr. King. But you see I embraced another religion finally. A—a new one. One that included all that is good in Catholicism, and that which is good in others—”

			“Bahaism, I’ll bet?” I ventured.

			“Who knows?” she retorted archly. “But anyway—I was thus left free, at last, to get my divorce.”

			“Are you happy, Mrs. Bird? But here—I can’t very well call you Mrs. Bird now, I suppose?”

			“No, go ahead, Mr. King. It seems more natural, at that. Yes, I am so, so happy.”

			“And your husband?” I asked. “What does he do?”

			“Say—say, Mr. King—if I tell you everything—and satisfy your curiosity—you’ll never come near—to find out! And I want you to drop in, when you can, and meet him—and the baby. Sufficient to say, anyway, that he owns a curious little private business—so private, Mr. King, that not one of our friends even know we own it—a sort of a—a—a confidential reporting service, I don’t mind telling you, which just now I’m running for him—a service where we get long-distance calls galore nightly from all over the U.S.A.—including many, oh so many, from Chicago every night. Although I will admit that the parties who call this number, continuously and regularly, don’t really know who owns it. But make their remittances, monthly, for what they get—to a different address.”

			I was puzzled. But half suspected it was one of the many, many overnight stock-market forecast services. Based on the relative positions of all stocks at the day’s close of market. And following some successful formula that, no doubt, her new husband had originated and worked out. At least, it must have been successful more times than unsuccessful, else the calls wouldn’t keep coming in!

			“But anyway,” she was continuing, “when your Chicago call started coming in, I just thought it was another one of our many Chicago clients—calling for his nightly confidential report.”

			Plainly, I saw now, one of those “inquiries” had just been coming in—when I sailed in on the connection. And would be—probably with several accumulated ones—coming in, once I hung up.

			“But you say,” I asked curiously, “that you’re running the business just now? Your husband—ill?”

			“Oh no, no, Mr. King. He’s on a freighter—taking a sort of vacation. Nobody—not even our friends know it—because we don’t want the validity of the service, as run by me, questioned. I call it a vacation. It was a doctor’s prescription, however—the doctor has since died, but the prescription is still going on!—for it read: ‘2 months of upper deck—one freighter.’”

			“I see,” I laughed. “I once crossed the ocean that long, long way—only I had to check freight—to earn my passage.” I paused. “Well I know, Mrs. Bird, I shouldn’t bother you tonight—with all these long-distance inquiries to handle—with personal questions. But tell me about your divorce—from Number 1, will you? For I’m glad you untied from that fellow. I never exactly liked him, you know. And I don’t think you’d ever have gotten anywhere, if you’d stayed with him. Did you have to show the bruises he gave you—or what?”

			“Heavens no, Mr. King! As a matter of fact, I couldn’t have gotten my divorce—if I’d told in open court—how I felt about him. But I did tell the Judge, in chambers, privately, the whole story. Poor old Judge—he died the day after my divorce was granted. But anyway, I told him all. How I’d met my husband when we were both just on a masquerade party—and not even knowing each other. And how we’d had, I feared, a few too many drinks—of some spiked punch. And how somebody dared us to get married. And how we drove off in the dawn—to some Gretna Green around there—and did get married. And how he stayed on with me for a couple of weeks, troubledly. And then learned I had $25,000—the which since, Mr. King, has gone into my new husband’s business—and how he then bowed himself out, saying he realized I didn’t love him—which, of course, Mr. King, I didn’t—and knew he didn’t love me—which again, Mr. King, was true—and that he at least wasn’t going to stay on and spend my money. Which, if you knew anything about me, Mr. King, is quite what he could have done! Only he wouldn’t do it, you know.”

			“I see,” I commented. “Well, maybe I’ve done him wrong. I never quite got him myself. Now you, of course, were married to him, and could—”

			“Yes,” she returned, “but remember, Mr. King, I never learned who he was—rather, who his people had been.”

			“You never learned—even that?” I said in surprise.

			“No.”

			“Well,” I told her, “then we’re both somewhat in the same boat about him. For I myself have never been able to figure whether he was a scamp or a right fellow. That brown left eye of his I thought was a scamp’s eye—and his right one that of a—a ‘right fellow,’ as it’s termed.”

			She laughed gaily at my concept. But her laugh faded over the wire.

			“No,” she said, with that peculiar loyalty which only a woman can show, “he was a hundred per cent white. And I’m glad you rang up today—because I’d like to ask if you can tell me what he’s doing today?”

			“I couldn’t tell you,” I replied truthfully. “Much as I’d like to.”

			We were mutually silent now.

			“Well now, Mrs. Bird,” I said, businesslike, “that we’ve exchanged brief salutations, I’m going to ask you a question or two about something—and not hold this wire open any longer, and block all your incoming long-distance calls. And someday still later I’m coming over to see the baby—if I may.”

			“You must. And I hope that you’ll be bringing with you—Mrs. King?”

			“Thank you! And so now to business, Mrs. Bird. Is the old gentleman—you know?—who secretly collects emeralds—still alive’”

			“Oh, yes—yes. Very much so. More so than ever! And still trying to add to his collection.”

			“Good! And does he live in the same place?”

			“Yes. The same place exactly. Have you got anything of interest to him?”

			“I think so—yes. Something I took in—in my own game.”

			“Well, just wave it in front of his nose—quote him a bargain price—and he’ll offer you cash on the nail for it.”

			“Good! Well it seems I’ve found all I want to know. And so now I’m going to hang up.”

			And saying good-by, we both did so. At the same time. She thinking she was terminating a Chicago connection with Chicago.

			The little man across from me was the first to speak.

			“Well, I see you located your em’rald collector.”

			“Right!” I said. “As probably even you determined—from my end of the phone connection.”

			“Oh,” he said, airy-fairily, “I could get the other end too—I’m only a few feet away from you, don’t forget. Coulda’ so far, as that goes, even without these magic eardrums—as you call ’em.”

			I frowned, but made no comment. “Then all’s set now,” I said curtly, “So get busy—with those magic eardrums—and let’s see you do your stuff.”

			But he made no move to comply with my demand. For, as it turned out, I had not cleared up for him, in the long talk I had first given him concerning those events in Frisco, one single point that very much perplexed him. And clearing up which, as I subsequently did—well, had I then expected any sympathy concerning my own position—or that of the woman I had married—I was to fail woefully in my expectation. For he was to become now, as I was shortly to find, as coldly calculating as an adding machine sitting on the North Pole.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXVI

			The Hard Bargainer

			But first he stroked his chin.

			“Well,” he said, “before we get down to the matter of your needing me—which it cert seems you do!—there’s one thing, King, that puzzles me.”

			“And what is it?” I asked. For, having revealed so much, I was naturally willing to clear up anything else for him.

			“It’s this,” he said. “Since Mrs. King was in the habit o’ writing to you—and telling you about such uni’portant things like as hiring gardeniars—she’d cert have told you, so I think, about her having blowed a grand and a half—and having a big new safe put in. And woulda cert have sent you all th’ litachure on it. In w’ich case—”

			I smiled, and interrupted him.

			“You don’t know Mrs. King,” I told him saliently. “She spent two pages, yes, telling me about her gardener’s peculiarities—but condensed the mere thousand and a half dollars expenditure into the single sentence: ‘I have made some changes in the library, Mortimer, that will surprise you when you return.’ Making me merely think,” I added, “that she had shifted the furniture about a bit—no more.”

			He passed a hand over his forehead.

			“But—but—it don’t make sense to me yet. For there’s the matter o’ protecting you on getting in the box—in case she’d kick off. Now you must have some things of your own that she’d be keeping in that safe, yes—no?”

			“Right,” I affirmed. “From my baby shoes—to legal papers. So what?—

			“Well, all right. Now I onct was married myself—in the long ago—my woman is long since kicked off, but, under like circumstantials, King, she would have writ me pronto. And she would have said—”

			“Yes? Would have said—what?”

			“She’d have writ: ‘Dear Petie: I’ve put in a new burglar-proof vault whilst you be’n hiding there. An’ I enclose the litachure. And the vault people they tells me as how it can’t be blowed with a ton o’ dynamite. I’ve put all yo’r pers’nal things an’ papers, Petie—to the last item—on a shelf in the new vault, jest as they was on yo’r shelf in the old one, and have tried to disturb nothing. But because, Petie, o’ that there safe not being able to be blowed or nothing, if anything happens to your old woman—and you need your private papers an’ other stuff—and so forth—in a hurry—you must got to remember that the combo is “two-double-o-thus-and so”—or what ever, Mr. King, it was. And that,” he finished, “is what my wiff—any wiff—would have done.”

			“Your ‘wiff,’ yes,” I told him mockingly. “But not my ‘wiff,’ Petie old boy old boy. Not that she wouldn’t have transferred all my stuff—as lovingly as your ‘wiff’ would have done. Only my ‘wiff’—Laurel—possesses the profound conviction that she’s bound to outlive me. By virtue of God’s will I guess. For God, I’m certain she is convinced, is going to remove me long before her—because I take bets!”

			But still he appeared unconvinced that any wife could possibly lock her own things and her husband’s papers and possessions in an unimpregnable safe under such conditions that, in case of her death, he could not possibly get in.

			And it made me angry.

			“See here, Givney,” I said heatedly, “I’m not here to sell you on what Laurel thinks—or says. I’ve wasted too many words on you as it is. So hop to it! I’m giving you just 3 minutes to do your stuff—and, if you don’t—”

			“Hold it!” he said. “I’m talking business now, King. Just what, may I ask, is in it for me—if I open that safe?”

			I felt like reaching forward and smacking him across the mouth. But didn’t. For I didn’t like the idea of getting where those powerful arms of his might do some stout locking. And so held my vantage point as it was. In spite of all I’d told him tonight, it seemed a bit ridiculous for me to dicker with him—with all the upper hand I had in the matter. But I answered him, with as much restraint as I could.

			“Well, for one thing, your freedom is what’s in it for you. For all that I’ve told you here tonight confidentially about myself, isn’t worth a red cent to you. Your ladder is still over there—and your fingerprints are on the sill and pane. Remember—I can call up the police—for after all, man, I’ve a right to be home in my own library. And I can say I came home unexpectedly. And so far as Jemimah Cobb’s revelation goes—in case you refuse to play ball—don’t forget that’s something between Mrs. King and myself only—and I haven’t committed any crime, just because I once married Cobb. And so legally, anyway, I’m sitting solid in this room tonight. All right. But I’ve also promised you a job with one of my track books for life—that is, if I get back my stuff, so that I can get back in the game again. And divert that Cobb revelation—so that people won’t refuse to lay bets with me!”

			“Yeah,” he countered shrewdly. “But you c’n also then tell me to go to hell—so far as any ‘life job’ goes. And you’d probably have me kicked out of your office downtown—if I even came around asking for it.”

			He was shrewd all right. No gainsaying that.

			“It seems to me,” I commented quietly, “that not having to serve 5 years in Stillwater is worth a whole lot in itself.”

			“Yeah—sure—but I haven’t no guarantee, King, that even if I did the job you wouldn’t then jug me. Suppose I do fork over your wiff’s ice—that is, if I’ve got the lucky touch—if the old eardrums can do their stuff. An’ you shut Cobb’s lips with th’ black bottle. And then you put out a police call for Pete Givney. And—my fingerprints on the safe!—or, if not the safe, the windowpane then. And all that. An’ with Cobb dead, any fake­aloo I’d spiel about you and her, th’ cops would say I cooked up outa the newspaper accounts. And hell-fire, then I’d catch 5 years for robbing you—and 5 more for not giving up the swag—and, by God, you’d want me in the jug so’s to prove to your wiff moreso than ever that you hadn’t no hand in the thing.”

			“You’re a damned numskull, Givney,” I told him. “It’s to my advantage—considering the setup—that the mysterious burglar gets clean away—and is never found. Just as much as it’ll be to your advantage, once you get out of this scrape, never even to mention that you ever heard of King—before, that is, you are working for him—or the King home out here on the prairies. Man, we’re both perpetual locks—for each other’s lips.”

			“Well,” he grunted, “that may be so. But you’ll never give me no job with you. For I’ll be poison to you, after tonight’s over—just as you’ll be to me. And so the setup is that you’re asking me to do—for nothing—a hundred-grand steal, and—”

			“Now—wait!” I put in. “I’m not asking you to steal anybody else’s goods. They’re my goods, you damn fool. Absolutely the only person I’m robbing is a convent—which isn’t a person, and, moreover, doesn’t even own the goods yet.”

			“All right—all right. But it’s a hundred-grand job—as far as you’re concerned. Believe it or not, I’m with you—an’ not ag’in you—an shutting the nigger’s mouth—and saving your wiff a lot o’ pain. But still aside from all that, this here job is a hundred-grand job. And I don’t want any goddamn fool promises about any jobs—that’ll only get me a kick in the rump if I come round later asking for ’em. What do I get—right here and now—tonight—if I do the job?”

			Well, I thought, I might as well—give him the skull commission—just as I’d half figured, a while back, I might have to, at that.

			“Well,” I said, “I’ll give you, then, five hundred dollars—a hundred a minute for you, if it takes you five minutes or under to get it.”

			“Five hundred cash? Oke—but here, you said—”

			“Virtually five hundred cash,” I interrupted him. “That is, I’ll give you something valuable that’s right in the house here—in this very room—and the wherewithal to get to Chicago with it, and not via the Scotchman’s Special either, for—”

			“What’s the Scotchman’s Special?” he asked, as intrigued, apparently, as I myself had been when I had first heard of that quaint, though fast, non-stop limited!

			“What?” I taunted him. “And you don’t know—what the Scotchman’s Special is? You—who’ve been around—flop­houses—river-front lodging houses—Workers’ Rest—and where­­­­not? Well, the Scotchman’s Special, which leaves Minne­apolis in exactly an hour from now, happens to be—but let’s skip that. For as I was saying, I’ll send you to Chicago with this object—and by that I mean I’ll slip you your railroad fare. And with certain instructions I’ll give you, as to where to turn it over, and under what conditions, a certain party will give you five hundred dollars for the object—five hundred and sixteen, to be exact, because of double railroad fare—and before you part with the object, too.”

			“He will, eh? Is this here thingamajig jew’lry?”

			“No.”

			“Well is it something, then, that I can hock for five hundred berries—if this gazaboe don’t show up?”

			“Not for five hundred—no. For its value is that to this party alone. Its value is sort of—well—subjective, if you get me.”

			“A subject, heh? First it’s an object—then it’s a subject. And this here discussion turns into a talk on grammaticals. And we—but all I got to do, you say, is to turn this here subject-object over to some guy—and he’ll spinoff fifty fishskins?”

			“Right. Or maybe five hundred-dollar bills. And sixteen dollars besides—if you think to remind him of that. That’s positively all you’ll have to do—turn the object over and pocket the money. Except, of course, you’re not to get into any jam down there in Chicago, just before you part with the thing, and all. Mocking traffic cops, that is—and all that sort of thing. Because, if you get picked up with this object—doing a Ziegfeld on the corner where you’re to meet this fellow—well, I won’t be able to help you out. In fact, Givney, I’ll have to disclaim that I ever saw you or knew you.”

			“W’y?”

			“Because of a signed agreement between Mrs. King and myself that if ever I voluntarily allow myself to be drawn into any publicity, I waive all my rights toward contesting any separation suit of hers. And as I told you already, Givney, I’m not wanting to lose Laurel. Since—but funny that you wouldn’t know about that agreement, in view of the fact that—however, come to think of it, that’s set forth only on the tail end of the clipping you’ve got—the tail end you didn’t get. Well—does that five-hundred-dollar commission sound pretty good to you?”

			“Sounds goddamned fishy to me,” was his retort. “For it—but what guarantee have I got that, even if it’s the McCoy, you’ll give me the commission—if I do the job?”

			“What guarantee? Hell’s bells! My word of honor, of course. Did you ever hear, here in Minny, of Square-Shooter King—breaking his word?”

			“Hah!” he said—sneeringly. And added, with unconcealed scorn: “Square-Shooter King! He’s all done—as ‘Square-Shoot­er.’ For any guy, King, that would steal from his own wife ain’t a square-shooter. That is, o’ course, she ain’t your wife!—till Cobb is hung—or takes that black bottle. But be that as it may, if I’d given my dame, back w’en I had her, a hundred grand in rocks, goddamned if I wouldn’t let her keep ’em. Goddamned if I’d be an Indian giver.”

			This was going a bit too far, I thought. For I was commencing to feel withered by the scorn in his voice. Fine distinctions of ownership weren’t his, evidently.

			“Well,” I said coldly, “we’re wasting precious seconds, for the clock back of you now says 5 minutes after midnight. And as far as you’re concerned, Givney, I’m not letting you go—except back out of the window you came in by—or out the door—with the police wagon. The $500 commission in Chicago is to be yours—whether you believe it’s on the level or not—in case you don’t go out via police wagon. So—figure it out—and figure damned fast. If you won’t work, and I have to pay through the nose—then you pay through the snoot! So—what do you intend to do?”

			He scratched his head. Then shrugged his shoulders—ever the human bug fastened by the pin!

			“I’m gonna make the best of it,” he said, with a sigh. “Though I still think the Chicago commission is all a shill—just to hand me a smooth kiss-off outa this dump. But I don’t mind seeing Chi—on your railroad fare. And maybe what you place in my mitts—maybe I can sell it back to you—eh?—if the guy don’t show? And maybe not—too,” he added lugubriously. “All right, King. I’ll play. For a payoff that may be hot air for all I know. You got me by the slack of my britches.” He rose. “Well—here’s w’ere I get down to work.”

			He removed his coat.

			The while I watched him with supreme interest, wondering what on earth the Nixon-Duvall people would think did they know that there was a man in Minneapolis—much less a humble accoustical device on the market—through whom, and by which, their supposedly unlockable safes could be opened. For the fellow seemed very confident, indeed, that luck would crown his efforts.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXVII

			Graven in Wax

			He folded carefully the brown coat which he had removed, and deposited it over the back of the gilt-legged chair he had been occupying, After which, he unfastened each soft cuff, and rolled it back, clear to the elbow. Then turned—and faced me—belligerently. “Now listen here, King,” he began again, “give me a cut—will you? F’r instance—if I can open your can, shouldn’t I have one little half-carat rock—for myself?”

			“No!” I said. “No! There isn’t a diamond in there that small.” For seeing the preparations he had already gone to, I was not inclined now to yield further jot nor tittle. But his persistency—and his sheer unbelief in that lucrative Chicago commission I had promised him—had about exhausted my patience. The bands of the clock were now at 12—and we had spent an hour and a quarter, after Steenburg’s departure, discussing this thing pro and con. Or, rather, I showing him what his best move was—and why. So I plunged my hand into my trousers pocket and brought up the last of that two hundred dollars I’d won there in Frisco—a crisp hundred-dollar note—which I flung on the table between us.

			“All right,” I told him quietly. “There’s a hundred dollars ‘earnest money.’ Which—with the five hundred you’ll get on that Chicago commission—and your freedom from 5 years in Stillwater—gives you damned good pay.”

			He seized the hundred-dollar note avidly, and tucked it into his vest pocket.

			And after all, I thought, what did it matter? Five hundred—six hundred—what did it matter? For the difference between his remuneration, in this affair, and mine was too vast, too huge. His total “cut,” as he called it, would be less than even Laurel’s single smallest dinner ring with the one octagonal pink diamond in the center, and the two ruby chips set on either end.

			Now he walked slowly over to the safe and studied its dials carefully. I tilted back in the swivel chair, watching him with much fascination. And it was right here that my first evidence of the evening as to the definitely bad luck inherent in chiseled skulls manifested itself. For I drew out the half-open top drawer of the table slightly, and laid my silver-plated revolver just inside where I could lift it out immediately, if needs be. And swung still further back in the swivel chair, my hands back of my head. And put my knee up—as was my custom. And knee had to collide with drawer! And the drawer slid in. And—click! Its spring lock closed. And me—without the key!

			Now I no longer had him. Except—that he didn’t know it! For his back had been turned to me all the while. And he had not seen one bit of the peculiar accident.

			And what people don’t know—never hurts them!

			But that skull, on the table there, grinning balefully at me, suddenly made me think. Was this locking up of my gun but the first evidence—of further rotten luck that was to follow the presence of this thing here in the room? Was this conk, brought here as a pristine thing by Speevy, but now chiseled by Sciecinskiwicz, to cause this fellow perhaps to fail—at this job? And no sooner thought—than acted upon. I rose, skull in hand, went to the window, raised the shade all the way—and then the window itself, by at least 8 inches. And through the opening shoved Mr. Skull—out of the house entirely—good and plenty!—where I heard him thump, four seconds or so later, on the grass. And, still a second or so after that, could see him—gleaming whitishly far below—and I thought I even made out his two blackish eye apertures looking malignantly up at me.

			Whereupon, closing the window again, I returned to my swivel chair.

			My expert was still working away at the dials. Sometimes he placed his ear to them as he revolved one or the other—working extremely slowly—and, as he would glance off to one side, with ever a far-away rapt expression on his face. At other times he stood well off and turned the dials, watching them carefully.

			“Sa-ay!” I said, half jokingly. “I thought you did all this—by the sense of hearing?” He looked back at me, grumpily.

			“Did you ever have your appendicitis out?” he inquired meekly.

			“My appendix? Yes. And by an expert.”

			“Well, did you tell this here now expert, as you went to the operation room, just how he was to make his decision into your belly?—and how he was to yank your appendicitis out?—and how he was to sew you up afterward?”

			“You win—Expert!” I said. “I wasn’t criticizing. Only puzzled. Because—”

			“Well, I told you w’y, a while back. I told you I c’n hear certain magnetic fluxes in the steel—w’en certain vital points get near to each other. But I got to see, don’t I, at which sections of th’ dials them noises takes place!”

			“Right,” I admitted. “It’s your job—and you’re the Expert. Consider me the humble audience. Though—do you think you can do it?”

			“Do I think so?” he said, gazing back at me a second time. “Well, I’ll bet you the C-note I got, against another C-note, that I can!”

			“Taken,” I said. “In fact,” I added magnanimously, “next week’s my birthday. And, if I’m any prophet, my wife’s, got the usual hundred-dollar note in there that she invariably gives me—out of my past earnings, to be sure!—to celebrate my natal day. So—if you get in, Expert—you can have my birthday present to boot—and without ever having to bet the hundred-dollar note you’ve already got.”

			“O-kay!” he returned, his enthusiasm for his job manifestly raised a notch. “I’ll hold you to that!”

			I proceeded to watch him. He didn’t dream that I was unarmed. He believed I had the complete drop on him. Beautiful!

			But it looked as though this was going to be a somewhat drawn-out process. And, my eyes resting on that telephone—rather, moving from clock, where they had rested momentarily, to telephone!—there suddenly dawned on me the “cosmic sig­nificance”—as it’s often called!—of Steenburg’s long presen­tation of facts tonight. And the one single fact which—well, as it was to turn out, that single fact was all I didn’t dream it to be when he casually set it forth. And explained it.

			Sun 0000!

			The ‘late news’ transcriptions!

			Suggested by the late hour—eight minutes after midnight!—marked on that clock—the phone in front of me—and, of course, Steenburg’s talk tonight.

			Sun 0000!

			There might—just might—have been a commutation—in the Jemimah Cobb case. Who could tell?

			And drawing over the instrument I dialed that magic number.

			An operator answered mechanically:

			“News transcriptions—Minneapolis Sun.”

			“Give me,” I asked, “anything you have at all on the—the Pentonville Prison matter.”

			That is, I only endeavored to transmit all that! For the clicking response to my query was so swift that it cut squarely into my sentence. Which fact was conclusively proved a second later.

			For almost on the heels of the clicking, I heard a low buzzing sound. And then—clearly spoken—and in a man’s voice—but with the peculiar mechanicalness of a wax record—the words:

			“You are now listening to a late-news transcription record in the Minneapolis Sun. A news transcription on the Penton Case. There is one new development in the case of the man, William Penton, not in the issue of the Sun last out. He was fined $500 thirty minutes ago in night police court, and, in the absence of the money to pay the fine, accepted a 6-month jail sentence.

			“Those who read earlier issues of the Sun tonight concerning this man’s arrest will recall that Penton, an ex-newspaperman formerly with the Minneapolis Morning Bugle, was taken into custody tonight at his rooming house shortly after having visited—supposedly in the interests of securing data for a feature story—the special so-called Multi-Connection Room of the new Minneapolis Telephone Exchange, and having been left alone in it for 10 minutes. To such Minneapolisans who do not know about this room, it may be said briefly that Mr. McGowan Howell, the elec­trical engineer who designed and constructed the new and pres­ent Minneapolis Telephone Exchange, worked out a unique new hook-up of circuits by which, in time of emergency—such as Rood, war, hurricane—every subscri­ber in Minneapolis not then using his or her phone could be rung and simultaneously addressed—and without inter­ference with nor from other subscribers’ circuits—as by a special radio announcement. The practical device for utili­zing this unique hook-up was comprised by a single simple panel, in a special locked room at the top of the Telephone Exchange Building, carrying a single telephone instrument and two electrical switches. As brought out in Penton’s police court hearing tonight, Penton, angry at the Bugle because of a discharge, determined to make the Bugle the butt of a huge joke. And achieved it by getting a night super­intendent in the Telephone Exchange to let him in the Multi-Connection Room, and there, on a pretext, getting the night superintendent out. During the brief time he was alone, Pen­ton took down the single telephone, threw the switch which, it is now estimated, rang at least 500,000 Minne­apolis telephone bells; and, after waiting approximately 30 full seconds so as to get as many thousands of male subscribers on their circuits as possible, threw the talking switch and then delivered an anonymous and scurrilous announcement stating that the subscriber was to be named in the Jemimah Cobb execution in London, and that already a complete feat­ure story to that effect was lying written up on the desk of the managing editor of the Bugle. The result of this ghastly joke is that an angry crowd estimated to contain 5000 per­sons milled, for about an hour, around the Bugle offices to­night, while telephone service to the Bugle, caused by scores of thousands of irate telephone subscribers attempting to call the Editor, was completely swamped. Night Superinten­dent Herman Bowley, of the Telephone Exchange, says that never again will anybody be left alone in the Multi-Connec­tion Room. You have now listened to a late-news transcrip­tion record in the Minneapolis Sun. For further details on this or other stories, buy the Sun from your newsdealer.

			Good night!”

			And, automatically, with that “Good night”—I hung up.

			So—so that was the explanation of that amazing message; amazing, at least, in the matter that I—who really was destined to be named by that Negress!—should have received anonymous notice that I was going to be. And I had thought—it was some practical joker! Well, it had been a practical joke, all right—but one worked on a huger scale than any in history!

			The little man at the safe was still moving his dials, and listening, moving, listening, moving, listening.

			And I had not yet gotten what I had half hoped I might get.

			The news of a commutation—for Jemimah Cobb.

			So I tried again.

			“Sun 0000.”

			“Give me,” I asked the replying operator this time, “anything you might have—if you have it—on—on—on well, on anything the Home Secretary, over there in London, may have done in the matter of—”

			Again I did not even get a chance to finish my sentence. But was thrown, with a loud clicking, onto a record which obviously had already started revolving for somebody else; more likely for a hundred somebody elses. And what I heard ran:

			“—tening to a late-news transcription record in the Minneapolis Sun. Concerning the action tonight of Sir Stanley Gilbraith, the English Home Secretary. In releasing to the world the solution of the famous Mulkovitch Riddle. Which he had first intended to retain for his memoirs. It may be said, in brief, that the solution of this famous mystery, in which the bearded Russian, Nikolai Mulkovitch, disap­peared after entering Jemimah Cobb’s dive on Exham Heath, London, and never reappeared again—either living or as a corpse—was as follows:

			“46 years ago two twin girls were born in France. To a peasant couple named Brianza. One girl was christened Theodora, and one Theodosia. Theodosia, however, had a glandular defect which, as she reached her late teens, caused her to have copious facial hair; so copious and luxuriant, indeed, that she eventually wound up as a professional ‘bearded lady,’ with a small circus covering Russia and Poland. And in which country—that is, Russia—she continued thereafter to reside. Under the nondescript Polish-Russian name T. Brianzawitzi. And picking up, incidentally, the rudiments of a fair English from a professional ‘living skeleton,’ named Oliver Peebe, who was for many years with one of the travelling shows she was in, and who eventually died ‘under canvas,’ as the term is known.

			“Theodora, in the meantime, at the death of the Brianzas, drifted to London. And eventually became an inmate of Jemimah Cobb’s dive.

			“The dive inmate, however, wrote to her professional bearded sister regularly, in care of a certain Russian named Bluvitsky, who, it seems, bore some sort of an anomalous relationship to Theodosia which may euphemistically be said to be that of a ‘close friend.’ And who long later became commissar of emigration.

			“Finally, however, Theodosia, desiring to see London—and also her sister from whom she had been separated since ’teen years—obtained a Russian passport from her good friend Bluvitsky, now a commissar of emigration. He obliging­ly issued it to her under the fictitious name ‘Nikolai Mulkovitch’ so that she could travel in men’s clothing, and not sacrifice the luxuriant beard and mustache which were her livelihood. He also conveniently died, after so doing, thus burying the secret of ‘Nikolai Mulkovitch’s’ identity.

			“Arriving in London on the passport, Theodosia, dressed in men’s clothing and travelling as ‘Nikolai Mulkovitch,’ could find no trace of her sister at the last address given. Which was one of Jemimah Cobb’s dives which had had to take wings in a hurry! Patiently Theodosia waited in London for a further letter from Theodora, to be forwarded to her by her friend Bluvitsky. And which letter arrived in about a week, having been forwarded by Bluvitsky apparently just before he died in Russia. This letter gave, as Theodora’s new address, the house on Exham Heath. So Theodosia, still wearing men’s clothing, and heavily bearded and mustached, called that day on Exham Heath. And was admitted by Jemimah Cobb. Who, learning who Theodosia was, told her frankly that the place was a dive—and that she herself had just that noon returned from the morgue after having viewed an unidentified body described in the morning paper as having been found floating that morning in the Thames—and that the body had been that of Theodora.

			“Theodosia who, it seems, was sicker of her miserable life in a circus than can be imagined—and entirely unmoral, it also seems, due to her long loose association with strange people in carnival life—and perceiving that strict feminine pulchritude was not one of the commodities dealt in by Cobb, asked Cobb desperately if she could shave off her beard and mustache and become an inmate of the place. To which Cobb greedily assented, since Theodora had, it seems, many clients!

			“Immediately Theodosia shaved her face clean. And, with some help from Cobb, clipped her hair short; for Theodora—for reasons best known to herself, her clientele, and her black Madame, had always worn her hair short, and covered with a long golden wig. And Theodosia donned the money-making golden wig. As well as the silken garments of a Cobb dive inmate. And burned up all her discarded men’s clothing in the furnace. And the reason that not even a button was subsequently found there, was because her suit had been a cheap Russian suit with celluloid buttons!

			“When the other women inmates appeared there at the dive that afternoon for work, they merely thought that Theodosia, sitting in Jemimah Cobb’s sanctum, talking to Madame Cobb—but in reality receiving voluminous instruc­tions—was their co-worker Theodora! Then came the police raid. In which the girls were definitely identified, all of them, by one man helping in the raid—Inspector Allison—who knew them all from the last location of the resort near the West India Docks. And they were all carried off and held separate and incommunicado. Theodosia, hearing that as ‘Mul­ko­vitch’ she was wanted for a dynamiting and a murder, kept her mouth shut. And Cobb, learning for the first time only that she had been harboring an individual supposedly mixed up in a London dynamiting and a murder, was afraid to reveal the true facts, since, under certain provisions of British Law, she could be charged as accessory after the fact, and—with her record!—get 20 years penal servitude. She deemed it far better to bluster things out—and let it appear that the American agents who claimed they had tracked ‘Mulkovitch’ to her place and then turned matters over to the London police, were only trying to get a convenient ‘out’ for having lost Mulkovitch’s trail some­where. The final upshot of the raid was, of course, that Theodosia—now Theodora—and talking French and broken English—was sent—short-haired and wigless now, of course—to the Women’s Reformatory on Lower Thames for 6 months. Where, by means of a razor which Cobb, now out on bail, managed to have smuggled into her, she managed to keep her face clean of bristle. And was, at the end of her sentence, deported to France. Where—so the English Home Secretary says Cobb told him—she died a couple of months later. Thus—in brief—the absolutely insolvable disappear­ance, 5 years ago in London, of the Russian ‘Nikolai Mulko­vitch.’ You have now listened to a late-news transcription record in the Minneapolis Sun. For further details on this or other stories, buy the Sun from your—”

			I hung up.

			So—so that was the Mulkovitch Riddle? Not the disappear­ance of a man at all—but the disappearance of a beard and a mustache—and a suit with celluloid buttons! And it had created an enigma that had made policemen wrack their brains. And it had—

			But still I had not yet gotten what I had started out to get.

			The possible news—of a barely possible commutation for Jemimah Cobb.

			The little man across the room from me was still working the dials of the safe, listening, working, listening.

			And again I dialed the telephone in front of me for Sun 0000. And this time specifically asked:

			“Give me—if you have anything at all—whatever you have—on—on Jemimah Cobb, London.”

			And again the clicking, and again my being thrown squarely onto the revolving record. And—

			I stiffened up in my chair.

			Jemimah Cobb had been executed! And had spoken her piece—on the gallows!

		

	
		
			CHAPTER XXVIII

			The Expert and the Burglar-Proof Safe

			For the wax record, already running, was proclaiming, in clearly spoken words:

			“—was executed tonight at London—and delivered her final revelation, exactly as she had threatened!—at 11 p.m. Minneapolis time. Which was 5 a.m. London time. Her execution was in expiation of the atrocious murder, by strangulation, of her Chinese lover, to obtain 3000 pounds sterling which he had on his person. The reason for the sudden last-minute advancement of her execution hour by the Governor-General of the Prison, who always has the option of changing the hour of an execution, but not the calendar date thereof, was that, in his opinion, further delay would only mean that Jemimah Cobb would not even know she was being executed—and would thus defeat the very fundamental purposes of British justice. For Cobb, it seems, was undergoing a definite mental transition since 6 o’clock last evening. And already, indeed, by the time she ascended the gallows, had so lost her mental faculties that she apparently believed the gallows was a special reviewing stand, built for her alone, and that the assembled witnesses were the House of Lords. She indicated plainly by her words that she believed the House of Lords had visited her, en masse, to hear certain information she was to render, and to conduct her triumphantly away.

			“As the location of the famous wedding certificate in the case, she stated—in a clear calm voice—that it lay, face uppermost, for all the world to read, in Room 48, in a house on the southeast corner of Bloomsbury Street and Montague Place, London. Such journalists as, after the execution, rushed to this spot, found only one ‘house’—and one ‘corner’—and that house—the British Museum! And only then did several of the journalists recall that in Case No. 48—or Room 48, as Jemimah Cobb had put it—lay, face uppermost, no less than the world-famous Rosetta Stone! Jemimah Cobb also gave, just before the trap descended, the name of the American she claimed to have once married her; but unfortunately for her revelation, she named a man known never to have been in London.

			“In fact, obviously completely unhinged, the name she gave was that of the President of the United States. You have now listen—”

			I hung up.

			Jemimah Cobb was gone! And had failed to name me! Or, even, to name the whereabouts of that damned certificate. And all because her black African brain couldn’t take a “civilized” punishment! Because—she had cracked. Because she had made a complete crack-up!

			Coming so suddenly as it had, it seemed almost too impossible to believe. It seemed, moreover, like a dream. For the little man at the safe was still working methodically away at his dials. Just as he had been when I had first started raising that phone.

			But either because I had been dumfounded at the news—or else because two or more persons had been closeted in this room all evening, I felt warm—overheated. And the remembrance of the sweet smell of that outside air, when I’d tossed Mr. Skull out on the lawn, came back to me—and I determined, on the spot, that we might as well have more—of the same!

			And so I rose, and, hand in pocket, as though on the handle of that imaginary gun, strode over to the big window, and flung it all the way up—to give some really fresh oxygen to this completely closed house.

			Which accomplished, I turned around to see how my expert was coming along with his task.

			And—by God!—

			While my back had been turned—in that short interval of time necessary to fling up the big window—he had quietly succeeded in swinging open the great door of the safe, and had extracted therefrom a huge blue-steel revolver which, in less than a second, he had raised—pointed in my direction—and fired—with a thundering report great enough to wake twenty neighborhoods, if neighborhoods there had been there on Hobury Heights.

			I dropped flat to the floor on my stomach—and lay still as a log.

			Hurt not a bit! I had no way of knowing whether he’d missed me by a mile—pierced my clothing—or cut a furrow through my hair. Though a peculiar tingling sensation in my scalp made me believe that his bullet had slithered through my scalp hair like a pig through underbrush. And while I lay there, prone, never moving, not even breathing, he stood stock-still. For perhaps a quarter of a minute. At least—not a sound came from where he was. During which time the fibers in the rug looked, to my downward-facing eyes, as big as tree trunks. Then I heard him coming toward me with apparently giant strides—except that, instead of coming all the way to me, he cleared the room between the safe and the table, rounded the table, and plumped down into the swivel chair with his back, therefore, to me.

			And commenced swiftly dialing the telephone.

			Cautiously, I raised my head. Silently, I regained my knees and feet. I tiptoed backward a step or two to the window, where I stood, watching the little man in the swivel chair.

			Almost on what must have been his last twirl of the phone dial, he got his connection. And he spoke rapidly into the instrument, unrestrainedly, as a man speaks who believes that he is entirely alone.

			“Put Lefty on the wi—” he began. “Oh, Lefty? Good! Say, Lefty—bring your black sedan—with all its curtains drawed—to—yes, you know where. And fetch that old first-aid kit o’ yours—for good measure. Yes. I’ve either wounded or killed a guy. Killed him, though, I’m abs’lutely cert. An’ if he’s dead—no, no, I don’t know who he is. Nor ain’t even got the slightest clue. All I know on him is that he called up a dame in St. P. that he was hitched to onct—an’ if you coulda lamped the glad, happy look on his puss when she told him she was hitched again, and had a brat, you’d a been knocked f’r—f’r a goal. A fac’! No—no—he never onct let her name slip out—jus’ called her by some private marr’age name—exac’ly as she did him—names d’rived, it’s plain as hell, outa what she an’ him dressed as—when they first met at some masquerade. Yeah—her in one o’ them feathered sparrow suits like you see now an’ then at Minski’s Hall on a Sattiday night; and him—as it was goddamned easy to figger out—in a tin crown—and cotton ermine! Oh it was plain as a—b—c! But that ain’t neither here nor there, Lefty, see? For—no, no, no, she was his wiff, I tell you—rather, ex-wiff—because he stuck three fingers in his shirt gap the very minute he started gassin’ with her. Oh, hell—I’ll explain it when you get here. It’s—it’s somethin’ to do with somethin’ called subcon­scientiousness. Now get here quick, will you? For if he’s dead—as I’m abs’lutely goddamn cert he is all right—I want you to help me yank his carcass quietly out o’ the joint here before anybody blows back to it—an’ dump him on th’ other side of th’ Wisconsin line. I—Christ no, Lefty!—it wasn’t no scrap. I told you I didn’t even know him. Just got into town tonight—but left my keys back there in—you know?—in V—yes. Found the house all deserted—servants gone—so I come up to th’ liberry window by a ladder—and found this son-of-a-bitch here, and—no, no, no, no, Lefty, this ain’t Spike talking—don’t you know your Boss yet?—yes—yes—King talking—sure—yes, Mort King himself. And—”

			But I had heard enough! I climbed up on that windowsill, and throwing my legs and arms around that ladder, slid down its uprights all the way. And, stopping only long enough to grab up that skull in the grass, hastened forth into the night—my last two dimes jingling as I ran.

			THE END
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